
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

December 06, 2022 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 
Meeting Chambers 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 
 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 
 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the November 15, 2022 regular commission meeting 
minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to speak  

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website 

IX. Presentation - 5:05 pm 

1. Presentation of the Georgia Forestry Annual Report 

X. Appearance - 5:15 pm 

Residents of Old Tusculum Road to discuss the road condition 

XI. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda 

1



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

1. [2022-617 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve renewal of the Solid Waste Collection and Recycling Services 
Agreement with Atlantic Waste Services, Inc.  

2. [2022-618 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve renewal of an Agreement with Elevos to provide data hosting 
and billing records for Effingham County EMS  

3. [2022-619 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve renewal of Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC (dba CJT 
Software) for Effingham County Probate Court  

4. [2022-620 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Agreement with the City of Guyton for Probation 
Services  

5. [2022-621 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Agreement with the City of Springfield for 
Probation Services   

6. [2022-622 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Agreement with State Court for Probation 
Services  

7. [2022-623 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Agreement with the Superior Court for Probation 
Services  

8. [2022-624 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew a Lease Agreement between Effingham County and 
the City of Springfield for Fire Department Building 

9. [2022-625 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve to renew a Hardware Warranty Agreement between 
Effingham County and Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. for Year 2 

10. [2022-626 Application] 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm submittal of an Application for the 2023 
ACCG Summer Internship Grants Program 

11. [2022-627 Authorization] 

Consideration to approve an unpaid internship with Georgia Southern University's 
Criminal Justice Department for the Probation Department 

XII. Unfinished Business - contains items held from a previous agenda 

1. [2022-420 Resolution] Tim Callanan 

Second public hearing and approval of Resolution# 022-031 for permanent 
abandonment of maintenance of the section of Webb Road parallel to and on the right-
of-way of the Norfolk Southern railroad tracks (postponed 08/02/2022 and 09/06/2022) 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

2. [2022-520 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Cindy Howze as Agent 
for Ansgarhay, LLC to rezone 72.15 acres located at 108 Godley Road from AR-1 to I-1, 
to allow for future industrial use Road [Map# 419 Parcel# 1A] in the First & Second 
Districts (this item was postponed 09/06/2022 and 11/01/2022) 

3. [2022-521 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Cindy Howze as 
Agent for Ansgarhay, LLC to rezone 72.15 acres located at 108 Godley Road from AR-
1 to I-1, to allow for future industrial use Road [Map# 419 Parcel# 1A] in the First & 
Second Districts (this item was postponed 09/06/2022 and 11/01/2022)) 

4. [2022-603 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The McGraley Co. as 
Agent for Charles Layton to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres located on McCall Road and 
Racepath Road from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 
11F Map# 412 Parcel# 24 in the Fourth District (postponed 11/01/2022 and 
11/15/2022) 

5. [2022-604 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by The McGraley Co. as 
Agent for Charles Layton requests to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres located on McCall 
Road from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 11F Map# 
412 Parcel# 24 in the Fourth District (postponed 11/012022 and 11/15/2022) 

6. [2022-605 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by The McGraley Co. as 
Agent for Richard Hall to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres located on Horse Pen Road 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 in the Fourth 
District (postponed 11/01/2022 and 11/15/2022) 

7. [2022-606 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by The McGraley Co. as 
Agent for Richard Hall to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres located on Horse Pen Road 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 in the Fourth 
District (postponed 11/01/2022 and 11/15/2022) 

XIII. New Business 

1. [2022-628 Resolution] Teresa Concannon 

Consideration to approve to amend Resolution# 022-051 of the  moratorium on 
rezoning for I-1 Industrial development 

2. [2022-629 Ordinance] Teresa Concannon 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an ordinance to amend Section 3.17 
Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or 
wetlands and Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts and add a new Section 
5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR) 

 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

3. [2022-630 Ordinance] Teresa Concannon 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Article II – 
Definitions, Article III- Section 3.3 Accessory Structures in Residential Districts, Article 
V - Section 5.12. I-1 Industrial districts, and add a new Section 3.16A Shipping Container 
Facility 

4. [2022- 631 Quote] Chris Reed 

Consideration to approve to ratify and affirm a Quote from Motorola Mobile 
Communications America (MCA) for the replacement of the radio tower aircraft warning 
lights 

5. [2022-632 Purchase] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to authorize the purchase of gift cards for County staff 
members/employees 

6. [2022-633 Position] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to authorize the upgrade of an Information Technology position 

7. [2022-634 Form] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve to amend the Association of County Commissioners of 
Georgia (ACCG) Schedule B of the Fee Schedule 

8. 2022-635 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #2 for DPR Architecture for Contract 20-006 for 
Architectural and Engineering Services for six county buildings 

9. [2022-636 Purchase Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve award of Purchase Order 23-REQ-015 to Certified Stainless 
Services, LLC d/b/a West-Mark for the purchase of two tandem axle dump trucks for the 
Public Works Department 

10. [2022-637 Task Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve award of Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 to Pond & Company for 
design and construction management services of a Facility Renovation Package 

11. [2022-638 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #4 for Agreement 22-25-010 with McLendon 
Enterprises, Inc. for the LMIG 2022 and other road work 

12. [2022-639 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #2 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger 
Construction for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

13. [2022-640 Proposal] Alison Bruton  

Consideration to approve a Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front for the 
CEM Gymnasium 

14. [2022-641 Agreement] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve the Year 2 Agreement for the Coastal Incentive Grant for 
stormwater master planning 

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

15. [2022-642 Discussion] Clint Hodges 

Discussion regarding enforcing International Fire Code (IFC) Section 510 – Bi-Directional 
Amplifier (BDA) Requirements 

XIV. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XV. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XVI. Executive Session Minutes - No executive session was held, no minutes to be approved. 

XVII. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

1. [2022-643 Sketch Plan] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Ashley Mosley as Agent 
for Victor Vanderlugt al of a sketch plan for “Savannah Marine Terminal Bloomingdale 
Transloading Facility” located at 1054 Old River Road, zoned I-1.  Map# 304 Parcel# 9, 
in the First District 

2. [2022-644 Sketch Plan] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Daniel Ben-Yisrael as 
Agent for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter of a sketch plan for “Parker’s 
Convenience Store – Old Augusta Road” located on Old Augusta Road, zoned B-3. Map# 
478 Parcel# 2B, in the Fifth District 

3. [2022-645 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Yuval Bartal as Agent for 
Andrea L. Allsbrook for a conditional use, located at 1800 McCall Road to allow for an 
event venue, zoned AR-1. Map# 391 Parcel# 3 in the Fourth District. 

4. [2022-646 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Yuval Bartal as Agent 
for Andrea L. Allsbrook for a conditional use, located at 1800 McCall Road to allow for 
an event venue, zoned AR-1. Map# 391 Parcel# 3 in the Fourth District. 

5. [2022-647 Public Hearing][ Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Kevin Shuman & Terry 
Cook to rezone 14.83 acres located at 5575 Old Dixie Highway from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a 3-lot subdivision Map# 263 Parcel# 32B located in the Third District  

6. [2022-648 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Kevin Shuman & 
Terry Cook to rezone 14.83 acres located at 5575 Old Dixie Highway from AR-1 to AR-
2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision Map# 263 Parcel# 32B located in the Third District  

7. [2022-649 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jimmy McDuffie as Agent 
for Jimmy & Wanda McDuffie, & Frankie Edwards to rezone 6.67 acres located on 
Highway 119 North from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels Map# 
406 Parcels# 19,20,21,22 in the Third District 

 

 

5



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

8. [2022-650 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jimmy McDuffie as 
Agent for Jimmy & Wanda McDuffie, & Frankie Edwards to rezone 6.67 acres located 
on Highway 119 North from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels Map# 
406 Parcels# 19,20,21,22 in the Third District 

9. [2022-651 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Sheldon Tebeau as Agent 
for Randal Tebeau & the Estate of Patricia Tebeau to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres 
located at 1271 & 1273 Highway 21 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of 
parcels Map# 389 Parcels# 34 & 35 in the Fourth District 

10. [2022-652 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Sheldon Tebeau as 
Agent for Randal Tebeau & the Estate of Patricia Tebeau to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 
acres located at 1271 & 1273 Highway 21 from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 
recombination of parcels Map# 389 Parcels# 34 & 35 in the Fourth District 

11. [2022-653 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Ernest Zipperer  to 
rezone 14.82 acres located t 1796 Blue Jay Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel Map# 394 Parcel# 12 in the Fourth District 

12. [2022-654 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Ernest 
Zipperer  to rezone 14.82 acres located t 1796 Blue Jay Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for combination with an adjacent parcel Map# 394 Parcel# 12 in the Fourth 
District 

13. [2022-655 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application made by Ernest Zipperer to 
rezone 80.90 acres located at 835 Horsepen Road from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel Map# 394 Parcel# 15 in the Fourth District 

14. [2022-656 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Ernest 
Zipperer to rezone 80.90 acres located at 835 Horsepen Road from R-1 to AR-1 to 
allow for combination with an adjacent parcel Map# 394 Parcel# 15 in the Fourth 
District 

15. [2022-657 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application made by Gregory Edward 
Smithey for a conditional use for a rural busines located at 631 Ebenezer Road, zoned 
AR-2. Map# 446 Parcel# 45 in the Fifth District 

16. [2022-658 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Gregory Edward 
Smithey for a conditional use for a rural business located at 631 Ebenezer Road, 
zoned AR-2. Map# 446 Parcel# 45  in the Fifth District 

6



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – December 06, 2022 

17. [2022-659 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application made by Kaitlin Rapp for a 
variance from Section 3.20 - Minimum Living Area located at 4302 Old Dixie Highway, 
zoned AR-2. Map# 313 Parcel# 12 in the Third District 

18. [2022-660 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Kaitlin 
Rapp for a variance from Section 3.20 - Minimum Living Area located at 4302 Old Dixie 
Highway, zoned AR-2. Map# 313 Parcel# 12 in the Third District 

19. [2022-661 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jeffrey Hardin as Agent 
for Harrison Clark Ale Jr., Trustee to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres located on 
Lowground Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of an existing permitted 
surface mine Map# 373 Parcel# 38 in the First District 

20. [2022-662 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jeffrey Hardin as 
Agent for Harrison Clark Ale Jr., Trustee to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres located on 
Lowground Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of an existing permitted 
surface mine Map# 373 Parcel# 38 in the First District 

21. [2022-663 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jeffrey Hardin as Agent 
for Donald R. Shrum & Donna A. Shrum to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres located on 
Lowground Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine Map# 
373 Parcel# 39 in the First District 

22. [2022-664 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application byJeffrey Hardin as 
Agent for Donald R. Shrum & Donna A. Shrum to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres located 
on Lowground Road from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine Map# 
373 Parcel# 39 in the First District 

23. [2022-665 Public Hearing] Katie Dunnigan 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Cindy Howze as Agent 
for Lisa E. Phillips et al.  to rezone 39.27 acres located on Old Augusta Road and 
Abercorn Road from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use Map# 477 Parcels# 6,7 Map# 
477A Parcels# 2,3,4,5 in the Fifth District 

24. [2022-666 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Cindy Howze as 
Agent for Lisa E. Phillips et al.  to rezone 39.27 acres located on Old Augusta Road and 
Abercorn Road from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use Map# 477 Parcels# 6,7 
Map# 477A Parcels# 2,3,4,5 in the Fifth District 

XVIII. Adjournment 

7



Georgia Forestry Commission 

 Effingham County Unit  
1250 Hwy 119 S. 

Springfield, GA. 31329  

(912) 754-6932 

 

Operations Report as of July 01, 2022                

 
Current Protection Responsibility: 233,257 Forested acres (306,900 acres Total Land Area)  

Annual County Tax Revenue Contributed to State Forestry Operations: ~ $23,325.70  

 

Active Personnel 

 
Billy Brown, Chief Ranger 

Travis Blankenship, Ranger I 

Vacant 

Vacant 

 

Permits 

 
 Agriculture  Silviculture  Land Clearing    Other 
      102                                     118                             893                            0 

                                                          

 1,135 acres                         2,766 acres        2,455 acres 

  

 

Burning Assistance 
 

4   Landowners  

                                                                 ~ 560 acres 

 

Firebreaks 
 

Landowners 

9 with fireplow for 30.3 miles (20.2 hours) 

14 with harrows for 71.5 miles (28.6 hours) 

Total    101.80 miles    (48.8 hours) 

 

 

Wildfires 
 

37 fires burning a total of 403.10 acres (5 yr. avg. 28.8 fires 182.65 acres) 8

Item IX. 1.



Average fire size 10.89 acres 

 

Response Time FY2022 (Dispatch to Initial Attack) 

 
Normal operating hours = 17.75 minutes 

After hours/Weekends/Holidays = 29.5 minutes 

All Time Avg.  = 23.6 minutes 

 

Seedlings Sold 

 
11,991 

 

Public/Education Outreach Programs 

 
1 school related programs (Elementary Fire Prevention, FFA/4-H) reaching ~500 

people  

 

Firewise/Fire Prevention 

 
1 Programs/Contacts, 8 hours invested, reaching 350 people 

 

Equipment 

 
3 Tractor/plow Response Units  

2 Quick Response/Pickup Type 7 engine  

 

Forest Management Assistance by Commission Forester 

 
16 cases including RFA, Forest Health, Stewardship, Conservation Reserve Program 

and Water Quality  

 

 

 
 

9

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval to renew the Solid Waste Collection and Recycling Services 

Agreement with Atlantic Waste Services, Inc.  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Solid Waste  

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022  

Item Description: Solid Waste Collection and Recycling Services Agreement with 

Atlantic Waste Services, Inc.  

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the Solid Waste Collection 

and Recycling Services Agreement with Atlantic Waste Services, Inc.  

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has an agreement in place with Atlantic Waste 

Services, Inc. for Solid Waste Collection and Recycling Services. The initial term 

of this agreement was February 20, 2018 through June 30, 2021.  

 An Amendment was approved in September of 2021 which extends the term of 

the agreement through December 31, 2025, with automatic extensions for up to 

two (2) additional four (4) year terms unless either party gives notice of intent to 

terminate.   

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of renewal of Solid Waste Collection and Recycling Services 

Agreement with Atlantic Waste Services, Inc.  

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, County Manager, Finance 

Funding Source: Sanitation Fund 

Attachments:  

1. Atlantic Waste Services, Inc. Agreement and Amendments 

 

10

Item XI. 1.



11

Item XI. 1.



12

Item XI. 1.



13

Item XI. 1.



14

Item XI. 1.



15

Item XI. 1.



16

Item XI. 1.



17

Item XI. 1.



18

Item XI. 1.



19

Item XI. 1.



20

Item XI. 1.



21

Item XI. 1.



22

Item XI. 1.



23

Item XI. 1.



24

Item XI. 1.



25

Item XI. 1.



26

Item XI. 1.



27

Item XI. 1.



28

Item XI. 1.



29

Item XI. 1.



30

Item XI. 1.



31

Item XI. 1.



32

Item XI. 1.



33

Item XI. 1.



34

Item XI. 1.



35

Item XI. 1.



36

Item XI. 1.



37

Item XI. 1.



38

Item XI. 1.



39

Item XI. 1.



40

Item XI. 1.



41

Item XI. 1.



42

Item XI. 1.



43

Item XI. 1.



44

Item XI. 1.



45

Item XI. 1.



46

Item XI. 1.



47

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Renewal of Agreement with Elevos to provide data hosting and billing records 

for Effingham County EMS  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Purchasing and EMS 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Renewal of Agreement with Elevos to provide data hosting and 

billing records for Effingham County EMS 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the agreement with Elevos 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County has an agreement with Colleton to provide EMS billing 

services. Colleton will not accept anything billed out by a previous vendor.  

 EMS Consultants was the previous vendor and still has several accounts which 

need handling, and the County entered into an agreement with them for billing 

services for those accounts. EMS Consultants is now Elevos, and in December 

2021, the Board approved an agreement with Elevos.  

 Elevos hosts historical ePCR data through a third-party Cloud Service. 

 The agreement with Elevos will renew annually with approval of the Board of 
Commissioners.  

 The agreement cost is $3,000.00 annually. 

 Either party can terminate the agreement with written notice of cancellation at 
minimum 30 days prior to the expiration. 

 The agreement has previously been reviewed by the County Attorney and 
approved to form. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval of the agreement with Elevos for an annual payment of $3,000.00. 
2. Do not renew the agreement with Elevos. 
 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing / EMS 

Funding Source: EMS Budget 

Attachments:  

Historical ePCR Data Hosting Agreement between Elevos and Effingham County. 

 

48

Item XI. 2.



49

Item XI. 2.



50

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Renewal of Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC (dba CJT Software) for a program for 

Effingham County Probate Court  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Probate Court 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Renewal of Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC (dba CJT Software) 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC 

(dba CJT Software) for a program for Effingham County Probate Court 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County Probate Court was in need of an updated software program for their 

department. Some of the included items are: 

o Case Management 

o Online Marriage and Firearm Applications 

o Caseload Reporting 

o Automatic State mandated updates 

o Data backup and more 

 The Effingham County Law Library paid the initial start-up fee of $25,000.00 and Probate 

Court is responsible for the $450.00 monthly fee from their operating budget.  

 The initial term of this agreement is for three (3) years and will renew for successive 

terms of one (1) year unless either party provides written notice with intent not to renew 

as specified in the agreement. Year 1 was approved in January 2022.  

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC (dba CJT Software) for a new software 

program for Effingham County Probate Court 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, Probate, Finance 

Funding Source: Probate Operating Budget 

Attachments: 

1. Agreement with i3 Verticals, LLC (dba CJT Software) 

 

 

 

 

51

Item XI. 3.



52

Item XI. 3.



53

Item XI. 3.



54

Item XI. 3.



55

Item XI. 3.



56

Item XI. 3.



57

Item XI. 3.



58

Item XI. 3.



59

Item XI. 3.



60

Item XI. 3.



61

Item XI. 3.



62

Item XI. 3.



63

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Renewal of the Probation Services agreement with the City of Guyton  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Purchasing and Probation 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022  

Item Description: Probation Services 
 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of the Probation Services Agreement with the City of 

Guyton 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Service agreements are required by the Georgia Department of Community Supervision’s 
Misdemeanor Probation Oversite Unit. 

 Effingham Co. Probation Office supervises probated misdemeanor cases sentenced by the 
court listed. The majority of cases that Effingham County Probation serves are from State 
and Superior Court. 

 Springfield and Guyton courts are contracted to help supplement the budget and keep local 
probation local. 

 Probationers pay a $50.00 per month supervision fee (unless otherwise ordered by the 
sentencing Judge).  $41.00 is paid to the probation office and $9.00 is paid to the State of 
Georgia’s Crime Victim Emergency Fund. Probationers ordered to complete the MRT 
Program will be charged a $25.00 per workbook fee, and drug screens sent for confirmation 
will be $27.00 for each positive confirmation. 

 Providing probation supervision for State and Superior Court is a function of county 
government.  

 Providing probation supervision to the Cities saves them from having to contract with a 
private provider, or staff and manage a separate office to handle probationers. 

 The agreement has been previously reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 The agreement can be cancelled with 30 days written notice by either party.  The Court may 
cancel the agreement immediately for cause. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with the City of Guyton. 
2. Cancel the agreement. 
  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Probation. 

Funding Source: N/A – funds are collected from probationers. 

Attachments: Probation service agreement with the City of Guyton. 

64

Item XI. 4.



65

Item XI. 4.



66

Item XI. 4.



67

Item XI. 4.



68

Item XI. 4.



69

Item XI. 4.



70

Item XI. 4.



71

Item XI. 4.



72

Item XI. 4.



73

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Renewal of the Probation Services agreement with the City of Springfield  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Purchasing and Probation 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Probation Services 
 

Summary Recommendation: Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with the City of 

Springfield 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Service agreements are required by the Georgia Department of Community Supervision’s 
Misdemeanor Probation Oversite Unit. 

 Effingham Co. Probation Office supervises probated misdemeanor cases sentenced by the 
court listed. The majority of cases that Effingham County Probation serves are from State 
and Superior Court. 

 Springfield and Guyton courts are contracted to help supplement the budget and keep local 
probation local. 

 Probationers pay a $50.00 per month supervision fee (unless otherwise ordered by the 
sentencing Judge).  $41.00 is paid to the probation office and $9.00 is paid to the State of 
Georgia’s Crime Victim Emergency Fund. Probationers ordered to complete the MRT 
Program will be charged a $25.00 per workbook fee, and drug screens sent for confirmation 
will be $27.00 for each positive confirmation. 

 Providing probation supervision for State and Superior Court is a function of county 
government.  

 Providing probation supervision to the Cities saves them from having to contract with a 
private provider, or staff and manage a separate office to handle probationers. 

 The agreement has been previously reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 The agreement can be cancelled with 30 days written notice by either party.  The Court may 
cancel the agreement immediately for cause. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with the City of Springfield. 
2. Cancel the agreement. 
  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Probation. 

Funding Source: N/A – funds are collected from probationers. 

Attachments: Probation service agreement with the City of Springfield. 

 

74

Item XI. 5.



75

Item XI. 5.



76

Item XI. 5.



77

Item XI. 5.



78

Item XI. 5.



79

Item XI. 5.



80

Item XI. 5.



81

Item XI. 5.



82

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Renewal of the Probation Services agreement with State Court 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Purchasing and Probation 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Probation Services 
 

Summary Recommendation: Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with the State 

Court 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Service agreements are required by the Georgia Department of Community Supervision’s 
Misdemeanor Probation Oversite Unit. 

 Effingham Co. Probation Office supervises probated misdemeanor cases sentenced by the 
court listed. The majority of cases that Effingham County Probation serves are from State 
and Superior Court. 

 Springfield and Guyton courts are contracted to help supplement the budget and keep local 
probation local. 

 Probationers pay a $50.00 per month supervision fee (unless otherwise ordered by the 
sentencing Judge).  $41.00 is paid to the probation office and $9.00 is paid to the State of 
Georgia’s Crime Victim Emergency Fund. Probationers ordered to complete the MRT 
Program will be charged a $25.00 per workbook fee, and drug screens sent for confirmation 
will be $27.00 for each positive confirmation. 

 Providing probation supervision for State and Superior Court is a function of county 
government.  

 Providing probation supervision to the Cities saves them from having to contract with a 
private provider, or staff and manage a separate office to handle probationers. 

 The agreement has been previously reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 The agreement can be cancelled with 30 days written notice by either party.  The Court may 
cancel the agreement immediately for cause. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with State Court. 
2. Cancel the agreement. 
  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Probation. 

Funding Source: N/A – funds are collected from probationers. 

Attachments: Probation service agreement with State Court. 

 

 

83

Item XI. 6.



84

Item XI. 6.



85

Item XI. 6.



86

Item XI. 6.



87

Item XI. 6.



88

Item XI. 6.



89

Item XI. 6.



90

Item XI. 6.



91

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Renewal of the Probation Services agreement with Superior Court 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Purchasing and Probation 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Probation Services 
 

Summary Recommendation: Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with the State 

Court 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Service agreements are required by the Georgia Department of Community Supervision’s 
Misdemeanor Probation Oversite Unit. 

 Effingham Co. Probation Office supervises probated misdemeanor cases sentenced by the 
court listed. The majority of cases that Effingham County Probation serves are from State 
and Superior Court. 

 Springfield and Guyton courts are contracted to help supplement the budget and keep local 
probation local. 

 Probationers pay a $50.00 per month supervision fee (unless otherwise ordered by the 
sentencing Judge).  $41.00 is paid to the probation office and $9.00 is paid to the State of 
Georgia’s Crime Victim Emergency Fund. Probationers ordered to complete the MRT 
Program will be charged a $25.00 per workbook fee, and drug screens sent for confirmation 
will be $27.00 for each positive confirmation. 

 Providing probation supervision for State and Superior Court is a function of county 
government.  

 Providing probation supervision to the Cities saves them from having to contract with a 
private provider, or staff and manage a separate office to handle probationers. 

 The agreement has been previously reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney. 

 The agreement can be cancelled with 30 days written notice by either party.  The Court may 
cancel the agreement immediately for cause. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of the Probation Services Agreement with Superior Court. 
2. Cancel the agreement. 
  
Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Probation. 

Funding Source: N/A – funds are collected from probationers. 

Attachments: Probation service agreement with the Superior Court. 

 

 

92

Item XI. 7.



93

Item XI. 7.



94

Item XI. 7.



95

Item XI. 7.



96

Item XI. 7.



97

Item XI. 7.



98

Item XI. 7.



99

Item XI. 7.



100

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 
Subject: Renewal of Lease Agreement between Effingham County and the City of 

Springfield for Fire Department Building 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Fire 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Lease Agreement between Effingham County and the City of 

Springfield for the Fire Department Building located at 1171 Hwy 119 N, Springfield, GA 

31329. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the Lease Agreement 

between Effingham County and the City of Springfield for the Fire Department Building 

located at 1171 Hwy 119 N, Springfield, GA 31329 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has a Fire Protection Services Agreement in place 

with the City of Springfield to provide Fire Services in the City limits. The Fire 

Department is currently utilizing the Springfield building at 1171 Hwy 119 South. 

 The Lease Agreement stipulates that the Effingham County Fire Department 

shall pay $1.00 per year for the building.  

 During the term of the Lease, the City of Springfield shall have no obligation for 

the maintenance, replacement or repair of the building.  

 This agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County 

Attorney.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Renewal of the Lease Agreement between Effingham County and the City of 

Springfield for the Fire Department Building located at 1171 Hwy 119 N, 

Springfield, GA 31329 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney, Chief Hodges 

Funding Source: Fire Department Operating Budget 

Attachments: Lease Agreement with the City of Springfield 

 

 

 

 

101

Item XI. 8.



102

Item XI. 8.



103

Item XI. 8.



104

Item XI. 8.



105

Item XI. 8.



106

Item XI. 8.



107

Item XI. 8.



108

Item XI. 8.



109

Item XI. 8.



110

Item XI. 8.



111

Item XI. 8.



112

Item XI. 8.



113

Item XI. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Renewal of Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham County and 

Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. for Year 2 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Elections 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Approval of the Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham 

County and Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the Hardware Warranty 

Agreement between Effingham County and Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The Secretary of State of the State of Georgia entered into a Master Solution 

Purchase and Services Agreement contract with Dominion on July 29, 2019. The 

State authorizes the County to purchase voting system hardware warranties for 

the voting system items purchased by the State of Georgia for use by the 

County. 

 The term of this agreement will begin on the effective date and shall continue 

until the first anniversary of the effective date. The agreement shall automatically 

renew on an annual basis for an additional three (3) years. The County may 

choose to terminate the agreement prior to any annual renewal.  

 The Year 1 warranty cost for this equipment is $30,405.00.  

 The quote for Year 2 totals $31,317.15. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham County and 

Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. in the amount of $31,317.15 for Year 2 

2. Denial of the Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham County and 

Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Elections, Purchasing, Finance 

Funding Source: Elections Operating Budget 

Attachments: 

1. Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham County and Dominion Voting 

Systems, Inc. 

2. Listing of equipment covered by warranty 

3. Quote for Warranty Year 2 

114

Item XI. 9.



 

 

115

Item XI. 9.



November 21, 2022

Q00008989
Prepared by: Budgetary Quote
Beau Roberts
beau.roberts@dominionvoting.com

Product/Service Description Qty Unit Price Extension

$0.00

$0.00

ImageCast X Annual Hardware Warranty - 
Prime

183 $140.08 $25,634.64

ImageCast Precinct Annual Hardware 
Warranty - 320C

27 $150.38 $4,060.26

ImageCast Central Annual Hardware 
Warranty - G2140

1 $1,236.00 $1,236.00

MBP #2 OKI C712 Annual Hardware Warranty 1 $386.25 $386.25

Sub-Total $31,317.15

Annual Fees $31,317.15

Customer Name (printed) Title Date (MM/DD/YYYY)

Z
Z

Signature

This quote is valid for 90 days and subject to change for scope and configuration updates.
All Shipping costs to be invoiced separately to customer. All pricing is subject to standard terms and conditions.
Annual warranties are optional.

Year 1 Purchase Total

Signatures

Terms and Conditions

Total Purchase Sub-Total

Annual Warranties

Effingham County, GA

116

Item XI. 9.



117

Item XI. 9.



118

Item XI. 9.



119

Item XI. 9.



120

Item XI. 9.



121

Item XI. 9.



John Poulos

President & CEO

11/30/2021

122

Item XI. 9.



123

Item XI. 9.



                

Phone: 912.754.8030 Fax: 912.754.8408 Email: boe@effinghamcounty.org  

 

 

RE: Hardware Warranty Agreement between Effingham County and Dominion Voting Systems, Inc. 

From: Olivia Chapman, Director of Elections & Registration 

Date: October 21, 2021 

 

 

This Warranty Agreement will cover the Touchscreen Electronic Ballot Marking Devices, Ballot 

Scanners, High Speed Ballot Scanner and Mobile Ballot Printer.  

Below is the summary of the actual costs to replace the equipment listed above at the current prices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

ImageCast X 183 @ $1,550/ea. $286,650 

ImageCast Precinct 27 @ $3,900/ea. $105,300 

ImageCast Central 1 @ $25,000/ea. $25,000 

Mobile Ballot Printer 1 @ $5,800/ea. $5,800 

Total Cost of Equipment Covered by Warranty      $422,750 

124

Item XI. 9.

mailto:boe@effinghamcounty.org


STAFF REPORT 
 
Subject: 2023 ACCG Summer Internship Grants Program 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department: Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Ratify and affirm the request to apply for the 2023 ACCG Summer Internship 
Grants Program. 
 
Summary Recommendation: The ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation is seeking grant applications 
from counties for the 2023 Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP). County internship grant 
opportunities are exclusively available for summer. The goal of the program is to enable counties 
to hire talented high school and college students and recent college graduates for specific projects 
that will: benefit county government and its citizens; give students a chance to learn first-hand 
about the role of county government; provide practical work experiences students can use in the 
job market upon graduation, and inspire young people to consider a career in county government. 
Any ACCG member county with a substantive internship project proposal may apply for one or 
more grants. Three internship opportunities are available: 1) the general GCIP, 2) the Joan Garner 
Health and Human Services Internship Grant, and 3) the Dr. Jim Kundell Environmental 
Management Internship Grant. 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES FOR THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER: 
1. Approve and allow staff to proceed with the 2023 ACCG Summer Internship Grants Program 
application process. 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 
 
FUNDING: No impact on the budget. 
 
RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE: Alternative #1 
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: 2023 Summer GCIP Application 

Summer 2023 Grant Application Information Packet 
    2023 GCIP Grant Cycle Power Point Presentation 
 
      

125

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program – Grant Application Information  Page 1 
 

 
 

Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) 
Contents of the Summer 2023 Grant Application Information Packet 

 
Memorandum from Michele NeSmith….…….Pages 1-3 
 
Application Process and Guidelines…………….Pages 4-7 
 
FAQs about GCIP Application………………………Pages 8-12 
 

                County Grant Application Check List……………Page 13 
 

Tips for Writing a GCIP Grant Application……Pages 14-15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126

Item XI. 10.



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation--Memorandum from Michele NeSmith                                                   Page 1                                      

 
MEMORANDUM 

To:  County Commission Chairs, Sole Commissioners and CEO 

From:  Michele NeSmith, ACCG Research and Policy Development Director on behalf of the ACCG 
Civic Affairs Foundation  

Re:  Summer 2023 Georgia County Internship Program Grant Opportunities 

Date:  September 20, 2022 

The ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation is a nonprofit organization established by ACCG in 2006. Its mission is 
to help strengthen Georgia counties by undertaking programs and projects that enhance citizen 
education, encourage civic engagement and community improvement, and promote participation in 
government.  
 
The Foundation operates the Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) which offers grants to counties 
to recruit and hire college and university students for county internships. These grants are made 
available thanks to grants and generous financial contributions of supportive donors from the private 
sector including individuals, corporations and businesses, and philanthropic foundations.  
 
County internship grant opportunities are exclusively available for summer. The goal of the program is 
to enable counties to hire talented high school and college students and recent graduates for specific 
projects that will: benefit county government and its citizens; give students a chance to learn first-hand 
about the role of county government; provide practical work experiences students can use in the job 
market upon graduation; and inspire young people to consider a career in county government.  
 
Any ACCG member county that has a substantive internship project proposal may apply for a grant. 
Details about the grant application and internship requirements can be found in the enclosed 
Application Process and Guidelines. Please read the entire grant application packet before submitting 
the application.  
 
There are three internship opportunities available: 1) the general GCIP, 2) the Joan Garner Health and 
Human Services Internship Grant, and 3) the Dr. Jim Kundell Environmental Management Internship 
Grant.  
 
Counties that are interested in applying for the Garner or Kundell grant need to check that category on 
the grant application. An overview of each specialty grant is provided below.  
 

127

Item XI. 10.



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation--Memorandum from Michele NeSmith                                                   Page 2  

 
Kundell Environmental Management Grant 
The Kundell Environmental Management Internship/Fellowship Program was established by the ACCG 
Civic Affairs Foundation in 2017 to honor the work of Dr. Jim Kundell. Dr. Kundell was a distinguished 
professor and highly awarded member of the University of Georgia faculty. During his lifetime, he made 
significant contributions to environmental law and served as an advisor to many local, state, and 
national organizations on environmental matters.  

Grant applications for the Kundell grant must include a project that has an environmental impact. 
Suggested projects include anti-littering campaigns and projects, green energy, LEED certification, 
brownfield projects, pollution projects, water related projects, storm water runoff projects, etc.  One or 
more internships will be awarded.  
 
Garner Health and Human Services Grant 
The Garner Health and Human Services Internship/Fellowship Program was established by the ACCG 
Civic Affairs Foundation in 2017 to honor the work Fulton County Commissioner Joan Garner. 
Commissioner Garner was well known as an advocate for health and human services issues throughout 
her public service career. She served on numerous committees and advocacy boards championing 
health and human services initiatives and brought awareness and significant changes to these issues 
through her actions.   
 
Grant applications for the Garner grant must include a project that has a health and human services 
impact.  Suggested projects include creating and coordinating wellness/health fairs for the community, 
establishing a Live Healthy program for your county, projects related to seniors or disadvantaged youth, 
disease prevention, anti-drug campaigns, etc. One internship will be awarded.  
 
If your county chooses to apply for a specialty grant and is not selected, your application can still be 
considered for a general GCIP grant if it meets all application requirements.  
 
2023 Summer GCIP grants will be awarded for the period of May 1, 2023 - September 1, 2023.   
 
The deadline for counties to apply for summer internship grants is Friday, December 2, 2022. 
Recipients will be notified by Friday, February 3, 2023.  
 
It is the responsibility of the county to recruit, interview, and hire the intern. The Foundation will assist 
counties that receive GCIP grants with recruiting by posting internship positions on its website.  
 
All county grant recipients will be required to sign an agreement with the Foundation and adhere to the 
terms of that agreement. County grant recipients will be required to submit an accounting of all 
internship expenditures and will be awarded grant funds at the end of the grant period.  
 
A grant will cover 200 internship hours at a pay rate of $12 per hour. It will be the decision of the county 
and the intern to determine the work schedule in terms of number of hours worked per week and total 
number of weeks worked for the internship.  If a student needs academic credit, it will be the 

128

Item XI. 10.



 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation--Memorandum from Michele NeSmith                                                 Page 3   

responsibility of the county to work with the student and his/her academic institution to fulfill this 
requirement.  
 
For more information about the Foundation, please visit our website at www.civicaffairs.org. 

129

Item XI. 10.

http://www.civicaffairs.org/


ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 4 
 

  
Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) 

Application Process and Guidelines 
 
GCIP grants to counties  
 

As described below, counties may apply to the ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation for GCIP grant funding that 
will allow them to recruit and pay college students for college internships. GCIP is funded through grants 
and private and corporate donations to the Foundation. As a result, this is a competitive program and 
not every application that is submitted will be able to receive a grant due to limited funding.  
 
There are three different internship opportunities available: 1) the general GCIP, which is open to all 
counties 2) the Joan Garner Health and Human Services Internship Grant and 3) the Dr. Jim Kundell 
Environmental Management Internship Grant.  
 
Counties can create intern positions for any department within the county that seeks assistance with a 
project that, within the grant period, can produce a specific outcome defined by the department.  As a 
general matter, this would not include day-to-day administrative or operational jobs.  
 
2023 Summer Grant Period 
 

Based on available funding, the Foundation is awarding grants for internships for the Summer Grant 
Period from May 1 - September 1, 2023.  
 
The deadline to submit applications for the 2023 Summer Grant Period is Friday, December 2, 2022. 
 
It should be noted that intern project topics sometimes may be specified if required by a donor’s 
contribution to the program.  
 
Application Process 
 

In order for an application to be considered, all grant application guidelines must be met. 
 
As noted above, the deadline to submit applications for GCIP funds for the 2023 Summer Grant Period is 
December 2, 2022. Applications received by the Foundation after midnight on this deadline will not be 
eligible for consideration.  
 
Applications should be sent to Michele NeSmith at the Foundation: via email to mnesmith@accg.org or 
by mail to ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation / 191 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 700 / Atlanta, Georgia 30303.  
 
In order for an application to be considered, all GCIP grant application requirements and program 
guidelines must be met.  
 
All applicants must submit the 2023 GCIP Grant Application which must include a project statement of 
no longer than two pages that includes:  
 

130

Item XI. 10.

mailto:mnesmith@accg.org


ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 5 
 

1.  A detailed overview of the project(s) that the intern will complete during the grant period, 
 

2.  A description of the need for the project(s),  
 

3.  A statement of the overall benefit the project(s) will provide to the county and the community, and 
 

4.    If the project(s) involve a partnership of the county with other counties, a regional commission, or a 
nonprofit organization or college or university, a description of the partnership arrangement is required. 
All partnerships with nonprofits organizations, colleges or universities must include funding for at least 
25% of the internship cost.  No funding is required for multiple county or regional commission 
partnerships.  
 
The project statement should be submitted as part of the GCIP Grant Application form as Section II of 
the application.  
 
In addition to the project statement, a county must also complete the GCIP Grant Application.  
 
A county may apply for grant funding for more than one internship, meaning that more than one 
department may apply, or a request may be made for more than one intern for a particular department.  
Each department requesting an intern(s) must submit a separate application.  
 
There should only be one primary contact person per grant application. The primary contact should be 
the grant coordinator, or if the county does not have a grant coordinator, the person who will be 
responsible for managing the grant application process, preparing the accounting of internship expenses 
at the end of the grant period, and receiving the grant funds. While not required, it is recommended 
that this person be the human resources director or county clerk. It is the responsibility of the county 
to notify the Foundation if the primary contact person for the grant has changed from the point of 
application. Failure to do so may cause the county to miss notifications and critical information 
distributed to grant recipients.   
 
If a grant application is being submitted on behalf of a partnership arrangement, the primary point of 
contact should submit the application. The primary contact should be the person who will be 
responsible for receiving and managing the grant. Any changes to the primary contact during the grant 
period should be communicated to the Foundation as soon as possible.  
 
Payment of grants to counties 
 

The Foundation will notify grant applicants if their funding has been approved for the 2023 Summer 
Grant Period by February 3, 2023. 
 
All GCIP grant recipients will be required to sign a Grant Agreement and adhere to the terms of that 
Agreement.  
 
At the end of the grant period, all grant recipients will be required to submit an accounting of eligible 
expenditures related to the internship and, upon review of this accounting and approval by the 
Foundation, will receive grant funds as reimbursement for eligible expenditures. The Foundation will 
send grant funds to a county by check via U.S. Mail. 
 
 

131

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 6 
 

Factors that will be considered in awarding grants 
 

Grants will be awarded to counties based on a number of factors, including but not limited to:  
 
1. The competitiveness of a county’s proposed intern project compared to other internship                          

applications seeking funding. 
 
2.    The overall impact and benefit to the county of the project(s) proposed.  
 

3.  Whether a county can provide the appropriate supervision of and support for an intern, as well as 
provide the physical facilities or special equipment needed by an intern for a project and meet 
program criteria regarding pay, insurance, and any other noted requirements.  

 

4.  Whether partnerships have been formed with other counties or regional commissions in order to 
maximize the benefit of an internship project by sharing it across multiple counties to address 
shared issues or needs (see below). No financial contribution from other counties or regional 
commission is required for this type of partnership.  

 

5.  Whether counties are able and willing to absorb a portion of the internship cost from its own 
resources or resources donated by members of the community, in order to help stretch available 
Foundation funding to as many counties as possible (see below).  

 

6.  Whether counties have formed partnerships with nonprofit organizations or colleges or universities 
that will agree to absorb a portion of the internship cost (see below). These partnerships must 
include funding for at least 25% of the internship cost from the nonprofit, college, or university.  

 
7.    Whether counties that have previously participated in the GCIP properly adhered to grant 

requirements, guidelines, deadlines, and information requests made by the Foundation.  
 
8.    Counties that have submitted competitive projects that have not previously participated in the 

program.  
 
 
Partnerships for interns 
 

Counties are encouraged to develop partnerships with other counties or with local regional commissions 
for shared intern projects. Working cooperatively on common interests and issues will allow more 
efficient use of limited intern funding to benefit as many counties as possible and will be a factor in 
considering applications. 
 
A county also may partner with a nonprofit organization or college or university for a project funded by 
a GCIP grant. However, in order for a county to be eligible to apply under this provision, the partnering 
organization or college or university must fund from its own resources at least 25% of the internship 
cost for which the grant application is made.   
 
 
 
 
 

132

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 7 
 

County funding for a portion of intern costs 
 
Counties are encouraged to identify local funding sources that can be used to pay a portion of the intern 
costs. Such sources might include county funds or private funds donated from local businesses, 
organizations, or individuals. There is no minimum county-funded or privately raised matching amount 
required under this provision. However, to the extent counties can help stretch available funding from 
the Foundation, to hire as many interns as possible, such a contribution to the program will be a factor 
in considering applications. 
 
If a project proposed by a county requires an intern with higher level specialized skills for which the job 
market normally would pay above $12 per hour, the county may use its own funding sources under this 
provision to increase the amount needed to recruit a qualified intern. GCIP will not provide funding for 
wages over $12 per hour or for more than 200 hours.  
 
It should be noted that ACCG and the Foundation recognize the enormous fiscal constraints on county 
governments. However, it is believed that counties can use GCIP as an incentive to encourage local 
donors to support interns and projects in that, if a donor provides funding, they know their dollars will 
be matched with GCIP funds. 

133

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 8 
 

  
Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) 

Frequently Asked Questions  
 
Who should be the grant contact person for my county? 
If the county has a grant coordinator, that person will need to serve as the point person for the grant. 
Absent having a grant coordinator, it is up to the county to determine the point person for any given 
position. It is strongly recommended that the human resources director or clerk be considered for this 
position and that at the very least they are consulted throughout the process considering that several 
components of the grant may require their participation. If the point person changes after the 
application has been submitted and/or approved, it is the responsibility of the county to inform the 
Foundation of this change as soon as possible.  Failure to inform the Foundation may cause the county 
to miss important information regarding the administration of the grant.  
 
What is the Kundell Environmental Management Grant?  
The Kundell Environmental Management Internship/Fellowship Program was established by the ACCG 
Civic Affairs Foundation in 2017 to honor the work of Dr. Jim Kundell. Dr. Kundell was a distinguished 
professor and highly awarded member of the University of Georgia faculty. During his lifetime, he made 
significant contributions to environmental law and served as an advisor to many local, state, and 
national organizations on environmental matters.  

Grant applications for the Kundell grant must include a project that has an environmental impact. 
Suggested projects include anti-littering campaigns and projects, green energy, LEED certification, 
brownfield projects, pollution projects, water related projects, storm water runoff projects, etc.  One or 
more internships will be awarded.  
 
What is the Garner Health and Human Services Grant?  
The Garner Health and Human Services Internship/Fellowship Program was established by the ACCG 
Civic Affairs Foundation in 2017 to honor the work Fulton County Commissioner Joan Garner. 
Commissioner Garner was well known as an advocate for health and human services issues throughout 
her public service career. She served on numerous committees and advocacy boards championing 
health and human services initiatives and brought awareness and significant changes to these issues 
through her actions.   
 
Grant applications for the Garner grant must include a project that has a health and human services 
impact.  Suggested projects include creating and coordinating wellness/health fairs for the community, 
establishing a Live Healthy program for your county, projects related to seniors or disadvantaged youth, 
disease prevention, anti-drug campaigns, etc. One internship will be awarded. 
 
What if my county applies for a specialty grant but is not selected? Can my application be considered 
for the general program? 
Yes. Any applicant that is not selected for a specialty grant but scores high enough through the grant 
review process will be considered for the general program.  

134

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 9 
 

Can applications be submitted that only contain projects that impact certain geographic parts of the 
county, such as a particular district? 
While there are no prohibitions against submitting such applications, it is recommended that a project’s 
impact be applicable to the county as a whole. In that the Foundation has limited resources, there are a 
finite number of grants available.  As such, not every county can receive a grant which makes it difficult 
to justify awarding a grant that only impacts a particular district of a county.  
 
Can a commissioner submit a GCIP grant application? 
Yes, however, the projects submitted must not be personal in nature, such as campaign work or projects 
unrelated to county operations and should be applicable to the county as a whole and not a particular 
district. If the intern is to work with the board of commissioners, it may be best to have the chair serve 
as the supervisor unless the commissioner who has applied for the grant is the point person for the 
project(s) requested.  
 
Will the grant contract need to be approved by the board of commissioners? 
Yes.  Please consult with your grant coordinator, clerk, or county attorney to ensure that the proper 
guidelines for the county are being followed.  
 
What qualifications does an intern have to meet? 
The program is open to undergraduate and graduate students from a variety of educational 
backgrounds, provided a student’s abilities are appropriate to the intern project proposed by the 
county. Since county governments provide a wide range of services, counties are encouraged to be 
creative in proposing internship opportunities across diverse areas of study from engineering and law to 
human resources and veterinary sciences.   
 
Recent college graduates may be selected for an internship provided they can provide proof that their 
graduation was within one year of the start date of the internship. Also, high school students who are 16 
years of age or older AND are dually enrolled in a college or university are now eligible to participate in 
the program.  
 
How many hours should an intern work and how should this time be scheduled? 
GCIP grant funds will pay internship costs for up to a maximum of 200 internship hours. It will be up to 
the county and the intern to determine the work schedule in terms of the number of hours worked per 
week and total number of weeks to be worked. It is recommended that the minimum number of hours 
worked per week is 15. 
 
Interns are not required to work the total 200 hours for the county to receive the grant, although the 
Foundation will only reimburse the county under the grant based on the actual number of hours worked 
if less than 200.  Also, if a grant for multiple interns is awarded to a county, the interns can work 
different schedules and hours if the total number of hours worked under the grant does not exceed 200 
for any one intern. Further, if a county was awarded a grant for one intern and later determined that 
more than one intern was needed, the grant can be split into two 100-hour internships if the county 
abides by all the requirements of the grant agreement. If the county needs to split the grant, the 
Foundation must be contacted first to ensure that the requested split meets all the grant requirements.  
 

135

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 10 
 

A student may start an internship at any time during the grant period. Students must complete their 
internship no later than the last day of the grant period.  
 
While GCIP grant funds cannot be provided past the grant period, a county and an intern can extend the 
duration of any internship based on mutual agreement. All expenses incurred beyond the grant period 
will be paid by the county.  
 
How much do interns get paid under GCIP and how is this funded?  
The wage for interns paid using GCIP grant funds is $12.00 per hour.  Grant funding also will pay 
counties for the employer share of FICA costs associated with an intern. An intern paid using GCIP grant 
funds must be covered under the county’s Worker’s Compensation Plan, but this cost also will be 
reimbursable to the county based on the formula allowed as calculated by the Foundation.  
 
Given the 200-hour maximum on internship hours that may be funded from a GCIP grant, total hourly 
pay per intern may not exceed $2,400. This amount does not include the employer share of FICA costs 
and Worker Compensation coverage that will be reimbursed as part of the grant.  
 
If a county wants to pay an intern more than $12 per hour, that amount over $12 will need to be paid by 
the county along with the additional FICA and worker’s compensation costs applicable to the additional 
salary. The GCIP grant does not cover wages paid over $12 per hour nor does it pay for more than 200 
hours of employment during the grant period. The grant also does not pay for overtime costs. All hours 
must be accrued during the regular workweek.  
 
 
What are counties responsible for if they receive a GCIP grant? 
Counties are responsible for finding and hiring the intern. While the Foundation will post internship 
positions on their website, it is ultimately up to the county to advertise the position locally, contact area 
colleges, and hire the intern.  
 
Counties are also responsible for withholding all applicable state and federal income taxes on a GCIP 
intern’s earnings and for withholding the employee share of applicable FICA costs. Counties must make 
timely payments of these monies withheld (as well as any other payroll taxes due) to the appropriate 
federal and state agencies.  
 
Counties are additionally responsible for 1) submitting the prerequisite grant paperwork to the 
Foundation in a timely manner, 2) verifying the intern’s eligibility to work for the county through E-
Verify and 3) adhering to the grant agreement requirements.  
 
Counties are further required to provide adequate workspace for an intern and to provide an intern 
supervisor. Depending on the project, a county also may have to provide equipment, technical 
assistance, or training to the intern.  
 
If a student wants to obtain academic credit for the internship, it will be the responsibility of the county 
to work with the student and the student’s academic institution to fulfill this requirement. The 
Foundation is not responsible for securing academic credit or certifying work performed by the intern 
for this purpose.  
 
 

136

Item XI. 10.



ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 11 
 

What if my county has already hired an intern for the grant period? 
If a county already has identified a college intern for the grant period, the county is eligible to receive 
grant funding for that intern if it submits all required application materials by the applicable deadline 
and is selected to receive a grant. Note that the internship must be completed within the grant period.  
 
Who is responsible for recruiting interns? 
It will be the responsibility of the county to recruit, interview, and hire the intern.  
 
The Foundation will assist in identifying potential interns by posting county positions on its website 
www.civicaffairs.org  to provide statewide exposure to interested students. If needed, the Foundation 
also will assist a county with its intern search process by contacting colleges, universities, and technical 
colleges in your area.  
 
What happens if a county can’t recruit an intern for its GCIP grant? 
If no intern can be identified, the GCIP grant will be rescinded for the grant period. 
 
What happens if an intern is fired or quits before the term of employment is completed? 
The county is required to notify the Foundation within five business days of termination of the intern. If 
the county can find an intern to fulfill the rest of the internship within the grant period, it may do so. If 
another intern is not found, the Foundation will reimburse the county for the time that the original 
intern worked for the county if the prerequisite paperwork is submitted as provided for in the grant 
agreement.  
 
Can interns be hired to exclusively perform administrative or clerical work or to perform the duties of 
a full-time or part-time position that is currently unfilled? 
No. Interns cannot be hired to perform solely administrative or clerical work or to perform the work of 
an unfilled existing position. The internship must be project oriented. Although some administrative 
work may be required if related to the internship project, such work cannot be the basis for the 
internship.  
 

Can interns be hired to perform private projects for commissioners? 
No. Interns are not allowed to work on projects that are not county related. Interns funded by GCIP are 
prohibited from participating in any type of political campaign work. The purpose of the internship is for 
the student to learn about county government through a project that benefits the county as a whole.  
 
Are there hiring restrictions regarding family or personal relationships? 
Counties that have a nepotism policy for their new hires are required to apply that policy to the hire of 
any intern through the Georgia County Internship Program that is paid through this grant. In the 
absence of such a policy, the county should refrain from hiring interns who are closely related by blood 
or marriage to an elected or appointed county government official for that county or who has a hiring or 
supervisory role over the intern. Counties should also apply their personnel policies on dating in the 
workplace to any intern hired through this grant. Counties that fail to follow these requirements will not 
receive grant funding for any of the interns who have been involved in any of the aforementioned 
activities. 
 

137

Item XI. 10.

http://www.civicaffairs.org/


ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation – Georgia County Internship Program Application Process and Guidelines Page 12 
 

Will grant opportunities be offered for any period other than summer? 
No. Due to the high demand from counties and students for summer internships, the GCIP will be 
exclusively providing summer grants to maximize the number of program participants.  
 

 

138

Item XI. 10.



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation—Georgia County Internship Program Application Check List Page 13 

 
Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) 

County Grant Application Check List 
 

 Read all provided information before completing required 
forms, including the “Grant Memorandum,” the “Grant 
Application,” the “Application Process and Guidelines,” 
“Suggested Tips for Writing a GCIP Grant Application,” and 
the “Frequently Asked Questions.” 
 

 Submit completed GCIP Grant Application form by the grant 
deadline which includes a 1 to 2-page description of the 
internship project being proposed, the need it addresses, and 
the expected benefits to the county (by the grant deadline 
Friday, December 2, 2022). 

 
 Ensure that the county can provide adequate workspace for 

an intern, that a qualified person has been selected to be the 
intern’s supervisor, and that any necessary equipment, 
technical assistance, or training that an intern may need can 
be made available. 
 

139

Item XI. 10.



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation---Georgia County Internship Program Grant Writing Tips Page 14 

 
 

 

 
Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) 

Tips for Submitting an Internship Grant Application 
 

Do: 
 

1. Provide a detailed project description that specifically includes the intern’s role in completing 
the project and what the final product or outcome of the project will be.   
  

2. Explain the “Who, What, Where, Why and How” of the intern project in a way that provides a 
clear understanding of the proposed internship.  
 

3. Explain clearly the need for the project, why it is important to the county, and the benefits that 
will result to the county and/or the community. 
 

4. Write project descriptions in layman’s terms since it may be difficult to understand the intern 
position if only highly technical terminology is used to describe the project and intern duties. 
This is especially true of IT and GIS project descriptions.  
 

5. Detail how the county plans to advertise and recruit interns.  
  

6. Ensure the skills requested for the intern are appropriate for a college student. For example, it is 
highly unlikely a student will have 3-5 years of experience in a specific field of government work.  
 

7. Make sure that the intern has an active, substantive role in the proposed project. A great project 
doesn’t provide much benefit if the intern is on the sidelines.  
 

8. Obtain prior permission from the county to act as fiscal agent for the grant if the county does 
not typically act in this capacity for your local agency or department.  
 

9. Consider submitting a project that involves a partnership with other counties, regional 
commissions, nonprofit organizations or institutions of higher education.  These types of 
projects maximize grant funding, which can factor into the grant selection process.  
 
 

Don’t: 
 

10. Submit proposals that are unfilled, county job descriptions. Internships need to be project-
oriented and created specifically for the work being done by a college student or recent college 
graduate.   
  

140

Item XI. 10.



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation---Georgia County Internship Program Grant Writing Tips  Page 15 
 

11. Submit projects that merely provide administrative assistance or entail only administrative 
duties. While most interns expect some administrative work, the core of the internship needs to 
be a substantive project(s).  
 

12. Submit, for example, a project where the sole purpose is to scan records. There must be a 
substantive element such as redesigning or creating a records management system, retention 
schedule, or historical preservation process. 
  

13. Submit, for example, a project where the sole purpose is to perform data entry that requires no 
analysis, research or collection of information.   
 

14. Submit, for example, a project that only benefits one district or area of a county. Projects should 
have a broader impact.  
 

15. Submit the same project as the previous year with no new tasks or requirements, unless it is a 
continuation of the previous project. 
 

16. Submit a project that is much too ambitious or complex for an intern to complete within the 
timeframe allotted.  
 

17. Be afraid to think outside the box.  Some of the best projects are those that are unexpected, 
interesting, and imaginative. Be creative! 
 

18. Submit proposals that provide vague details.  If we can’t understand the project, there is a lesser 
chance of your county being selected for a grant.  

141

Item XI. 10.



 
 

ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation / 191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 700 / Atlanta, Georgia 30303   ph.(404)522-5022 

1 
 

Georgia County Internship Program Grant Application  
Summer 2023 

 
Applicants should read the entire GCIP Application Packet prior to completing this form. 
 
This application has three sections. Section I requires the applicant to indicate the grant 
category for the application. Section II requires the applicant to provide answers to a 
series of questions and Section III requires a detailed description of the internship 
project being proposed, the need it addresses, and the expected benefits to the county. 
More information on how to complete the application can be found in the GCIP 
Application Process and Guidelines document. 
 
The application deadline for the 2023 GCIP grant program is Friday, December 2, 2022 
 
Applications should be sent to Michele NeSmith at the Foundation via email to 
mnesmith@accg.org  or by mail to: 

ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation 
191 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 700 
Atlanta, GA 30303 

 
Please note that factors that influence consideration include but are not limited to the 
type of project submitted, the overall impact and benefit to the county of the project(s) 
proposed, the ability to partially fund the internship position(s), collaboration with other 
counties, regional commissions, colleges/universities, and/or non-profits, and the 
number of interns requested. 
 
Reminder: Interns should be currently enrolled in college as undergraduate or graduate 
students or have recently graduated from college within one year of the grant period. 
High school students 16 years of age or older who are dually enrolled in a college or 
university are also eligible. General high school students who have not yet begun college 
are not eligible. Interns cannot work more than 200 total hours during the grant period. 
The county and the intern can decide how many hours the intern works per week and 
the total number of weeks worked. It is recommended that the minimum hours worked 
per week be no less than 15 hours. 
 

 

142

Item XI. 10.

mailto:mnesmith@accg.org


 
 

ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation / 191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 700 / Atlanta, Georgia 30303   ph.(404)522-5022 

2 
 

Section I: Grant Category 
Select (X) the grant category for this application. 

 

General GCIP Grant  

Kundell Environmental Grant  

Garner Health and Human Services Grant  

 

Section II: General Grant Information  
 

County Name:  

County E-Verify Number:  

Number of Interns Requested:  
 
 
 

Are you submitting an application that includes a partner? ☐ Yes ☐ No 
 List partners:  

 Is your partner a 
nonprofit, college, or 
university? 

                                                                                                    ☐Yes     ☐   No 

 List contribution level  ____$500 (25%)      _____Other 

 (Partners can include other counties, regional commissions, colleges/universities, and/or non-profit organizations. 
Partnerships with colleges/universities, and/or non-profit organizations must include at least a 25% funding 
contribution from those entities. ) 

 

Name of Grant Coordinator or 
other Primary Contact: 

 

County:  

Department:  

Position:  

Address:  

Email:  Phone:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is the county providing partial funding of the amount needed to fund the 
internship?  (Total cost of the internship is $2400 plus FICA and WC supplement) 

☐ Yes ☐ No 

 What amount? $:  

 OR 

 Is the county providing additional funding? (on top of the grant amount)                 ☐  Yes     ☐  No 

 What amount? $:  
 

143

Item XI. 10.



 
 

ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation / 191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 700 / Atlanta, Georgia 30303   ph.(404)522-5022 

3 
 

Who will be the supervisor for the intern? 

 ☐ Same as grant coordinator or other primary county contact 
 ☐ Other 

 Name:  

 Department:  

 Position:  

 Address:  

 Email:  Phone:  

Has this individual previously supervised interns? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

 

Is adequate space available to support an intern? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

Is adequate equipment available (computer, software programs, etc.) for the 
intern to complete the proposed project(s)? 

☐ Yes ☐ No 

Will outside technical assistance be required for the intern to complete the 
project? 

☐ Yes ☐ No 

 If Yes, who will provide it:  

Has your county previously had an intern? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

Has your county ever had an intern in this field? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

Has your county previously received a Georgia County Internship Program 
(GCIP) grant for interns? 

☐ Yes ☐ No 

Is there a college or university located in your county?  ☐ Yes ☐ No 

Is there a technical college located in your county? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

What special skills should the intern have to be able to complete the project, such as knowledge of 
certain types of software, experience using certain types of equipment, etc.? (Note this is for a student 
so years of work in a certain field should not be included.) 

 

Will any special training be provided to the intern? ☐ Yes ☐ No 

 If Yes, please describe:  
Please describe how your county plans to recruit and advertise the internship position: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

144

Item XI. 10.



 
 

ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation / 191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 700 / Atlanta, Georgia 30303   ph.(404)522-5022 

4 
 

Section III: Project Description and Intern Position Title 
 

Project Information 
 

Internship position title:  

 
In the gray space below, please FULLY describe the internship position being 
proposed, the need it addresses, the benefits to the county, and the necessary 
intern qualifications. The space will expand when you start to type. Include no more 
than 1-2 additional pages to describe the internship.  More information can be found 
in the GCIP Application Process and Guidelines document 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 For questions, email mnesmith@accg.org or call (404) 992-8737 

 
The Georgia County Internship Program is offered by the ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation 
thanks to the generosity and support of our donors and supporters. The Foundation is a 
nonprofit 501 (c) (3) organization. For more information, visit www.civicaffairs.org.  

 

145

Item XI. 10.

mailto:mnesmith@accg.org
http://www.civicaffairs.org/


STAFF REPORT 
 
Subject: 2023 Unpaid Internship for Probation 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department: Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Request authorization to partner with Georgia Southern University’s Criminal 
Justice Department for an unpaid internship for the Probation Department. 
 
Summary Recommendation: The Probation Department recently has seen a drastic increase in 
its caseload. Probation has one Chief Probation Officer, three Probation Officers, and an Office 
Manager. To help alleviate some backlog, they have requested an unpaid intern position to assist 
with essential paperwork and filing.  
 
 
ALTERNATIVES FOR THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER: 
1. Approve and allow staff to explore the 2023 Unpaid Internship for Probation. 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 
 
FUNDING: No impact on the budget. 
 
RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE: Alternative #1 
 
 
      

146

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Intent to Abandon County Road maintenance – a portion of Webb Road (Fourth 

District) 
Author:  Staff 
Department:  Engineering 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022  
Item Description: Second public hearing for the abandonment of a portion of Webb Road 
 
Summary Recommendation: Consideration to permanently abandon and cease maintenance of the 
section of Webb Road parallel to and on the right-of-way of the Norfolk Southern railroad tracks. This 
section of road serves no public purpose and serves only one (1) property owner with access to Webb Road 
elsewhere.  In the Fourth District 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 With the development of the Dasher Point community within the City of Springfield, city staff 
approached the County with concern about the presence of the road. It represents a trespass and safety 
concern for Dasher Point residents.  

 After a records search, County staff were unable to locate any County right-of-way. The Road is 
currently not in use.  

 Fire, Sheriff, and EMS have reviewed the request to determine if services will be negatively impacted 
and had no objection.  

 Public notice of the closure began on June 7, 2022 and continued for one (1) month.  

 A public hearing was held on August 2, and the vote was postponed to allow time to address concerns 

of a property owner (Reuben Jenkins) about access across NSRR ROW. NSRR responded and met 
with the property owner and assured them access could be maintained and would not be 
withheld.  
 A public hearing took place on September 6, and the vote was postponed to December 6, to allow 
time for a survey of the easement from Webb Road to Mr. Jenkins’ property to be prepared. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve the posting of the intent to abandon the portion of Webb Road parallel to the NSRR ROW and 
begin a public comment period. 
2 – Take no action/Deny 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Engineering   Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Vicinity Map. 

147

Item XII. 1.



  RESOLUTION# 022-031 

 

Page 1 of 3 

 

A RESOLUTION OF INTENT TO ABANDON A PORTION OF KESSLER 

LOOP THAT HAS BEEN DETERMINED TO HAVE CEASED TO BE USED 

BY THE PUBLIC TO THE EXTENT THAT NO SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC 

PURPOSE IS SERVED BY IT; TO PROVIDE FOR WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE 

PROPERTY OWNERS; TO PROVIDE FOR NEWSPAPER PUBLICATION 

ONCE A WEEK FOR TWO WEEKS; TO PROVIDE FOR A PUBLIC HEARING 

ON THE MATTER; AND TO PROVIDE FOR FINAL ACTION REGARDING 

ABANDONMENT OF THE PORTION OF SAID ROAD; TO REPEAL 

CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

 A RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, after 

due consideration of the matter, determines that a section of its county road system, to-wit: a 

section of Kessler Loop, lying in the 11th G.M. District of Effingham County, Georgia, as shown 

on the sketch attached hereto, has ceased to be used by the public to the extent that no substantial 

purpose is served by it due to it being located on private land; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, believes 

that it is in the best interest of Effingham County, Georgia, to abandon said section of the county 

road system as described above; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of 

Effingham County, Georgia, and it hereby resolved by the Authority of the Board of 

Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, that it intends to abandon said section of the county 

road system as described above as required by law; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a sketch of the section of the county road 

system that Effingham County, Georgia, intends to abandon as herein above described shall be 

filed herewith; and 

 

148

Item XII. 1.



  RESOLUTION# 022-031 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that written notice shall be provided by means 

of registered or certified mail to each property owner located on the section of Kessler Loop at 

issue; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a notice of the intent to abandon and of the  

public hearing to be held on the same shall be published in the legal organ of Effingham County, 

Georgia once a week for two weeks; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a public hearing shall be held on the matter, 

and that said public hearing shall be advertised by publication in the legal organ of Effingham 

County, Georgia, once a week for two weeks prior to said hearing; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that following said public hearing, a final 

determination will be made regarding the abandonment of said section of the county road system 

as shown on the sketch attached hereto; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham 

County, Georgia, that any and all resolutions, ordinances or other laws in conflict with this 

resolution shall be and the same are hereby repealed; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham 

County, Georgia, that this resolution shall be effective immediately upon the adoption by the Board 

of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, and, upon such adoption, written notice shall 

issue to property owners on Kessler Loop; the intent to abandon shall be advertised in the legal 

organ of Effingham County, Georgia as required by law; a public hearing shall be advertised and 

held as required by law; and final action on the abandonment of such section of the county road 

system shall be taken following said public hearing. 

 

149

Item XII. 1.



  RESOLUTION# 022-031 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED, this ______ day of September, 2022. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM, COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

___________________________________ 

WESLEY M. CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

        

 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________________ 

STEPHANIE D. JOHNSON, CLERK 

 

 

 

 

[COUNTY SEAL] 

 

 

 

 

 

150

Item XII. 1.



151

Item XII. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject:  Rezoning (First & Second Districts)       
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Cindy Howze as Agent for Ansgarhay, LLC requests to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-
1 to I-1, to allow for future industrial use. Located at 108 Godley Road. Map# 419 Parcel# 1A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 
to I-1, to allow for future industrial use. 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 This rezoning application was not referred for regional review, as no proposed use or site plan was 

submitted, and the acreage is below the threshold requiring a regional review for industrial rezoning.   

 Other I-1 zoned parcels in the area have been rezoned for use as surface mines accessing Godley Road. 

An 8-acre portion of this property was rezoned to I-1 for use as a surface mine in November 2020. 

 This parcel is partially located in Chatham County (Port Wentworth). Port Wentworth submitted a letter 

certifying that the portion in their jurisdiction is zoned for surface mining. 

 No concept plan has been submitted. The parcel has no direct access to Godley Road in Effingham 

County. 399A-4 is also owned by the applicant, and has been used in the past as access for 419-1A.  

 399A-4 is zoned AR-2, and is not part of this application. 

 According to the Future Land Use map, the area is proposed for residential and agricultural use.  

 The Effingham County portions of the parent parcel are narrow, and would be substantially covered by 

300’ buffers if the proposed use is I-1 heavy industrial. In the absence of a development plan, we cannot 

determine whether there is adequate space for an industrial use, or if Effingham roads are impacted. 

 Godley Road is not a designated truck route. In recent months, the City of Bloomingdale has submitted 

letters of opposition to rezoning and sketch plan applications for heavy industrial uses on Godley Road. 

 Road improvements, road maintenance agreements, and/or bonds may be necessary to address the 

concerns of all affected jurisdictions.  

 At the August 15, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to deny the request to 

rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1.  The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and approved by four 

members. Dave Burns opposed. 

 At the September 6, 2022 meeting, the Board postponed this item until November 1. 

 At the November 1, 2022 meeting, the Board postponed this item until December 6, to allow time for the 

submittal of a concept plan. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1, with conditions: 

1. The parcel must be combined with a parcel that has frontage on Godley Road. 

2. The applicant shall meet and develop agreements with affected jurisdictions, to address road 

maintenance concerns. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval by the Board of Commissioners. 

4. Development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, 

and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study will be required, pursuant to Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Business operator shall meet the requirements of Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
152

Item XII. 2.



Recommended Alternative:  2   Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

2. authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

153

Item XII. 2.



154

Item XII. 2.



155

Item XII. 2.



156

Item XII. 2.



157

Item XII. 2.



158

Item XII. 2.



159

Item XII. 2.



160

Item XII. 2.



161

Item XII. 2.



162

Item XII. 2.



163

Item XII. 2.



164

Item XII. 2.



165

Item XII. 2.



166

Item XII. 2.



167

Item XII. 2.



168

Item XII. 2.



169

Item XII. 2.



170

Item XII. 2.



171

Item XII. 2.



172

Item XII. 2.



173

Item XII. 2.



174

Item XII. 2.



175

Item XII. 2.



176

Item XII. 2.



177

Item XII. 2.



178

Item XII. 2.



179

Item XII. 2.



180

Item XII. 2.



181

Item XII. 2.



182

Item XII. 2.



183

Item XII. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Cindy Howze as Agent for Ansgarhay, LLC requests to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-
1 to I-1, to allow for future industrial use. Located at 108 Godley Road. Map# 419 Parcel# 1A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 
to I-1, to allow for future industrial use. 
Executive Summary/Background 
 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.  Zoning 

districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 This rezoning application was not referred for regional review, as no proposed use or site plan was submitted, and 

the acreage is below the threshold requiring a regional review for industrial rezoning.   

 Other I-1 zoned parcels in the area have been rezoned for use as surface mines accessing Godley Road. An 8-acre 

portion of this property was rezoned to I-1 for use as a surface mine in November 2020. 

 This parcel is partially located in Chatham County (Port Wentworth). Port Wentworth submitted a letter certifying that 

the portion in their jurisdiction is zoned for surface mining. 

 No concept plan has been submitted. The parcel has no direct access to Godley Road in Effingham County. 399A-

4 is also owned by the applicant, and has been used in the past as access for 419-1A.  

 399A-4 is zoned AR-2, and is not part of this application. 

 According to the Future Land Use map, the area is proposed for residential and agricultural use.  

 The Effingham County portions of the parent parcel are narrow, and would be substantially covered by 300’ buffers 

if the proposed use is I-1 heavy industrial. In the absence of a development plan, we cannot determine whether there 

is adequate space for an industrial use, or if Effingham roads are impacted. 

 Godley Road is not a designated truck route. In recent months, the City of Bloomingdale has submitted letters of 

opposition to rezoning and sketch plan applications for heavy industrial uses on Godley Road.  

 Road improvements, road maintenance agreements, and/or bonds may be necessary to address the concerns of 

all affected jurisdictions.  

 At the August 15, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to deny the request to rezone 

72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1.  The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and approved by four members. Dave 

Burns opposed. 

 At the September 6, 2022 meeting, the Board postponed this item until November 1. 

 At the November 1, 2022 meeting, the Board postponed this item until December 6, to allow time for the submittal 

of a concept plan. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1, with conditions: 

1. The parcel must be combined with a parcel that has frontage on Godley Road. 

2. The applicant shall meet and develop agreements with affected jurisdictions, to address road 

maintenance concerns. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval by the Board of Commissioners. 

4. Development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, 

and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study will be required, pursuant to Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Business operator shall meet the requirements of Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 72.15 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
Recommended Alternative:  2   Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services FUNDING: N/A   Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment   

 
184

Item XII. 3.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

419-1A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

419-1A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS CINDY HOWZE AS AGENT FOR ANSGARHAY, LLC has filed an application to rezone seventy-two and 

fifteen hundredth (72.15) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for industrial use; map and parcel number 419-1A, located in the 1st & 

2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on September 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on August 17, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on July 27, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT seventy-two and fifteen hundredth (72.15) +/- acres; map and parcel number 419-1A, 

located in the 1st & 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The parcel must be combined with a parcel that has frontage on Godley Road. 

2. The applicant shall meet and develop agreements with affected jurisdictions, to address road maintenance concerns. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be submitted for approval by the Board of Commissioners. 

4. Development plans must comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, and the Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study will be required, pursuant to Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

7. Business operator shall meet the requirements of Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

185

Item XII. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. requests to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow 
for a surface mine. Located on McCall Road Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 11F Map# 412 Parcel# 24 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both McCall Road & Racepath Road. Neither road is a 
designated truck route.  

• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 391-11C for a pond less than one acre in size. 
The submitted site plan shows the pond inside the proposed surface mine area. 

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 
rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
1. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
2. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
3. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

4. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• And the added condition: 
5. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 

and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Reggie Loper made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents.  

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 8-10 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

186

Item XII. 4.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with 

the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 
and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

2. Deny the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
187

Item XII. 4.



188

Item XII. 4.



189

Item XII. 4.



190

Item XII. 4.



191

Item XII. 4.



192

Item XII. 4.



193

Item XII. 4.



194

Item XII. 4.



195

Item XII. 4.



196

Item XII. 4.



197

Item XII. 4.



198

Item XII. 4.



199

Item XII. 4.



200

Item XII. 4.



201

Item XII. 4.



202

Item XII. 4.



203

Item XII. 4.



204

Item XII. 4.



205

Item XII. 4.



206

Item XII. 4.



207

Item XII. 4.



208

Item XII. 4.



209

Item XII. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. requests to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow 
for a surface mine. Located on McCall Road Map# 391 Parcels# 11C & 11F Map# 412 Parcel# 24 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both McCall Road & Racepath Road. Neither road is a 
designated truck route.  

• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 391-11C for a pond less than one acre in size. 
The submitted site plan shows the pond inside the proposed surface mine area. 

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 
rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, 

and fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface 
mine and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• And the added condition: 
7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 

and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Reggie Loper made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents.  

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 8-10 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

210

Item XII. 5.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with 

the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic 
and access shall be limited to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

2. Deny the request to rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
211

Item XII. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

391-11C, 11F & 412-24  

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

391-11C, 11F & 412-24 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS THE MCGRALEY CO. has filed an application to rezone sixty-five and twenty-nine hundredth (65.29) +/- 

acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for surface mine; map and parcel number 391-11C, 11F & 412-24, located in the 4th commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 15, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 5, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 28, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT sixty-five and twenty-nine hundredth (65.29) +/- acres; map and parcel number 391-

11C, 11F & 412-24, located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and 

Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been 

reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. There shall be no traffic entrance to, exit from, or travel along Racepath Road. Surface mine traffic and access shall be limited 

to McCall Road. 

8. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. 

9. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 

10. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services after 10 years, I-1 

zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

212

Item XII. 5.



      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

213

Item XII. 5.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. as Agent for Richard Hall requests to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. Located on Horse Pen Road Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, 
excavation activity that requires a state mining permit must be located within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Horse Pen Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 394-30 for a pond less than one acre in size. 

The submitted site plan shows the proposed pond inside the area to be mined. 
• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 

rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Roger Burdette made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents. 

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 7-9 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

 
 

214

Item XII. 6.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1 for a surface mine, with the following 

conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   
 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

215

Item XII. 6.



216

Item XII. 6.



217

Item XII. 6.



218

Item XII. 6.



219

Item XII. 6.



220

Item XII. 6.



221

Item XII. 6.



222

Item XII. 6.



223

Item XII. 6.



224

Item XII. 6.



225

Item XII. 6.



226

Item XII. 6.



227

Item XII. 6.



228

Item XII. 6.



229

Item XII. 6.



230

Item XII. 6.



231

Item XII. 6.



232

Item XII. 6.



233

Item XII. 6.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: The McGraley Co. as Agent for Richard Hall requests to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. Located on Horse Pen Road Map# 394 Parcels# 29 & 30 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, 
excavation activity that requires a state mining permit must be located within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is surrounded by agricultural and residential uses, which are supported by the future 
land use map. According to EPD, there are 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed site has extensive wetlands coverage. Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts 
must be permitted by the USACE.  

• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Horse Pen Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• The applicant has submitted an application for Map/Parcel 394-30 for a pond less than one acre in size. 

The submitted site plan shows the proposed pond inside the area to be mined. 
• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to 

rezone 65.29 of 97.36 acres from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for a surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 
• At the November 1, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, Commissioner Roger Burdette made a motion 

to table the request to rezone to the November 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting, in order to 
allow Staff time to evaluate active surface mines and their impact, and to recommend conditions to 
address concerns raised by constituents. 

• The motion was seconded by Commissioner Forrest Floyd and carried unanimously. 
• Staff has added conditions 7-9 to Alternative 1 in response to the tabling. 

 
 

234

Item XII. 7.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1 for a surface mine, with the following 

conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 
Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 
9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services 

after 10 years, I-1 zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   
 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 27.17 of 64.8 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

235

Item XII. 7.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

394-29 & 30 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

394-29 & 30 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS THE MCGRALEY CO. AS AGENT FOR RICHARD HALL has filed an application to rezone twenty-seven 

and seventeen hundredth (27.17) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for surface mine; map and parcel number 394-29 & 30, located 

in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 15, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 5, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 28, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT twenty-seven and seventeen hundredth (27.17) +/- acres; map and parcel number 394-

29 & 30, located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. A wetlands delineation and the state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

3. Applicant shall meet with the county engineer to set the scope of the Traffic Impact Assessment. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Section 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements, and 

Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been 

reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

7. No digging or hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. 

8. The applicant shall construct a 10’ high earthen berm around the perimeter of mining operations. 

9. If notification of satisfactory final reclamation and close-out is not provided to Development Services after 10 years, I-1 

zoning must be re-approved by the Board of Commissioners.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

236

Item XII. 7.



 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

237

Item XII. 7.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Resolution to amend the moratorium on rezoning for I-1 Industrial development. 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022   
Item Description: Consideration of a resolution to amend the moratorium on rezoning for I-1 
Industrial development. 
 
Summary Recommendation: The interests of the public necessitate amendment of the moratorium 
for health, safety, morals, aesthetics, and general welfare purposes. 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 As a part of planning, zoning, and growth management, the Board of Commissioners of 

Effingham County has been reviewing the County’s Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning 

Ordinance, and has studied the County’s best estimates of the type of development that can 

be anticipated within the unincorporated areas. 

 The Board of Commissioners is committed to growth management that promotes health, 

safety, morals, aesthetics and the general welfare of the citizens of Effingham County. This 

includes management of congestion on County roads, security of the public from crime 

and other dangers, promotion of health and general welfare of residents, and protection of 

the aesthetic qualities of the County including access to air and light.  

 The County is experiencing development pressures that include an increasing number of 

applications to rezone land for industrial development in the I-1 zoning district, and approved 

moratorium on new applications on November 15, 2022. 

 Staff has identified a need to amend the Moratorium, to permit acceptance by County staff of 
applications for rezonings to I-1 industrial district for GDOT-approved borrow sources or pits 
for GDOT projects. 

 The County Attorney has reviewed and approved the resolution as to form. 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve an amendment to the moratorium on rezoning land for I-1 Industrial development. 
2 – Take no action. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services; County Attorney 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Amendment to the moratorium on rezoning land for I-1 Industrial development. 

238

Item XIII. 1.



 
Page 1 of  2 

STATE OF GEORGIA ) 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY ) 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. ____ 

 

RESOLUTION OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, AMENDING AN EXISTING 

MORATORIUM ON INDUSTRIAL REZONINGS FOR PROPERTY TO BE USED FOR 

I-1 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT PURPOSES  

 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia, (hereinafter 

referred to as “the Board”) directed Development Services to evaluate possible revisions to the 

Effingham County Zoning Ordinance and development regulations with respect to the regulation 

of I-1 Industrial development so as to address current development trends; and 

 

WHEREAS, on November 15, 2022, the Board adopted Resolution No. 022-051 

implementing a fifty (50) day moratorium (hereinafter referred to as “Moratorium”) on re-

zonings for property to be used for I-1 Industrial district purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, Development Services has identified a necessary exception to the 

Moratorium on rezonings to the I-1 industrial zoning district; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the County to amend the 

Moratorium; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof, as follows: 

 

1.  The Board does hereby amend the Moratorium to permit acceptance by County staff of 

applications for rezonings to I-1 industrial district for GDOT-approved borrow sources or pits for 

GDOT projects. 

 

2. The duration of this Moratorium shall be until this Board adopts amendments to its zoning 

ordinance, abandons this effort by vote of the Board, or until January 4, 2023. 

 

3. The preamble of this Resolution shall be considered to be and is hereby incorporated by 

reference as if fully set out herein. 

 

4.  The proper officers and agents of the County are hereby authorized to take any and all further 

actions as may be required in connection with this Resolution. 

 

239

Item XIII. 1.



 
Page 2 of  2 

5. The Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

 

 SO ADOPTED THIS ____ DAY OF DECEMBER, 2022. 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

 

___________________________________ 

WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

        

 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON, CLERK 

 

 

 

 

[COUNTY SEAL] 

240

Item XIII. 1.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Amendments to Section 3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or 

state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential 
Districts, and new Section 5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR). 

Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022  
Item Description: Consideration to amend Section 3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land 
and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands and Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts, and 
add a new section 5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR). 
 
Summary Recommendation: In order to accommodate development proposals while promoting growth 
that is orderly and predictable, with the least amount of disturbance to landowners and to the citizens of the 
county, staff recommends approval of the revised Section 3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land 
and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands and Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts, and 
new section 5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR). 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts, is revised to add surface mines as a conditional use. 

 Section 3.17 Excavations is revised to expand guidelines for ponds, borrow pits, and surface mines, 

based on acreage. GDOT borrow pits and other ponds less than 10 acres are permitted in AR-1 as a 

conditional use. Approval and inspection standards are now included, and construction requirements 

have been updated. 

 Section 5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR) provides a framework for an agreement between 

commercial surface mine operators and the county to ensure that surface mine operations continue 

in appropriate locations. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve amendments to Section 3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal 
jurisdictional waters or wetlands and Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts, and add a new section 
5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR). 
2 – Take no action. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Proposed revisions to Section 3.17 Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal 
jurisdictional waters or wetlands 

2. Proposed revisions to Section 5.1 Agriculture Residential districts 
3. Proposed Section 5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR). 

 

241

Item XIII. 2.



 

 Page 1 of 2 

3.17 - Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands.  

 

3.17.1 The following activities shall be subject to review and approval by the Effingham County Planning 

Board:  

1.  Excavation of land, or removal of earth that exceeds 1.0 acres of disturbed area.  

2.  Removal of earth or like material from the subject site to another parcel.  

3.  Filling of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands.  

* If any item above meets the project criteria, review approval by the Planning Board and approval by the 

Board of Commissioners is mandatory.  

3.17.2 Excavation, mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands.  

Excavation, mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands that are 

associated with a specific project that has been approved by the planning board and/or the board of 

commissioners that comply with all other regulations set forth in this ordinance are exempt from 

section 3.17.  

3.17.3 Requirements for submittal for planning board and/or staff review.  

1.  Application and checklist.  

a.  Applications and checklist may be obtained from the zoning Development Services office. 

b.  Application and checklist must be complete and submitted with the all required information.  

c.  Fees in accordance with the Effingham County Schedule of Fees must be paid at the time of 

application submittal.  

2.  Excavation activities that have greater than one (1) acre of disturbed area must obtain a state mining 

permit. A copy of the approved state mining permit must be submitted to the Development Services 

office prior to work commencing.  

3.  Any excavation activity between one (1) acre and ten (10) acres that requires a state mining permit, 

or is a GDOT approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, may be permitted on a 

conditional basis in the AR-1 zoning district, upon approval of the Board of Commissioners, and 

after review by the Planning Board. must be located within the I-1 zoning district.  

4.   Any excavation activity greater than one (1) acre of disturbed area may be permitted in the PD-MR 

zoning district. Excavation activities that have greater than ten (10) acres must be permitted in PD-

MR. 

3.17.3A Requirements for approval and final inspection. 

 a. For a pond of less than one (1) acre of disturbed area, applicant shall submit a bond for $1000. 

Construction of the pond shall cease within six (6) months of approval date.  The bond will be 

released after submittal of a survey of the new pond site, and successful completion of the final 

inspection. 

b. For any excavation activity between one (1) acre and ten (10) acres that requires a state mining 

permit, or is a GDOT approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, the bond shall 

be submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation activities shall cease within three (3) years of DNR or 

GDOT approval date. Extension of excavation activities beyond three (3) years will require approval 

242

Item XIII. 2.



 

 Page 2 of 2 

by the board of commissioners, after review by the planning board. Applicant shall submit a survey 

of the completed excavation site to Development Services. A final inspection is required.  All DNR 

reclamation requirements shall be met. 

c. For any excavation activity greater than one (1) acre that requires a state mining permit and is 

permitted in PD-MR, or is a GDOT approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, 

the bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation activities shall cease within five (5) 

years of DNR or GDOT approval date. Extension of excavation activities beyond five (5) years shall 

require approval by the board of commissioners, after review by the planning board. Applicant shall 

submit a survey of the completed excavation site to Development Services. A final inspection is 

required.  All DNR reclamation requirements shall be met. 

3.17.4 Construction requirements.  

1.  All projects must comply with best management practices as outlined in the "Manual for Soil and 

Sediment Control in Georgia" as specified in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6.  

2.  Side slopes of any excavated area must be constructed at a 3:1 slope (one foot in elevation change 

per three feet of horizontal distance) from the top of the excavation to the bottom at all times during 

construction and at completion of the excavation.  

3.  All disturbed areas will have a permanent stand of grass established at completion.  

4.  No digging and hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00 am and 5:00 pm 

sunrise and sunset Monday through Friday Saturday. State permitted mining operations are exempt 

from this provision.  

5.  Unless a pond/excavation is to be shared by two or more parcels it shall be located at least 50 feet 

from the nearest property line. Excavations shall not be nearer than 100 feet to any school, church, 

dwelling, or highway right-of-way. This section shall serve as the buffer for requirements for surface 

mining operations in I-1 zoning districts.  

6.  No The limits of excavation of the pond shall be located less than ten feet at a distance from the 

nearest access easement or utility easements, as follows: 

a. For pond depths of 10’ or less, the limits of excavation of the pond shall be 20’ from the 

nearest access easement or utility easement; and 

b. For every additional 5’ depth of pond, the additional distance from the nearest access 

easement or utility easement shall be 10’. 

7.  All wetland impacts must be approved by the USACE.  

 

 

243

Item XIII. 2.



 

 Page 1 of 2 

 

5.1.2 Conditional uses. The following uses may be permitted in accordance with the provisions of section 

7.1.6 in the agricultural residential (AR-1) district on a conditional basis upon approval by the county 

commissioners after review by the planning board.  

5.1.2.1  Commercial riding stables, provided that no building or enclosure for animals is located 

closer than 100 feet from any property line and the requirements of section 3.33 are met.  

5.1.2.2  Cemeteries, when accessory to and on the same property as a permitted use in the agricultural 

residential district.  

5.1.2.3  Commercial recreational facilities that do not have more than five percent of impervious 

surface coverage.  

5.1.2.4. Rural Business, as provided in article III, section 3.15B.  

5.1.2.5  One additional single-family detached dwelling and its customary uses, provided that said 

dwelling meets all state and county health requirement, unless prohibited by other applicable 

laws or regulations, and provided the additional dwelling is inhabited by a person who is related 

to the owner of the real property in one of the following ways: parent, child, grandparent, 

grandchild, sister, or brother. The zoning administrator shall administer this conditional use.  

5.1.2.6  Day care facilities.  

5.1.2.7 Airfields for general aviation purposes, together with subordinate uses.  

5.1.2.8 Impervious lot coverage over 45 percent.  

5.1.2.9  Solar farms. An array of solar panels that is not an accessory to other uses on the property 

provided that the array meets all applicable buffer requirements; no new roads may be created for 

this use. The structures must meet all wind load requirements as referenced in the building code.  

5.1.2.10 Private and public events venue.  Any organized activity having as its purpose 

entertainment, recreation and/or education, such as a festival or celebration, concert, foot or 

vehicle race, parade or march, rally or assembly which takes place on a public street, sidewalk or 

right-of-way, or occurs on private property and impacts government services on public rights-of-

way. This includes locations that are in the business of renting out their location to hold private 

and public functions. The property must be at least 5 acres in size.  

(1)  General operating regulations. The following operating regulations shall be enforced by the 

permittee:  

(a)  No musical entertainment, either live or recorded, utilizing sound amplification equipment, 

shall be in violation of [Chapter 30], Article II, Noise Control.  

(b)  No event shall be presented between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. unless otherwise 

approved by the board of commissioners.  

(c)  Camping on site by persons attending an event is permitted; provided that no on site 

camping shall be permitted more than two days prior or two days after an event.  

(d)  Handicapped access shall be provided to activities that are open to the public.  

(e)  Events and activities shall be accessible to emergency and service vehicles.  

(f)  Adequate toilet facilities and trash receptacles shall be provided for all events.  

(g)  The burden of preserving order during the concert or special event is upon the permittee.  

(2)  Revocation of permit. The board of commissioners may revoke permission for any proposed 

event or order that an event be discontinued immediately if, in the sole judgement of the board 

244

Item XIII. 2.



 

 Page 2 of 2 

of commissioners, the event will disrupt traffic within the unincorporated area of Effingham 

County beyond practical solution; the event will interfere with access to fire stations and fire 

hydrants; the event will require the diversion of so many public employees that allowing the 

event would unreasonably deny service to remainder of the county; or the event might 

otherwise interfere with the welfare, peace, safety, health, good order and convenience of the 

general public.  

(3)  Exemptions. The following special events are exempt from the provisions of this article:  

(a)  Special events occurring on private property used and occupied as a private residence, which 

special event is hosted by at least one of the occupants of such private residence, regardless of 

the number of attendees;  

(b)  Special events occurring upon a city or county-owned sports facility, including without 

limitation, a ball field, tennis court or pool, provided that the special event constitutes a use for 

which the sports facility was intended, and regardless of the number of attendees;  

(c)  Special events hosted by a church on property owned by the church, but only if the property 

is used on a regular basis, at least bi-monthly, to conduct worship services, and regardless of 

the number of attendees;  

(d)  Events hosted by a school on property owned by the school or a governmental entity, 

provided that the property is used on a regular basis, at least weekly, to conduct classes; and  

(e)  A governmental agency acting within the scope of its agency.  

5.1.2.11 Telecommunications Towers. 

5.1.2.12 Surface Mines less than ten (10) acres in size, as provided in article III, section 3.17, and 

subject to article V, sections 5.12.2, 5.12.3, and 5.12.4. 

245

Item XIII. 2.



 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

      5.15.7.9 Mining and Reclamation (PD-MR) 

Characteristics and intent: It is the intent of the PD-MR district to accommodate 
development of commercial surface mining operations that meet the requirements of GA 
Rule 391-3-3 Surface Mining. The surface mine operations shall not adversely affect the 
ecology of the area; the use and enjoyment of surrounding properties; or the condition or 
safety of county roads used in connection with surface mine operations.  Upon a timely 
conclusion of surface mine operations, the site shall be permanently reclaimed pursuant 
to the approved Mining Land Use Plan (MLUP), and established as a lake.  

Surface mining operations shall comply with all relevant guidance from the Department of 
Natural Resources (DNR), including submission of the Surety Bond, Annual Status 
Reports, and amendments, as necessary, to the approved permit or MLUP. Maintenance 
of both active and inactive surface mining sites is required. Copies of all submittals shall 
be submitted to Development Services at the same they are submitted to DNR. 

In advance of an application for a permit from the DNR, an applicant shall meet with 
Development Services and develop a PD-MR document.  The completed PD-MR 
document shall be submitted to Effingham County, along with an application for rezoning. 
The application must also include a draft mining permit application and MLUP; a site plan; 
a statement granting an authorized representative of Effingham County the right of entry 
and travel upon affected lands; and such other information as is requested by 
Development Services. Following rezoning approval, the approved mining permit shall be 
submitted to Development Services before mining operations commence. The Annual 
Status Report shall be submitted each year to Development Services at the same time 
that it is submitted to DNR. Any approvals for permit or MLUP amendments, or changes 
in active status, shall be submitted to Development Services before amended mining 
operations proceed.  

Requirements: Commercial surface mine operations are subject to Section 5.12.4 
Performance Standards, section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations—Road Maintenance 
Requirements, and section 74-8 Designated Truck Routes.  A Traffic Impact Assessment 
may be required by the county engineer. The property on which the surface mine is 
proposed shall have frontage on a paved roads built to county or GDOT standards. No 
surface mine operators or transportation partners, customers, etc., shall damage any 
portion of a county road or right-of-way or cause a road to become impassable or unsafe 
to normal passenger traffic. 

 

246

Item XIII. 2.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Amendments to Article II – Definitions, Article III - Section 3.3 Accessory Structures in 

Residential Districts, Article V - Section 5.12 Industrial Districts, and new Section 
3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022  
Item Description: Consideration to amend Article II – Definitions, Article III- Section 3.3 Accessory 
Structures in Residential Districts, Article V - Section 5.12. I-1 Industrial districts, and add a new section 
3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 
 
Summary Recommendation: In order to accommodate development proposals while promoting growth 
that is orderly and predictable, with the least amount of disturbance to landowners and to the citizens of the 
county, staff recommends approval of the revised Definitions, Section 3.3 Accessory Structures, Section 
5.12 Industrial District, and the new Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 
  
Executive Summary/Background:  

 The revisions include an update and expansion of Zoning Ordinance Definitions, to include shipping 

containers and shipping container facilities; revisions to section 5.12 I-1 Industrial districts, to clarify 

procedures; revisions to section 3.3 Accessory structures, to clarify permitted uses of shipping 

containers as accessory structures; and, a proposed new section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility, 

which includes requirements for site planning. 

 The Port of Savannah is home to the largest single terminal container facility of its kind in North 

America, encompassing 1,345 acres. The site has 36 container cranes and 158 rubber-tired gantry 

cranes to handle containers on-site.  $8m in federal funding was used to modify three existing 

intermodal railyards in the southeast, and to establish two local truck-served yards in Statesboro and 

Savannah to accept containers for storage. These facilities have reduced the number of containers 

stored at the port by 25%, and cut the backlog of ships waiting for berth space. Use of intermodal rail 

facilities has reduced congestion and improved highway safety.  However, there remains a steady 

demand for shipping container storage facilities on sites close to the port, and an excess supply of 

containers available for use as accessory structures. 

 The proposed revisions will provide guidance and standards for staff and applicants who are seeking 

to use a single shipping container for personal storage, or to develop a shipping container yard. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1 – Approve amendments to Article II – Definitions, Article III- Section 3.3 Accessory Structures in 
Residential Districts, Article V - Section 5.12. I-1 Industrial districts, and add new Section 3.16A Shipping 
Container Facility. 
2 – Take no action. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: N/A 
 
Department Review: Development Services 
 
Funding Source: N/A 
 
Attachments: 

1. Proposed revisions to Definitions 
2. Proposed revisions to Section 3.3 Accessory Structures in Residential Districts  
3. Proposed revisions to Section 5.12. I-1 Industrial districts  
4. Proposed Section 3.16A Shipping Container Facility. 

 
 

247

Item XIII. 3.



Page 1 of 1 

 

ARTICLE II. - DEFINITIONS  

2.72A Shipping Container. A receptacle designed for intermodal transport of cargo aboard ship, 

truck trailer, or rail car, and which exhibits features designed to facilitate the movement of 

containerized cargo, including but not limited to corner fittings for pins, design for stacking, size 

dimensions of eight (8) feet wide by eight (8) or ten (10) feet high by twenty (20), thirty-five (35), or 

forty (40) feet in length, and which is otherwise designed and constructed in conformance with 

standards for shipping containers as set forth by the International Standards Organization. 

2.72B Shipping Container Facility. A facility that provides storage for shipping containers awaiting 

transport or next use. 

248

Item XIII. 3.



ARTICLE III. - GENERAL PROVISIONS  

3.3 - Accessory structures in residential districts.  

3.3.1 Accessory structures in the R and PD-R residential districts may be erected in any requi red court 
within any a side or rear yard, and accessory structures in the AR-1 and AR- 2 agricultural residential 
districts may be erected in the front, side, or rear yard, provided they conform to the following:  

A. Maximum Height: one and a half (1.5) story or fifteen (15) feet. above finished grade in the R and 
PD-R districts; thirty-five (35) feet in AR-1 and AR-2 districts.  

B. An accessory structure shall not be less than five (5) feet from the rear property line and not less 
than five 10 (5) feet from interior side setback lines.  

C. An accessory structure shall not be less than 10 ft. from a principal structure.  

D. Not more than two accessory structures, including a detached garage, shall be located in any R 
or PD-R district, on one lot.  

 

3.3.2 Accessory structures in the AR- I and AR-2 agricultural residential districts may be placed in the 
front yard , where theon a property isof at least five (5) acres and not in a platted subdivision. All 
structures on the property must comply with the front setback requirements for a principal structure.  

A. Accessory structures shall not be erected on a lot prior to construction of a principal structure, 
except for agricultural purpose storage buildings in the AR-1 zoning district, where the property is 
at least five (5) acres, and not in a platted subdivision. 

B. Accessory structures in the R, PD-R, and AR zoning districts may not be used for any type of 
commercial operation, except as provided for in section 3.15A and 3.15B. 

C. Accessory structures shall not be used as a dwelling unit. 

3.3.3. A shipping container may be utilized as an accessory building in anthe AR-1 and AR-2 zoning 
districts, provided it shall conform to the following:   

A. Containers shall be painted in solid neutral colors. No writing or advertising of any kind shall be 
permitted.  

B. Containers shall meet the required side and rear yard setback requirements for an accessory 
structure, and shall be placed no nearer than 10 feet from a primary structure. 

C. Containers shall not be placed in the front yard. 

D. Containers shall not be stacked above the height of a single container.  

E. Containers shall be subject to lot coverage requirements.  

F. Containers shall only be placed on AR-1 and AR-2 lots that meet the minimum lot size for the 
district.  

G. The number of shipping containers on AR-1 and AR-2 lots shall be limited to one (1) container 
per acre of land, to a maximum of five (5) containers on a parcel. 

H. No electricity or plumbing shall be connected to a shipping container. 

I. Ventilation is not required. 

249

Item XIII. 3.



J. No hazardous materials may be stored in a shipping container. 

K. Shipping containers shall be secured from entry by children and the general public when not 
attended. 

L. Shipping containers used for storage of equipment and supplies, and associated with an 
approved building construction project, shall be permitted to remain on site until the approval of 
the project’s final building inspection, or expiration of the building permit, whichever is less. 

 

 

250

Item XIII. 3.



5.12 - I-1 Industrial districts.  

5.12.1 LI-Light industrial permitted uses.  

All commercial uses are allowed in the I district.  

The following uses shall be permitted in the Light Industrial district, provided that such uses 

meet all the requirements of this section and all other provisions established in this Code.  

1.  Assembly or fabrication of previously manufactured parts:  

a.  Apparel and other textile products;  

b.  Electronic and other electric equipment, electrical generator and distribution 

equipment;  

c.  Fabric samples;  

d.  Furniture and fixtures;  

e.  Industrial machinery and equipment;  

f.  Instruments and related products;  

g.  Lumber and wood products, excluding the processing of material for the production 

of paper and allied products;  

h.  Metal products;  

i.  Plastic and rubber products;  

j.  Transportation equipment.  

2.  Boat sales and repairs.  

3.  Automotive sales and repairs.  

4.  Automotive storage, excluding junk yards.  

5.  Florist—retail and wholesale.  

6.  Laboratories.  

7.  Manufacturing (light) of, including but not limited to the following:  

a.  Bakery products;  

b.  Beverages, including alcoholic beverages;  

c.  Communication equipment;  

d.  Computer and office equipment;  

e.  Electrical lighting and wiring equipment;  

f.  Electronic equipment;  

g.  Fabricated metals, excluding use of blast furnaces and drop forges;  

h.  Grain mill products;  

i.  Audio and visual equipment;  

251

Item XIII. 3.



j.  Appliances;  

k.  Ice;  

l.  Meat products, excluding slaughtering, dressing, and rendering;  

m.  Medical instruments and supplies;  

n.  Pharmaceutical products;  

o.  Biodiesel in an enclosed system.  

8.  Offices.  

9.  Printing and publishing.  

10.  Recycling centers.  

11.  Repair of any goods, equipment, and vehicles of which the manufacture, assembly or 

sales are permitted in this district.  

12.  Research facilities.  

13.  Vocational schools.  

14.  Utility operations centers.  

15.  Ready-mix concrete facilities.  

5.12.1A HI-Heavy industrial permitted uses.  

Heavy Industrial uses must meet the required buffer standards.  

1.  Manufacturing (heavy) of:  

a.  Aerospace vehicles and parts  

b.  Automobiles and parts  

c.  Paper  

d.  Lumber  

e.  Concrete pipe  

f.  Asphalt  

g.  Boats  

h.  Grain mill products  

i.  Sugar  

j.  Wood chips  

k.  Ethanol  

l.  Chemicals  

m.  Plastics  

2.  Energy plant  

3.  Reserved.  

252

Item XIII. 3.



4.  Railroad switchyards  

5.  Metal plating  

6.  Metal smelting  

7.  Recycling centers  

8.  Warehousing  

Buffers. Buffers for the industrial district shall meet the following minimum guidelines from 

the adjacent property line:  

Proposed use  Adjacent use  

 

R-district  

or  

single  

-family  

subdivision 

exterior 

boundary*  

AR-1 

or 

AR-2  

Multi-  

family  

Commercial, 

Institutional**  

Light 

Industrial  

Heavy 

Industrial**  

R-districts or single-

family subdivision 

exterior boundary*  

15 feet  
15 

feet  

20 

feet  
30 feet  300 feet  300 feet  

AR-1 or AR-2  15 feet  
15 

feet  

20 

feet  
30 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Multifamily  20 feet  
20 

feet  

15 

feet  
20 feet  150 feet  300 feet  

Commercial,  

Institutional**  
30 feet  

30 

feet  

20 

feet  
15 feet  50 feet  150 feet  

Light Industrial**  300 feet  
150 

feet  

300 

feet  
50 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

Heavy Industrial**  300 feet  
300 

feet  

300 

feet  
150 feet  25 feet  25 feet  

  

253

Item XIII. 3.



For projects that meet two out of the three non-metropolitan thresholds for DRI review the 

required buffer screening may be lessened to allow for architectural views upon approval of the 

zoning administrator.  

Please see buffer ordinance for required plantings  

5.12.1B HI-Heavy industrial conditional uses.  

The following uses may be permitted on a conditional basis upon approval of the board of 

commissioners after review by the planning board.  

1.  Junkyards.  

2. Shipping Container Facility, as provided in Article III, Section 3.16A.  

The board of commissioners and planning board in reviewing the conditional use application, 

may consider the following factors:  

a.  The effect the proposed activity will have on traffic flow along adjoining streets;  

b.  Ingress and egress to the property;  

c.  The number, size and types of signs proposed for the site;  

d.  The amount and location of open space;  

e.  Protective screening, either natural vegetation and/or berms, and fencing, to screen 

the use from public view;  

f.  Hours and manner of operation;  

g.  Outdoor lighting;  

h.  Compatibility with surrounding land use; and, 

i. The effect of noise, dust, debris or other external impacts of the use on the 

surrounding uses.  

5.12.2 All proposed uses not listed within section 5.12.1 are subject to review by the planning 

board and approval by the planning board and board of commissioners in accordance with 

the following procedures:  

5.12.2.1 Submission of plans. The owner of a tract of land zoned or permitted by conditional 

use for industrial use shall submit to the planning board and board of commissioners for 

its review a site plan for the use and development of such tract of land. It shall then be 

the duty of the planning board and board of commissioners to investigate and ascertain 

whether the proposed activity complies with all the provisions of this chapter which 

pertain to section 3.16A or I (Industrial) districts. The board of commissioners may 

determine that a proposed activity is similar to those uses listed within section 5.12.1 or 

that the use is not similar. If the proposed activity is considered to be a similar use, said 

activity may be permitted by right. If the proposed activity is not similar to those uses 

listed within section 5.1.11, the use shall be subject to the approval of the county 

commission after review and recommendation by the planning board, subject to such 

conditions deemed necessary and appropriate by the board of commissioners to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Effingham County and to 

promote the purposes of this chapter. The planning board and board of commissioners 

254

Item XIII. 3.



may employ experts in specific fields as needed, and as funds are available, to 

determine whether a proposed use meets the required performance standards.  

5.12.2.2 Submission requirements. Design and operation plans shall be submitted to the 

zoning official administrator and consist of at least the following:  

1.  Name, address, and telephone number of petitioner, architect, surveyor, engineer of 

designer.  

2.  Names and addresses of all property owners of the site.  

3.  Zoning district classification of adjoining land.  

4.  Site plan to include the following:  

a.  Location and dimensions of existing and/or proposed structures with the type of 

usage designated.  

b.  Proposed and existing access and egress.  

c.  Proposed and existing right-of-ways.  

d.  Proposed and existing easements.  

e.  Proposed and existing water, sewer, and storm-water facilities.  

f.  Proposed and existing buffers.  

g.  Setbacks.  

h.  Streams, lakes, and jurisdictional wetland areas.  

i.  Proposed waste treatment/handling facilities.  

j.  Proposed parking.  

k.  Proposed outdoor lighting and signage.  

l.  Proposed hours of operation.  

m.  Traffic study.  

n.  Where the noise generated by the proposed development is expected to exceed 55 

dB(A) at any point along the property line, the developer shall provide a detailed 

proposal for noise-reduction measures and shall depict said improvements on all site 

plans.  

o. A dust and debris mitigation plan to keep the roads clean. 

5.  Written report outlining the industrial operation, schedule of development, and listing 

the toxic and/or hazardous materials regulated by local, state, or federal regulations, 

including disposal/handling plans of said materials.  

5.12.3 Referral and authorization. A written report of its findings shall be furnished by the 

planning board to the county commissioners. The planning board may suggest disapproval, 

recommend the plan as submitted, or may modify, alter, adjust, or amend the plan before 

recommendation, and in recommending it, may propose the prescribing of other conditions. 

The report of the planning board to the county commission shall include a finding as to 

whether the proposed use is consistent with the provisions and requirements of the zoning 

255

Item XIII. 3.



ordinance. If the county commissioners find that the proposed use is consistent with the 

purpose of the zoning ordinance to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare, it 

may approve the rezoning.  

5.12.4 Performance standards. All industrial permitted and conditional uses must conform to the 

following performance standards:  

5.12.4.1 Smoke. The emission from any air contaminant source the opacity of which is equal 

to or greater than 40 percent shall not be permitted. Furthermore, from fuel-burning 

equipment, visible emissions the opacity of which is equal to or greater than 20 percent, 

except for one six-minute period per hour of not more than 27 percent opacity, shall not 

be permitted. Any operation, process, handling, transportation, or storage facility which 

may result in fugitive dust shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent such dust 

from becoming airborne. The percent opacity from any fugitive dust source shall not 

equal or exceed 20 percent. "Opacity" means the degree to which emissions reduce the 

transmission of light and obscure the view of an object in the background, and is 

expressed in terms of percent opacity. The measurement of percent opacity does not 

include the measurement of the obscuration of view due to uncombined water droplets. 

Any determination of the percent opacity shall be made by the arithmetic average of six 

minutes of data.  

Any visual observation or determination of opacity taken for the purpose of determining 

compliance with any requirement of this standard shall be made by personnel certified 

according to procedures established for such certification by the Georgia EPD or by US 

EPA to make such observation or determination.  

5.12.4.2 Odor. Any process which may involve the creation or emission of any odors shall 

be provided with a secondary safeguard system, so that control will be maintained if the 

primary safeguard system should fail. There is hereby established as a guide in 

determining such quantities of offensive odors Table 3 (Odor Thresholds) in Chapter 5, 

Air Pollution Abatement Manual, copyright 1951, by Manufacturing Chemists 

Association, Inc., Washington, D.C. Where said publication gives range of figures a 

simple average of these shall be used.  

5.12.4.3 Toxic gases. The emission of gases or fumes injurious to persons or property 

beyond the lot lines occupied by the use is prohibited.  

5.12.4.4 Glare and heat. Glare and heat from arc welding, acetylene torch cutting, or similar 

processes shall be performed so as not to produce glare which is visible, or 

objectionable heat beyond the property line of the lot on which the operation is located. 

Direct glare from incandescent exposed lights shall not be visible from adjoining streets 

or properties. All lighting shall be downward facing and shielded.  

5.12.4.5 Wastewater. No discharge is permitted at any point in any private sewage disposal 

system or stream or into the ground of any materials in such a way or of such nature or 

temperature as could contaminate any water supply, or otherwise cause the emission of 

dangerous objectionable elements, except in accordance with the standards as approved 

by water pollution control boards of appropriate agencies of the state department of 

natural resources.  

256

Item XIII. 3.



Furthermore, no accumulation of solid wastes conducive to the breeding of rodents or 

insects shall be permitted.  

5.12.4.6 Storage of toxic or hazardous wastes, chemicals, and materials. Any applicant who 

intends to store, handle, or transport toxic or hazardous waste, chemicals, or materials 

shall submit to the county fire marshal a listing of all compounds and contents to be 

contained on the proposed site. Upon approval by the county fire marshal that the use, 

transport, and storage of said materials meets the federal and state guidelines, the 

applicant shall be issued a permit authorizing such secured storage. Disposal of toxic or 

hazardous wastes, chemicals, and materials is prohibited.  

5.12.4.7 Vibration. Any use creating intense earthshaking vibration shall be set back as far 

as possible from the lot lines on all sides, and in no case shall any such vibration be 

perceptible along any lot line.  

5.12.4.8 Buffer/screening. Please refer to section 3.4 buffers ordinance.  

5.12.5 Uses prohibited.  

1.  Residential subdivisions  

2.  Single-family residences  

3.  Churches  

4.  Single-family dwellings  

5.  Multifamily dwellings  

6.  Childcare centers (a childcare center may be allowed as a conditional use to make 

childcare available to the employees of an industrial site).  

5.12.6 Reserved.  

257

Item XIII. 3.



 

 Page 1 of 2 

3.16A – Shipping Container Facility.   
a. Buffers. A Shipping Container Facility shall be subject to the buffer requirements for 

Heavy Industrial uses pursuant to Section 3.4 Buffers.  A variance to the buffer 
requirements may be requested, according to the following: 

a. The width of the vegetative buffer required in HI-Heavy Industrial may be 
reduced six (6) feet for every one (1) feet of berm height. 

b. Facility Operation Limitations. Open-air stacking of Shipping Container shall not exceed 
two (2) Shipping Containers. All repairs, with the exception of general maintenance and 
minor repairs, shall only occur within an enclosed building. 

c. Signs. All signage shall meet the requirements for signs in industrial districts per Part II, 
Chapter 62-Signs, Article III, Section 3.38 Signs. 

d. Parking and access. Parking and access for customers and employees must be provided 
on-site, pursuant to Section 3.30 Off-street access control and parking. 

e. Hours of Operation. Days and hours of operation requiring access by customers and/or 
clients shall be Monday through Saturday, daylight hours only, except in cases of 
emergencies, natural disasters, or required maintenance. 

f. Uses permitted. Shipping Container Storage, including offices related to the business 
operations.  

g. Uses not permitted: Any use which is ineligible for state or local permits, or an Effingham 
County Occupational Tax License.  

h. Performance Standards. Shipping Container Storage Facilities are subject to Section 
5.12.4 Performance Standards.  

i. Approval. A Shipping Container Facility conditional use application shall be submitted for 
review by the Planning Board and approval by the Board of Commissioners.  

j. Transportation network and Road Impacts.  

a. A Traffic Impact Study shall be required, pursuant to the Effingham County Traffic 
Impact Study Requirements.   

b. All vehicles entering and exiting the site are subject to Section 74-8 Designated 
Truck Routes. 

c. The property on which the Shipping Container Facility is proposed must have 
frontage on a paved roads built to county or GDOT standards.  

d. No shipping container facility operators or transportation partners, customers, 
etc., shall damage any portion of a county road or right-of-way or cause a road 
to become impassable or unsafe to normal passenger traffic. 

k. Minimum requirements for operating a Shipping Container Facility using a county road 
access: 

a. Entrance drive/road into shipping container facility property is to be paved from 
edge of existing road to county right-of-way or to radius point. Pavement is to 
be at minimum 8" thick graded aggregate base course with 3” thick asphalt 
surface course. 

258

Item XIII. 3.



 

 Page 2 of 2 

b. Pavement section is to be twenty-four (24) foot minimum width at County right-
of-way, with a thirty (30) foot radius on each side. 

c. Figure 1 of this section illustrates the shipping container facility entrance road 
requirements. 

d. A driveway culvert is to be installed if the right-of-way contains a roadside ditch 
or drainage swale, to allow for the continuation of drainage control along the 
right-of-way 

e. The shipping container facility operator must install a sign facing the county 
road. The sign shall include the following information:  

i. Operator/company name  

ii. Operator/company phone number 

f. "Trucks Entering Road" signs are also to be installed at locations to be 
determined by the county engineer. A "Stop" sign is to be placed in the right-of-
way to control trucks entering a county road from the shipping container facility. 

Figure 1 Shipping Container Facility Entrance Road Requirements 
 

 

 

259

Item XIII. 3.

https://mcclibrary.blob.core.usgovcloudapi.net/codecontent/13113/379347/3.17.5.png


Staff Report 
 

Subject:    Radio Tower Aircraft Warning Lights Replacement 

Author:  Chris Reed, I.T. Director, Clint Hodges, Fire Chief/EMA Director,  

Jay Spinks, E911 Director, Jimmy McDuffie, Sheriff,                        

Wanda McDuffie, Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Director 

Department: Information Technology, Fire/Emergency Management, E911 Services, 

Sheriff’s Office, Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 

Meeting Date: 11-15-2022  

 

 

Item Description: Consideration to approve a replacement service with Mobile 
Communications America (MCA) for the replacement of the Radio Tower Aircraft Warning 
Lights. 
 

Summary Recommendation:  Effingham County’s emergency service’s radio tower located 

at the landfill site had a failure of the top light around the beginning of September. This poses 

a risk for air traffic in the area of the tower due to the missing warning light. MCA called the 

tower light outage into the FAA and suggest replacing the whole lighting system rather than 

just replacing the bulb due to age.   
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

1. The top light failed around the beginning of September and was called into the FAA. 
2. Initial repair cost (bulb replacement) was $5000, that is for the bulb and a tower crew to 

climb the tower and replace it. 
3. The last bulb was replaced around 3 years ago. 
4. The current lighting system is over 10 years old and is having parts breakdowns, terminal 

connections cracking from age, strobe power supply weak from age and now a bulb out. 
5. MCA is suggesting that we replace the whole lighting system on the tower with a newer 

style LED strobe system bringing the lights up to current FAA standards.  
6. The new lighting system will have a 5 year warranty and is expected to have 15 - 20 years 

of operation. 
7. Fines for failure to maintain the structure and fines for obstruction lighting failure can be 

assessed by the FCC based off rules by the FAA. The fines could be in the tens to 
hundreds of thousand dollars. 

8. This communications infrastructure is critical to all Public Safety including county Fire, 
EMS, Sheriff’s Office, EMA, our cities Law Enforcement, and Fire, along with State and 
Regional agencies including State Patrol, Forest Service, Department of Natural 
Resources, Flight EMS Services, and other SEGARRN Public Safety members.   

9. The board has approved and spent millions building out, upgrading, and maintaining our 
Public Safety communications infrastructure in the past, it would be a major loss to the 
community to not maintain it and let it fail.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval of the replacement service with Mobile Communications America (MCA) 
for the replacement of the Radio Tower Aircraft Warning Lights. 

2. Board approval of only replacing the bulb and risk another lighting failure in the near 
future. 

260

Item XIII. 4.



3. Do not approve the Services Agreement with MCA or replacing the bulb and risk fines 
from the FAA / FCC. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1  

 

Other Alternatives: N/A  
 

Department Review: Information Technology / Emergency Management / 911 Services / 

Sheriff’s Office / Emergency Medical Services (EMS) 
 

Funding Source:  Total: $ 35,932.14 to be paid, funded by the General Fund. This was not 

budgeted in this budget year. 

 

Attachments: 

1. Lighting Replacement Service Quote 

2. Lighting System Drawings 

3. Lighting System Information Pamphlet 

4. Article on “Tower Lighting”  from Tower Times   

261

Item XIII. 4.



262

Item XIII. 4.



263

Item XIII. 4.



264

Item XIII. 4.



265

Item XIII. 4.



266

Item XIII. 4.



267

Item XIII. 4.



268

Item XIII. 4.



Operating Voltage 120-240 VAC
(Optional: 24-48 VDC)

Frequency 50/60 Hz

Beacon Dimensions
LxWxH

18.5 x18.5 x 8.5 in.
(469.9 x 469.9 x 215.9 mm.)

Beacon Weight 36 lbs. 
(16.3 kg.)

18.5 x18.5 x 8.5 in.
(469.9 x 469.9 x 215.9 mm.)

Controller Weight 25 lbs.
(11.4 kg.)

Protection Rating NEMA 4
IP66

Operating  
Temperature Range

-67˚F to +130˚F
(-55˚C to +55˚C)

Power Consumption Night >15 watts
Day >35 watts

General Specifications

Performance
• Effective intensity 20,000cd white, 2,000cd red

and 246mW/sr IR Radiant
• Horizontal beam coverage 360 degrees
• Vertical beam coverage 3 degree
• Form “C” failure alarm
• LED Temp Comp

Key Features
• Five-year warranty
• Electronics available in light fixture or at ground level
• Modular design, easy access to all components
• Simpler cable installation
• Low power consumption
• 15-20 years of operation
• Infra-red (IR) included
• Transient protection per IEEE C62.41-1991
• Optional GPS synchronization
• Option DC power supply

Overview
The STAR Series are medium intensity flashing 
LED obstruction beacons designed for reliable                                                                                                                  
day and night time marking of structures. This 
light integrates a robust mechanical structure and  
modular electronics with the most advanced LED 
optics and controls creating the cleanest installation 
by only requiring a single controller and cable, 
making this the easiest lighting system to maintain 
and operate in the industry.

The modular electronics allow for field repairs. This 
medium intensity flashing beacon is capable of 
accepting AC or DC input power and offers the first 
ever optional power supply available in the beacon 
or in the controller.

Standards and Certifications
• FAA AC70/7460-1M
• ICAO Annex 14 Volume 

2
• CAR 621
• DGAC

STAR Series LED BeaconSTAR Series LED Beacon
“The only beacon you’ll need”
Medium Intensity Obstruction Light:
LONESTAR - FAA-L864/865 Dual Red/ White w/IR
DAYSTAR - FAA-L865 White w/IR
NIGHTSTAR - FAA-L864 Red w/IR

TWR Lighting • 10810 W Little York Rd, Ste 130 - Houston, TX 77041-4051 • P: 713-973-6905 • F: 713-973-9352
www.twrlighting.com • ©2019 TWR Lighting, Inc. • All rights reserved.

All values mentioned in this document are typical values; Data and specifications are subject to change without notifications.

269

Item XIII. 4.



Product Night Day

L864-IR (Red) 30 -

L865-IR (White) 40 40

L864-IR/L865 (Red/White) 30 40

Flashes Per Minute

Product Night Day

L864-IR (Red) 12.5 W 1 W

L865-IR (White) 7.5 W 32 W 

L864-IR/L865 (Red/White) 12.5 W 32 W

Power Consumption @ 20˚ C

Monitoring Features

• 10 Additional alarm inputs
• Cabinet access alarm
• SNMP programming Get/Sets
• SNMP traps for alarms
• System operation event history record
• Manual control override of connected lights
• Cabinet temperature
• Backup battery discharge protection
• Real-time clock / Eprom for configuration
• 0-30 VDC analog monitoring ports

Monitoring Services

• FCC QLI Compliant
• TWR Web Portal provides online access to review

your monitored sites
• Automatic email notification of NOTAM status

changes
• TWR NOC full reporting monitoring service
• HIMS (Hark Independent Monitoring Service)

(Client-monitored)

Monitoring Options

• GPRS/CDMA wireless modem
• Ethernet TCP/IP modem

Optional Monitoring Features

STAR Series LED Beacon
“The only beacon you’ll need”
Medium Intensity Obstruction Light:
LONESTAR - FAA-L864/865 Dual Red/ White w/IR
DAYSTAR - FAA-L865 White
REDSTAR - FAA-864 Red w/IR

TWR Lighting • 10810 W Little York Rd, Ste 130 - Houston, TX 77041-4051 • P: 713-973-6905 • F: 713-973-9352
www.twrlighting.com • ©2019 TWR Lighting, Inc. • All rights reserved.

All values mentioned in this document are typical values; Data and specifications are subject to change without notifications.

270

Item XIII. 4.



STAFF REPORT 
 
Subject: 2022 Employee Appreciation- Holiday Gift Card 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department: Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Request authorization to provide County staff members/employees with a $25 
gift card for the holidays. 
 
Summary Recommendation: Staff would like to provide each full-time staff member/employee 
with a $25 gift card for the holidays. 
 
 
ALTERNATIVES FOR THE COMMISSION TO CONSIDER: 
1. Approve and allow staff to purchase holiday gift cards.  
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 
 
FUNDING: $10,625 for 425- $25 gift cards; may require a budget amendment later in the year.  
 
RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE: Alternative #1 
 
 
      

271

Item XIII. 5.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Request approval to upgrade an IT position. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Request approval to upgrade an IT position. 
Summary Recommendation: 
Staff requests authorization to upgrade an IT position to accommodate growth and 
demand.  
 
Executive Summary/Background 
Due to the increase in staff and software applications varying by departments, IT’s 
workload has increased both in service and technical calls for support. Currently, the 
Director and Deputy Director are running service calls. This position upgrade would allow 
IT to function and flow more efficiently; the IT department would split into three main 
areas: software, hardware, and security. This split would allow for a better customer 
service experience for internal and external customers.  
 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider 
1. Approve the request to upgrade one IT position. 
2. Disapprove the request and provide staff with guidance. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative: 
Staff recommends Alternative 1. 
 
Other Alternatives:  
None. 
 
Department Review:  County Manager, Finance, and Human Resources. 
 
Funding Source: The position upgrade is partially funded by currently budgeted funds 
for personnel. It may require a future amendment.  
 
   

272

Item XIII. 6.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: ACCG Amendment to Schedule B of the Fee Schedule. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Approval updating ACCG Amendment to Schedule B of the Fee 
Schedule. 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approving the amendment to ACCG Schedule B of the Fee Schedule. 
Potential savings of $12,600 annually. Currently paying 252 inactive participant fees at 
$12.50 per participant; $3,150 quarterly.  
 
Background 
Effingham County is one of the last two counties in Georgia to pay the fees on inactive 
accounts, thus allowing funds to remain on the books indefinitely since the costs are being 
taken care of by the county. Switching over will cause the inactive participants to roll over 
their funds or eventually zero out their balances.  
 
Alternatives 

1. Recommend approval of ACCG Amendment to Schedule B of the Fee Schedule. 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 

 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Human Resources, and Finance.  
 
Funding Source: If approved, there will be a reduction in already budgeted funds to the 
General Fund.  
 
Attachments:  ACCG- Effingham County Amended Schedule B- Fee Schedule. 
                
    

273

Item XIII. 7.



 

 
Revised October 1, 2019 B - 1  

SCHEDULE “B” 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY FEE SCHEDULE 

Asset Based Fees- Amended Effective January 1, 2023 

Effingham County participants will pay no Asset Bases Fees or Annual Participant Fees.  

These fees will be billed directly to the County in quarterly increments.  Participants will 

be charged the Inactive Participant Fee, where applicable.    

Asset-Based Fee Based on Jurisdiction’s Total Assets* (in basis points) 

 Jurisdiction’s Total Assets 

Portion of Participant 

Account Balance** 
Less than $1 

million  

Between $1 

million and $5 

million 

Between $5 

million and $10 

million 

Greater than $10 

million 

First $5,000 200 175 140 125 

Next $5,000 175 150 100 75 

Next $15,000 25 20 15 10 

Over $25,000 0 0 0 0 

 
*Total combined assets of the Plan(s) shall be evaluated at each calendar year end. 

**Participant Account Balance is based on the average daily balance during the preceding quarter. 

Other Fees 

Account Establishment Fee: None  

Miscellaneous Fees:  
Annual Participant Fee: Annual fee of $20.00 per Participant assessed quarterly 

      Inactive Participant Fees†: Annual fee of $50.00 per Participant assessed quarterly 

(waived for account balances greater than $25,000) 

Investment Allocation Changes: $10.00 per change if not completed through the 

automated telephone or electronic communication system 

Non-electronic Payroll Processing: $1.00 per Participant per payroll 

Manual transactions/large quantity: To be negotiated as needed 

Employer multiple site payrolls: $100.00 per additional site 

Errors not caused by ACCG: 

 

 

 

 

 

To be negotiated as needed 

Employer requested special projects: To be negotiated as needed 

 

†Any Participant maintaining an account balance with no new contributions during any calendar quarter 

shall be charged an Inactive Participant fee.  

274

Item XIII. 7.



 

 
Revised October 1, 2019 B - 2  

 

ACCG may once each calendar year amend this Schedule “B” upon one hundred and twenty (120) 

days prior written notice to the Employer. 

 

We have read and understand the above Schedule “B” and agree to its terms as evidenced by the signatures 

set forth below. 

  ASSOCIATION COUNTY  

 EMPLOYER COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 

By: ____________________________________  By: ______________________________________  

Title: __________________________________  Title: _____________________________________  

Date: __________________________________  Date: _____________________________________  

 

 

275

Item XIII. 7.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #2 for DPR Architecture for Contract 20-006 for A/E 

Services for six buildings 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Misc. 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Change Order #2 for DPR Architecture for Contract 20-006  

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #2 for 

DPR Architecture for Contract 20-006 for A/E Services for additional site work at the 

EMS Addition 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County currently has contract 20-006 in place with DPR Architecture 

for A/E services for the design and construction management for six facilities. 

One of those buildings is the EMS facility.  

 During conversations regarding the EMS facility, additional items were added to 

the scope: 

o Add front parking lot improvements  

o Design detention pond 

 DPR has requested $6,000 for the additional items. Staff has reviewed and 

recommends approval.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #2 for DPR Architecture for Contract 20-006 for A/E 

Services for six buildings in the amount of $6,000 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments:  

1. DPR Agreement and CO1 

2. Change Order 2 

 

 

 

 

276

Item XIII. 8.



FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED:
Date 16-Nov-22

Pro. No.   2028

            Change Order request No. 2

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  

Mr. Tim Callanan Project Description Contract No. 20-105-006

County Manager Architectural / Engineering Services

601 N. Laurel St. 6 buildings / facilities

Springfield GA 31329

In accordance with proposal for Architect's Services

dated  April 13, 2020 the statement of your account is as follows:

Basic Services Fee = = 165,450.00$   

C.O.#1 New Design for Maintence Building (approved) 65,900.00$        

Description Proposed

Amount

P.C.O #2 Additional Site work at EMS Addition 6,000.00$          

a. Design Detention Pond

b. Add Front Parking lot improvements to scope of project

TOTAL PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER 6,000.00$          

Total Change Orders to Date 65,900.00$        

Total Proposed New Contract Sum 237,350.00$      

Owner

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

804 S. Laurel St.

Frank R. D'Arcangelo Springfield GA 31329

Architect

DPR Architects

By:_________________________________

Date:_________________________________

12-A EAST GRADY STREET            

STATESBORO, GA 30458 KEVIN PALMER

(912) 764-6288                                      FRANKLYN R. D’ARCANGELO

277

Item XIII. 8.



Change Order Request from Parker Engineering 

Effingham County EMS Expansion 

 

 
wsherrod@parker-engineering.com 
 

Nov 15, 2022, 
11:09 AM (1 

day ago) 

 
 
 

to me, wesley 

 
 

Frank, 
As it has been confirmed that the EMS facility is within the City of Springfield, and as it 
appears that the County is implying that they will defer to the City for drainage 
requirements, and having just discussed this with Wesley, we believe that we could 
perform the EMS additional services for $6,000.  Please let me know if you and the 
County are OK with this figure and we shall proceed. 
  
Thanks and sincerely, 
  
Wesley Sherrod, P.E. 
Parker Engineering 
36 Courtland St. #B 
Statesboro GA 30458 
912-764-7722 
 

Frank, 
Yes, detention would be required, but NOT infiltration or water quality.  
  
Thanks, 
  
Wesley Sherrod, P.E. 
Parker Engineering 
36 Courtland St. #B 
Statesboro GA 30458 
912-764-7722 
 

 

278

Item XIII. 8.



279

Item XIII. 8.



280

Item XIII. 8.



281

Item XIII. 8.



282

Item XIII. 8.



283

Item XIII. 8.



284

Item XIII. 8.



285

Item XIII. 8.



286

Item XIII. 8.



287

Item XIII. 8.



288

Item XIII. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Award of PO 23-REQ-015 to Certified Stainless Services, LLC dba West-Mark 

for the purchase of two tandem axle dump trucks for the Public Works Department 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: PO 23-REQ-015 to Certified Stainless Services, LLC dba West-Mark 

for the purchase of two tandem axle dump trucks for the Public Works Department 

 

Summary Recommendation: Award of PO 23-REQ-015 to Certified Stainless 

Services, LLC dba West-Mark for the purchase of two tandem axle dump trucks for the 

Public Works Department in the amount of $337,940.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff published an RFQ to obtain quotes for the purchase of two tandem axle 

dump trucks for the Public Works Department. 382 vendors were notified through 

the OpenGov site, and one (1) quote was submitted. 

o Certified Stainless Services, LLC dba West-Mark - $337,940.00 

 This submittal was reviewed by EOM personnel and they request approval. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Award of PO 23-REQ-015 to Certified Stainless Services, LLC dba West-Mark 

for the purchase of two tandem axle dump trucks for the Public Works 

Department in the amount of $337,940.00 

2. Take no action  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Finance, Public Works/EOM, Purchasing 

Funding Source: $375,000 budgeted in SPLOST  

Attachments: 

1. PO 23-REQ-015 and documentation  

 

 

289

Item XIII. 9.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:

SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #

Phone: 912-754-2159

Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO

Certified Stainless Services, LLC., DBA- West-Mark Effingham County Board of Commissioners

2704 Railroad Ave 804 S. Laurel Street

Ceres, CA 95307 Springfield, GA 31329

ATTN : Alison Bruton

ATTN : Laurie Warner 912-754-2159

lwarner@west-mark.com / (209) 670-0004

ITEM # QTY

1 2

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS

ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  

Dobbs Equipment, LLC. - SIGNATURE TITLE

  

Dobbs Equipment, LLC. - PRINT NAME DATE

 

  

AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 

AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

Purchase of Tandem Axle Dump Truck

 

 

12/6/2022

23-REQ-015

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL

$168,970.00

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

UNIT PRICE

$337,940.00

 

 

TAX RATE

337,940.00$   

-$                 

SUBTOTAL

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 

-$                 

-$                 

Certified Stainless Services, LLC., DBA- West-Mark  agrees to furnish two (2) 2024 Tandem Acle Dump Trucks as described in the 

County’s  RFQ  23-REQ-015 and related addendums.  The County references  the terms, conditions and specifications contained in 

the County’s RFQ  23-REQ-015 and related addendums as superseding any and all other contracts, Purchase Orders or 

Agreements. 

CHAIRMAN

337,940.00$   

TAX

S & H

OTHER

TOTAL

290

Item XIII. 9.



 

Certified Stainless Service, Inc. 
dba West-Mark 

2704 Railroad Avenue 
Ceres, California 95307 

Phone (209) 537-4747 
Fax (209) 537-1753 

 
November 11, 2022 

 
County of Effingham, Georg ia  
Publ ic  Works  
311 Highway 119 
Springfield, GA 31329 
Attn: Kristen Achtziger, Chief Operating Officer, EOM 
 
 
RE: Proposal in Response to Bid Number 23-REQ-015 for Two (2) Tandem Axle Dump 
Trucks-COVER LETTER 

 
MS. Kristen Achtziger, 

 
Certified Stainless Service, Inc. dba West-Mark is submitting this proposal for TWO (2) 2024 
Tandem Axle Dump Trucks.  
 

VEHICLE DESTINATION EACH DELIVERY QTY TOTAL PRICE 
Tandem Axle Dump Truck Springfield, GA $168,970.00 Included 2 $337,940.00 

 
 

West-Mark's quote/proposal includes the following items: 
•    Cover Letter 
•    Bid Proposal 
•    Specifications for Equipment being Offered 
•    Specifications in Compliance/ Notice of Exceptions  

 
The equipment offered in this proposal by Certified Stainless Service, Inc. dba West-Mark 
complies with the specifications in Bid Number 23-REQ-015 with the exceptions noted in the 
document, Compliance & Exceptions Table. 
 
Delivery of the equipment offered, if awarded, will be made within 300 days ARO. Please note that shipping and 
delivery costs are included in the proposed price. The proposed price shall remain valid for a period of thirty (60) 
days from the bid opening date. Pricing does not include any applicable taxes.  This price will expire on December 12, 
2022, requiring re-negotiation from that date forward. 
 

Thank you for your consideration of Certified Stainless Service, Inc. dba West-Mark for this 
opportunity.  Should you have any questions, require additional documentation, or need 
clarification of any items herein please contact Ms. Laurie Warner by phone at (209) 672-0004 or 
email at lwarner@west-mark.com. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Laurie Warner 
Government Contract Specialist 

291

Item XIII. 9.



Salesman: Laurie Warner  
COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM, GA 

 

 
900005-0001 11/02/22 

1 
 

 
P.O.BOX 100                                PHONE: (209) 537-4747 
CERES, CA 95307               TOLL FREE: (800) 692-5844 
www.west-mark.com                        FAX: (209) 537-1753 

 
GENERAL 
The following equipment shall be a new Dump Truck. 
 
CHASSIS  
New Freightliner model 108SD conventional cab, 2-door chassis: 
DRIVE:        6 X 4 
GVWR:        60,000 lbs 
Front Axle:            20,000 lbs Capacity 
Rear Axles:            40,000 lbs Capacity, Spring Suspension 
Engine:        Cummins ISL 350 HP and 1050 lb/ft torque 
Transmission:      Allison 3000 RDS automatic 
 
• Cab color to be White 
• Battery disconnect switch 
• Maintenance free batteries 
• Remote mounted positive & negative posts for jumpstart 
• Vertical tailpipe mounted at RH side 
• Coolant rated to -34F 
• Engine block heater 
• Front tow hooks, eye(s), or pin (application varies based GVWR) 
• LH and RH grab handles 
• Air horn 
• Electric horn(s) 
• Daytime running lights 
• LH and RH convex mirrors mounted under primary mirrors 
• Heater, defroster, and air conditioner 
• One (1) each 12V power supply in dash 
• Speedometer/Odometer capable of displaying in both miles and kilometer, with trip and hour meter. 
• Adjustable tilt and telescoping steering column 
• Back-up alarm 
• AM/FM/WB radio with Bluetooth and Auxiliary inputs 
• Fuel capacity 80 Gallons (minimum)  
• Cab suspension - Air Ride 
• Air driver and fixed passenger seats 
• Heated mirrors (flat and convex) 
• Heated fuel/water separator 
• Traction tires on rear axle(s) 
• Steel wheels 
• Power windows & door locks 
• Trailer towing package 
• Towing extended/roadside service warranty, 1 year/unlimited miles/km, $1200 cap (U.S. Domestic only) 
 
 
 
 

292

Item XIII. 9.



Salesman: Laurie Warner  
COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM, GA 

 

 
900005-0001 11/02/22 

2 
 

DUMP BODY 
• 15 Yard Semi-Elliptical Dump Body, approximately 15 feet long, made from 1/4" AR450 with a dump angle of    
   approximately 45 degrees. 
• 54" High front wall (1/4" AR450). 
• 3"X3" Square tube top rail mounted on 45 degree. 
• Air-latch 50" tail gate with vertical braces (1/4" AR450 Material) 
• Hi-Lift Tailgate- NONE. (Available as option upon request) 
• Front Mount Hoist, telescopic with dog-house. 
• Hydraulic Cylinder, w/ greaseable pins. 
• Sub frame, w/ heavy duty cross members. 
• Fenders, full length. 
• Cab guard. 
• Spreader apron 10" (AR450 material). 
• Tarp, electric. 
• Hinges, rear heavy duty with greasable and removable pins. 
• PTO, w/ direct mount heavy duty hydraulic pump. 
• Controls, between seats for easy access. 
• Hydraulic Reservoir, w/ shut-off valves, oil filter and vented cap. 
• Mud flaps, black rubber. 
• Hitch, Rear butt plate with pintle hook, 7-way electric socket (SAE J560), and 2 D-rings. 
• Electric Brake, controller in cab and 7-way RV socket at rear- NONE. (Available as option upon  
   request) 
• Poly Side Boards, NONE. (Available as option upon request). 
• Safety Prop, body up. 
• Indicator Light, body up . 
• Lighting, L.E.D. per D.O.T. 
• Reflectors, per D.O.T. 
• Conspicuity Striping, per D.O.T. 
• Paint, body sandblasted, primer coated and painted to match cab with urethane paint. 
 
MISC. 
• One (1) operation and maintenance manual(s) in paper format  
• Warranty, unit shall be free from defects in material and workmanship for a period of ONE (1) year. 
 

293

Item XIII. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Award of Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 to Pond & Company for design and 

construction management services of a Facility Renovation Package 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Misc 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 to Pond & Company for design and 

construction management services of a Facility Renovation Package 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 to 

Pond & Company for design and construction management services of a Facility Renovation 

Package 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In September, staff published an RFP for a design-build Facility Renovation Package. 

This project included the following: 

o Renovation of 902 Pine Street 

o Demolition of 904 Pine Street and construction of parking lot 

o Renovation of 204 Early Street 

o Renovation of 101 E. Tenth Street 

 During the pre-proposal meeting, it became apparent that we would not be able to get 

solid bids from contractors for the design-build project as the extent of the construction 

was not known. Staff decided to cancel this project and submit an RFP for design and 

construction management services to the IDC group.  

 In October, the IDC RFP was sent to eight (8) of the IDC vendors for the work stated 

above as well as the parking lot expansion for the Judicial Complex. HGB submitted a 

‘no bid’ statement stating they would be focusing on their two most recent projects with 

the County. Pond & Company did submit a proposal in the amount of $304,839.03.  

 Staff has reviewed this proposal and recommends award.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Award of Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 to Pond & Company for design and construction 

management services of a Facility Renovation Package in the amount of $304,839.03 

2. Take no action.  

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: SPLOST 

Attachments: Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 and attachment 

 

 

294

Item XIII. 10.



23-IDC RFP-017 – Design Services – Facility Renovation Package 
 

1 
 

 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 

 

TO: POND & Company   

RE: NOTICE TO PROCEED 

        Task Order 23-IDC RFP-017 – Design Services – Facility Renovation Package 

 

 

 

Please consider this your NOTICE TO PROCEED on the above referenced project. In accordance 

with the terms of the contract, work is to commence within 24 hours receipt of the Notice to Proceed 

unless otherwise agreed and to be completed within ____ calendar days from that time.  
 

 

     Dated this _____day of __________, 2022 

 

     Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

             

     Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE: 

Receipt of the above Notice to Proceed is acknowledged. 

Contractor:________________________________________ 

By:       ________________________________________ 

Title:       ________________________________________ 

Date of Acceptance: _____________________________ 

 

 

295

Item XIII. 10.



 

All Pond marketing materials are printed on papers containing post-consumer recycled fibers and are FSC Certified. 

 

November 16, 2022 
 
Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent  
Effingham County Board of Commissioners   
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Re: 23-IDC RFP-017 Design Services – Facility Renovation Package 
 
Ms. Bruton, 
 
Pond is pleased to submit this proposal for the Effingham County Facility Renovation Package. Our team of architects, 
landscape architects, and engineers are very interested in providing their expertise to the renovations of your existing 
buildings. We are committed to meeting the requirements specified in the request for proposal and in the following pages 
provide more detail as to our approach to accomplishing the work. Pond is fully qualified and capable of performing these 
design services for the County with Marco Migliaro, AIA acting as your day-to-day Project Manager. Pond’s team is 
comprised of a group of qualified architects and engineers who have the talent and skills to carry out the necessary tasks 
for the renovations.  
 
Project Description 

The County completed a Facility Condition Assessment and Programming Needs plan in 2021. The Probation office was 
formerly located at 902 N. Pine St. until black mold was found in the structure, prompting abandonment of the building. 
904 N. Pine St. was formerly used by the Development Services Department until vacated in 2021. A recent structural 
report deemed the building foundation not worthy of salvage. The plan is to demolish the structure and add parking for the 
historic courthouse and Probation office. 204 Early St. is currently being used by Juvenile Justice and needs a 
comprehensive upgrade. 101 E. Tenth St. was recently acquired by the County to be remodeled as an EMS sub-station.  The 
County is looking for these buildings to be partially renovated of selected interior elements from the original facilities 
assessment report as outlined in the scope of work in 23-IDC RFP-017.   
 
Scope of Work 

902 S. Pine Street 
• Survey  
• Complete pre-renovation asbestos, lead paint, and mold surveys at the 1,676-square feet house 
• Building survey and investigation 
• Meeting with Probation staff to determine needs and prepare schematic plan 
• Prepare construction drawings  
• Interior renovations to existing buildings and site including irrigation, landscaping, electrical, lighting, security 

cameras, access control, signage, and ADA requirements 
• Bidding assistance services 
• Construction administration services 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

296

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 2 

 

 
 

904 S. Pine Street 
• Survey  
• Complete a pre-demolition asbestos survey of the 1,843-square feet house 
• Demolition of existing building structure 
• Geotechnical evaluation for new parking lot 
• Parking lot design including construction drawings  
• Landscaping, parking lot lighting, and ADA requirements 
• Bidding assistance services 
• Construction administration services 

 
204 Early Street 

• Survey  
• Complete pre-renovation asbestos and lead paint surveys of the 1,793-square feet house 
• Building survey and investigation 
• Meeting with Sheriff staff to determine needs and prepare schematic plan 
• Prepare construction drawings  
• Interior renovations to existing buildings and site including irrigation, landscaping, electrical, lighting, security 

cameras, access control, signage, and ADA requirements 
• Bidding assistance services 
• Construction administration services 

 
101 E. Tenth Street 

• Survey  
• Complete pre-renovation asbestos and lead paint surveys of the house 
• Building survey and investigation 
• Meeting with EMS staff to determine needs and prepare schematic plan 
• Prepare construction drawings  
• Interior renovations to existing buildings and site including irrigation, landscaping, electrical, lighting, security 

cameras, access control, signage and ADA requirements 
• Bidding assistance services 
• Construction administration services 

 
700 N. Pine Street (Judicial Complex Parking Lot Expansion) 

• Survey  
• Meeting with staff to determine needs for parking lot expansion  
• Parking Lot design, including construction drawings  
• Landscaping, parking lot lighting, and ADA requirements 
• Bidding assistance services 
• Construction administration services 

 
 

 

 

 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

297

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 3 

 

 

Deliverables 

902 S. Pine Street 
Design Services and Deliverables are generally outlined as follows: 

Schematic Design / 25% Documents: 
• Site Survey 
• Schematic floor plan 
Design Development / 65% Construction Documents: 
• Drawing performance specifications, Demolition Plan, Floor Plan, Reflected Ceiling Plan, Toilet Enlargements, 

Millwork Elevations / Details, Door Schedule / Details, and Finished Plans 
• Site/ landscaping plans 
• Electrical and plumbing plans 
• Asbestos, lead paint, and mold surveys and reports 
• Structural and mechanical drawings are not part of this scope of work 
100% Construction Documents:  
• Working Drawings and drawing performance specifications detailing the work required and all the necessary 

bidding. General Conditions and Supplementary General Conditions (Front end specification) will not be provided 
by Pond.  

• Submit Construction Documents to Code Enforcement, along with any Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for 
review and approval as required. Coordinate with the project CM as required to obtain permits as needed.  

Bidding 
• Provide bid documents for bidding 
• Address any bidding questions from bidders 
• Provided feedback as required on the provided bids and a bid comparison 
Construction Administration 
• Attend Pre-Construction meeting with Owner and selected contractor 
• Meeting attendance by AE at monthly meetings (estimated 6 months) 
• Submittal and RFI review are included 
• A/E to review applications for payment, signing, and forward to the County Project Manager 
• Answer RFI’s 
• Substantial Completion Inspection including generation of a punch-list 
• Final Completion Inspection 
• Record Drawing preparation is included 

 
904 S. Pine Street 
Design Services and Deliverables are generally outlined as follows: 

Design Development / 65% Construction Documents: 
• Drawing performance specifications, building demolition plan, site plan for new parking lot, and landscaping plan 
• Geotechnical report 
• Asbestos and lead paint surveys and reports 
100% Construction Documents:  
• Working Drawings and drawing performance specifications detailing the work required and all the necessary 

bidding. General Conditions and Supplementary General Conditions (Front end specification) will not be provided 
by Pond. 

• Submit Construction Documents to Code Enforcement, along with any Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for 
review and approval as required. Coordinate with the project CM as required to obtain permits as needed.  

 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

298

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 4 

 

 
 
Bidding 
• Provide bid documents for bidding 
• Address any bidding questions from bidders 
• Provided feedback as required on the provided bids and a bid comparison 
Construction Administration 
• Attend Pre-Construction meeting with Owner and selected contractor 
• Meeting attendance by AE at monthly meetings (estimated 6 months) 
• Submittal and RFI review are included 
• A/E to review applications for payment, signing, and forward to the County Project Manager 
• Answer RFI’s 
• Substantial Completion Inspection including generation of a punch-list 
• Final Completion Inspection 
• Record Drawing preparation is included 

 
204 Early Street  
Design Services and Deliverables are generally outlined as follows: 

Schematic Design / 25% Documents: 
• Site Survey 
• Schematic floor plan 
Design Development / 65% Construction Documents: 
• Drawing performance specifications, Demolition Plan, Floor Plan, Reflected Ceiling Plan, Toilet Enlargements, 

Millwork Elevations / Details, Door Schedule / Details, and Finished Plans 
• Site/ landscaping Plans 
• Electrical and plumbing plans 
• Asbestos and lead paint surveys and reports 
• Structural and mechanical drawings are not part of this scope of work 
100% Construction Documents:  
• Working Drawings and drawing performance specifications detailing the work required and all the necessary 

bidding. General Conditions and Supplementary General Conditions (Front end specification) will not be provided 
by Pond. 

• Submit Construction Documents to Code Enforcement, along with any Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for 
review and approval as required. Coordinate with the project CM as required to obtain permits as needed.  

Bidding 
• Provide bid documents for bidding 
• Address any bidding questions from bidders 
• Provided feedback as required on the provided bids and a bid comparison 
Construction Administration 
• Attend Pre-Construction meeting with Owner and selected contractor 
• Meeting attendance by AE at monthly meetings (estimated 6 months) 
• Submittal and RFI review are included 
• A/E to review applications for payment, signing, and forward to the County Project Manager 
• Answer RFI’s 
• Substantial Completion Inspection including generation of a punch-list 
• Final Completion Inspection 
• Record Drawing preparation is included 
 
 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

299

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 5 

 

 
 
101 E. Tenth Street 
Design Services and Deliverables are generally outlined as follows: 

Schematic Design / 25% Documents: 
• Site Survey 
• Schematic floor plan 
Design Development / 65% Construction Documents: 
• Drawing performance specifications, Demolition Plan, Floor Plan, Reflected Ceiling Plan, Toilet Enlargements, 

Millwork Elevations / Details, Door Schedule / Details, and Finished Plans 
• Site/ landscaping Plans 
• Electrical and plumbing plans 
• Asbestos and lead paint surveys and reports 
• Structural and mechanical drawings are not part of this scope of work.  
100% Construction Documents:  
• Working Drawings and drawing performance specifications detailing the work required and all the necessary 

bidding. General Conditions and Supplementary General Conditions (Front end specification) will not be provided 
by Pond. 

• Submit Construction Documents to Code Enforcement, along with any Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for 
review and approval as required. Coordinate with the project CM as required to obtain permits as needed.  

Bidding 
• Provide bid documents for bidding 
• Address any bidding questions from bidders 
• Provided feedback as required on the provided bids and a bid comparison 
Construction Administration 
• Attend Pre-Construction meeting with Owner and selected contractor 
• Meeting attendance by AE at monthly meetings (estimated 6 months) 
• Submittal and RFI review are included 
• A/E to review applications for payment, signing, and forward to the County Project Manager 
• Answer RFI’s 
• Substantial Completion Inspection including generation of a punch-list 
• Final Completion Inspection 
• Record Drawing preparation is included 

 
700 N. Pine Street (Judicial Complex Parking Lot Expansion) 
Design Services and Deliverables are generally outlined as follows: 

Design Development / 65% Construction Documents: 
• Drawing performance specifications, site plan for new parking lot, and landscaping plan. 
100% Construction Documents:  
• Working Drawings and drawing performance specifications detailing the work required and all the necessary 

bidding. General Conditions and Supplementary General Conditions (Front end specification) will not be provided 
by Pond. 

• Submit Construction Documents to Code Enforcement, along with any Authorities Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for 
review and approval as required. Coordinate with the project CM as required to obtain permits as needed.  

Bidding 
• Provide bid documents for bidding 
• Address any bidding questions from bidders 
• Provided feedback as required on the provided bids and a bid comparison 
 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

300

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 6 

 

 
 
Construction Administration 
• Attend Pre-Construction meeting with Owner and selected contractor 
• Meeting attendance by AE at monthly meetings (estimated 6 months) 
• Submittal and RFI review are included 
• A/E to review applications for payment, signing, and forward to the County Project Manager 
• Answer RFI’s 
• Substantial Completion Inspection including generation of a punch-list 
• Final Completion Inspection 
• Record Drawing preparation is included 

 
Updated Schedule 

• Notice to Proceed – TBD 
• Pond’s Earliest Start Date – 1/9/2023 
• Site Visit/ Meeting with end users – 1/11/2023 
• 25% Schematic Design Submission – 2/8/2023 
• County review and provide comments by – 2/22/2023 
• 65% Design Document Submission – 4/19/2023 
• County review and provide comments by – 5/3/2023 
• 100% Construction Documents – 6/14/2023 
• Bidding – TBD 
• Construction – Estimated 6 Months from Notice to Proceed to Substantial Completion  

 
Conditions of Service 

• Site visit and meetings with all end users for all projects can be completed in one day. 
• One Schematic Plan will be developed for 902 S. Pine St., 204 Early St., and 101 E. Tenth St. If additional plans are 

requested, they will be at an added fee. 
• Structural and Mechanical engineering is not included. 
• Assumed all project site locations will be issued as one bid package for construction and the construction duration 

will be approximately 6 months from notice of award to substantial completion.  
• All building renovations are assumed to be interior alterations only. Exterior renovations/ additions to the existing 

building would be an added fee. 
• Assumed all exiting building utilities are adequate for all new interior renovations needed. If existing utilities 

require upgrade, will be an additional fee. 
• Minor alterations to existing toilet rooms to facilitate upgrades for ADA requirements. 

 
Fee Proposal 

Based upon our understanding of the scope of work described above, Pond proposes to provide the services outlined above 
for a Lump Sum Fee of Three Hundred Four Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty-Nine and 75/100 Dollars ($304,839.03) for 
preparation of Construction Documents, Bidding, and Construction Administration for the project.  
 
 

 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

301

Item XIII. 10.



 
 
 

Page 7 

 

 

 

Fee Summary 

25% Submission   $34,375.40 (Lump Sum) 
65% Submission   $60,136.08 (Lump Sum) 
100% Submission   $47,854.60 (Lump Sum) 
Bidding    $3,361.92 (Lump Sum) 
Construction Administration $69,969.28 (Lump Sum) 
Geotechnical (Terracon)  $5,337.75 (Lump Sum) 
Environmental (Terracon)  $13,090.00 (Lump Sum) 
Survey/ Civil (TR Long)  $65,714.00 (Lump Sum) 
Travel & Expenses  $5,000.00   
 
Total Design Cost:  $304,839.03 (Lump Sum) 
 

Thank you for this opportunity and we look forward to working with you on this project. Please let us know if you have any 
questions or need additional information.  
 

Sincerely,  
 
Pond & Company 

 
Stephen G. Harrill, AIA      Melissa D. Phillips 
Vice President       Associate | Business Development Manager 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment for TO 23-IDC RFP-017

302

Item XIII. 10.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #4 for Agreement 22-25-010 with McLendon Enterprises, 

Inc. for the LMIG 2022 and other road work 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works/Roads 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Change Order #4 for Agreement 22-25-010 with McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

for the LMIG 2022 and other road work 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #4 for Agreement 

22-25-010 with McLendon Enterprises, Inc. for the LMIG 2022 and other road work for a 

decrease in the amount of (-$37,437.09). 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 In August, Contract 22-25-010 was awarded to McLendon Enterprises, Inc. for LMIG 

2022 and other road projects throughout the County in the amount of $3,764,575.98.  

 In September, the Board approved CO1 to McLendon for two other areas that need 

repair - Blue Jay and McCall Road Intersection, and Old Augusta Road at Estes 

Trucking. Change Order 2 was approved for various changes in October reflecting a 

deduction in the contract in the amount of (-$594,290.55). Change Order 3 was also 

approved for the removal of fly ash material and paving of the Clyo-Kildare Fire Station 

in the amount of $77,360.98. 

 The request for Change Order 4 reflects a deduction of (-$70,780.730) on Old Tusculum 

Road for 2514’ of paving due to that portion of the road being owned by GDOT, and an 

increase of $33,343.64 for Sandhill Road to cover additional quantities needed for 

certain items. Overall, this change order has a total of (-$37,437.09).  

 Staff has confirmed that we still meet the County match requirements for LMIG with 

these deductions. The new contract total for McLendon will be $3,253,144.79. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #4 for Agreement 22-25-010 with McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

for the LMIG 2022 and other road work for a deduction of (-$37,437.09) 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Asst. County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: LMIG/TSPLOST/SPLOST 

Attachments: 

1. Change Order #4 and documentation 

303

Item XIII. 11.



Change Order # 4

 
 

Project: ITB 22-25-010 – 2022 LMIG 

Contract Date: August 16, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: December 6, 2022 

Change Order Issued to: McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

    2365 Aimwell Road 

    Vidalia, GA 30474 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Old Tusculum Road – deduction of 2514’ of roadway (-$70,780.73) 

   

2 Sandhill Road – increases quantities needed $33,343.64 

   

   

   

 TOTAL (-$37,437.09) 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 3,764,575.98 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................( -$473,994.10) 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 3,290,581.88 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................( -$ 37,437.09) 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 3,253,144.79 

The Contract Time will be increased by 0 days 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     2365 Aimwell Road 

Springfield, GA 31329     Vidalia, GA 30474 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

304

Item XIII. 11.



 

November 2, 2022

Mr. Rip Graham
Roberts Civil Engineering

RE: ITB 22-25-010-2022 Effingham County LMIG 2022
Change order requests 6 and 7

Mr. Graham,

Attached is the information for change order request #6 for Old Tusculum Road and #7 for Sandhill Road on the
above referenced contract.
In summary:

On Old Tusculum, 2514’ of the overall roadway length was removed from the contract due to this roadway section
still belonging to Georgia Department of Transportation.

On Sandhill Road, the quantities for OGI and 9.5mm asphalt were not enough for actual roadway area. These
quantities were increased as needed to cover the entire existing roadway area.

The add/delete summaries are attached for review.

Sean M. Scott, P.E.
Chief Engineer

Cc: Keith Clements, McLendon Enterprises, Inc.
Kenny Allen, McLendon Enterprises, Inc.

305

Item XIII. 11.



O
ld
T
u
sc
u
lu
m

R
o
ad

R
ev

is
e
d
C
o
n
tr
ac

t

It
em

G
d
o
t
R
ef

D
es

cr
ip
ti
o
n

Es
t
Q
ty

U
n
it

B
id

U
n
it
$

B
id

$
$

1
1
50

T
ra
ff
ic

an
d
Sa

fe
ty

C
o
n
tr
o
l

1
LS

$
10

8,
98

9.
6
4

$
10

8,
98

9.
6
4

2
1
51

M
o
b
ili
za

ti
o
n
a
n
d
D
em

o
b
ili
za

ti
o
n

1
LS

$
11

7,
63

7.
3
8

$
11

7,
63

7.
3
8

6
4
02

A
sp

h
al
t
D
e
e
p
P
at
ch

25
m
m
,S

u
p
er
p
av

e
4
0

TN
$
11

1.
9
7

$
4,
4
78

.8
0

7
4
20

R
ej
u
ve

n
at
in
g
Sc

ru
b
Se

al
,T

yp
e
B

5
13

60
SY

$
4.
25

$
21

8,
28

0.
0
0

1
0

4
28

M
ic
ro

-S
u
rf
ac

in
g,

Ty
p
e
1

5
13

60
SY

$
4.
15

$
21

3,
14

4.
0
0

1
1

2
10

Sh
o
u
ld
er

G
ra
d
in
g

2
.9

A
C

$
13

,5
44

.3
8

$
39

,2
78

.7
0

1
2

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-Y
e
llo

w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
74

24
LF

$
0.
21

$
3,
6
59

.0
4

1
3

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-W

h
it
e(
H
ig
h
B
u
ild

)
3
48

48
LF

$
0.
21

$
7,
3
18

.0
8

1
4

6
52

5
"
Sk

ip
T
ra
ff
ic

St
ri
p
e-
Ye

llo
w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
74

24
G
LF

$
0.
14

$
2,
4
39

.3
6

1
5

6
52

2
4"

St
o
p
B
ar
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1

EA
$
25

.0
0

$
25

.0
0

1
6

7
06

T
u
rf

Es
ta
b
lis

h
m
e
n
t

2
.9

A
C

$
1,
9
50

.0
0

$
5,
6
55

.0
0

1
7

R
1
-1

St
o
p
Si
gn

to
In
cl
u
d
e
Po

st
1

EA
$
35

0.
0
0

$
35

0.
0
0

1
8

O
n
si
te

Sa
n
it
a
ry

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

1
LS

$
25

6.
8
0

$
25

6.
8
0

2
0

T
yp

e
1
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se

d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M

ar
ke

rs
1
09

EA
$
5.
50

$
59

9.
5
0

2
1

T
yp

e
2
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se

d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M

ar
ke

rs
3
27

EA
$
5.
50

$
1,
7
98

.5
0

C
O

Sh
o
u
ld
er

Ex
ca

va
ti
o
n
fo

r
2
'W

id
en

in
g
in
cl
.S

o
il
St
e
ri
la
n
t

1
49

10
LF

$
15

.5
0

$
23

1,
10

5.
0
0

C
O

4
"
2
5m

m
W

id
en

in
g

1
45

7
TN

$
11

1.
9
7

$
16

3,
14

0.
2
9

$
1,
1
18

,1
5
5.
0
9

O
ld
T
u
sc
u
lu
m

R
o
ad

R
e-
re

vi
se

d
C
o
n
tr
ac

t

It
em

G
d
o
t
R
ef

D
es

cr
ip
ti
o
n

Es
t
Q
ty

U
n
it

B
id

U
n
it
$

B
id

$
$

1
1
50

T
ra
ff
ic

an
d
Sa

fe
ty

C
o
n
tr
o
l

1
LS

$
10

8,
98

9.
6
4

$
10

8,
98

9.
6
4

2
1
51

M
o
b
ili
za

ti
o
n
a
n
d
D
em

o
b
ili
za

ti
o
n

1
LS

$
11

7,
63

7.
3
8

$
11

7,
63

7.
3
8

6
4
02

A
sp

h
al
t
D
e
e
p
P
at
ch

25
m
m
,S

u
p
er
p
av

e
4
0

TN
$
11

1.
9
7

$
4,
4
78

.8
0

7
4
20

R
ej
u
ve

n
at
in
g
Sc

ru
b
Se

al
,T

yp
e
B

4
39

02
SY

$
4.
25

$
18

6,
58

3.
5
0

1
0

4
28

M
ic
ro

-S
u
rf
ac

in
g,

Ty
p
e
1

4
39

02
SY

$
4.
15

$
18

2,
19

3.
3
0

1
1

2
10

Sh
o
u
ld
er

G
ra
d
in
g

2
.5

A
C

$
13

,5
44

.3
8

$
33

,8
60

.9
5

1
2

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-Y
e
llo

w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
49

10
LF

$
0.
21

$
3,
1
31

.1
0

1
3

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-W

h
it
e(
H
ig
h
B
u
ild

)
2
98

20
LF

$
0.
21

$
6,
2
62

.2
0

1
4

6
52

5
"
Sk

ip
T
ra
ff
ic

St
ri
p
e-
Ye

llo
w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
49

10
G
LF

$
0.
14

$
2,
0
87

.4
0

1
5

6
52

2
4"

St
o
p
B
ar
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1

EA
$
25

.0
0

$
25

.0
0

1
6

7
06

T
u
rf

Es
ta
b
lis

h
m
e
n
t

2
.5

A
C

$
1,
9
50

.0
0

$
4,
8
75

.0
0

1
7

R
1
-1

St
o
p
Si
gn

to
In
cl
u
d
e
Po

st
1

EA
$
35

0.
0
0

$
35

0.
0
0

1
8

O
n
si
te

Sa
n
it
a
ry

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

1
LS

$
25

6.
8
0

$
25

6.
8
0

2
0

T
yp

e
1
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se

d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M

ar
ke

rs
1
09

EA
$
5.
50

$
59

9.
5
0

2
1

T
yp

e
2
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se

d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M

ar
ke

rs
3
27

EA
$
5.
50

$
1,
7
98

.5
0

C
O

Sh
o
u
ld
er

Ex
ca

va
ti
o
n
fo

r
2
'W

id
en

in
g
in
cl
.S

o
il
St
e
ri
la
n
t

1
49

10
LF

$
15

.5
0

$
23

1,
10

5.
0
0

C
O

4
"
2
5m

m
W

id
en

in
g

1
45

7
TN

$
11

1.
9
7

$
16

3,
14

0.
2
9

$
1,
0
47

,3
7
4.
3
6

T
o
ta
lC

h
an

ge
to

C
o
n
tr
ac

t
V
al
u
e

-$
70

,7
80

.7
3

306

Item XIII. 11.



Sa
n
d
h
il
lR

o
ad

O
ri
gi
n
a
lC

o
n
tr
a
ct

It
em

G
d
o
t
R
ef

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

Es
t
Q
ty

U
n
it

B
id

U
n
it
$

B
id

$
$

1
1
50

T
ra
ff
ic
an

d
Sa

fe
ty

C
o
n
tr
o
l

1
LS

$
65

,4
43

.8
1

$
65

,4
43

.8
1

2
1
51

M
o
b
ili
za
ti
o
n
a
n
d
D
em

o
b
ili
za
ti
o
n

1
LS

$
8,
0
37

.5
5

$
8,
0
37

.5
5

8
4
02

9
.5
m
m

Tp
2
(1
65

lb
s/
sy
)

2
95

7
TN

$
94

.7
5

$
28

0,
17

5.
7
5

9
4
15

O
p
en

gr
a
d
ed

in
te
rl
ay

e
r
(1
00

lb
s/
sy
)

1
79

2
TN

$
10

2.
6
5

$
18

3,
94

8.
8
0

1
1

2
10

Sh
o
u
ld
er

G
ra
d
in
g

2
.1

A
C

$
13

,5
44

.3
8

$
28

,4
43

.2
0

1
2

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-Y
e
llo

w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
26

72
LF

$
0.
21

$
2,
6
61

.1
2

1
3

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-W

h
it
e(
H
ig
h
B
u
ild

)
2
53

44
LF

$
0.
21

$
5,
3
22

.2
4

1
4

6
52

5
"
Sk

ip
T
ra
ff
ic
St
ri
p
e-
Ye

llo
w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
26

72
G
LF

$
0.
14

$
1,
7
74

.0
8

1
5

6
52

2
4"

St
o
p
B
ar
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
EA

$
25

.0
0

$
25

.0
0

1
6

7
06

T
u
rf
Es
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t

2
.1

A
C

$
1,
9
50

.0
0

$
4,
0
95

.0
0

1
7

R
1
-1

St
o
p
Si
gn

to
In
cl
u
d
e
Po

st
1
EA

$
35

0.
0
0

$
35

0.
0
0

1
8

O
n
si
te

Sa
n
it
a
ry

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

1
LS

$
12

8.
4
0

$
12

8.
4
0

2
0

T
yp

e
1
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se
d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M
ar
ke

rs
8
0
EA

$
5.
50

$
44

0.
0
0

2
1

T
yp

e
2
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se
d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M
ar
ke

rs
2
38

EA
$
5.
50

$
1,
3
09

.0
0

$
58

2,
15

3.
9
5

Sa
n
d
h
il
lR

o
ad

R
ev

is
e
d
C
o
n
tr
ac

t

It
em

G
d
o
t
R
ef

D
es
cr
ip
ti
o
n

Es
t
Q
ty

U
n
it

B
id

U
n
it
$

B
id

$
$

1
1
50

T
ra
ff
ic
an

d
Sa

fe
ty

C
o
n
tr
o
l

1
LS

$
65

,4
43

.8
1

$
65

,4
43

.8
1

2
1
51

M
o
b
ili
za
ti
o
n
a
n
d
D
em

o
b
ili
za
ti
o
n

1
LS

$
8,
0
37

.5
5

$
8,
0
37

.5
5

8
4
02

9
.5
m
m

Tp
2
(1
65

lb
s/
sy
)

3
20

3.
1
2
TN

$
94

.7
5

$
30

3,
49

5.
6
2

9
4
15

O
p
en

gr
a
d
ed

in
te
rl
ay

e
r
(1
00

lb
s/
sy
)

1
88

9.
6
5
TN

$
10

2.
6
5

$
19

3,
97

2.
5
7

1
1

2
10

Sh
o
u
ld
er

G
ra
d
in
g

2
.1

A
C

$
13

,5
44

.3
8

$
28

,4
43

.2
0

1
2

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-Y
e
llo

w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
26

72
LF

$
0.
21

$
2,
6
61

.1
2

1
3

6
52

5
"
So

lid
Tr
af
fi
c
St
ri
p
e
-W

h
it
e(
H
ig
h
B
u
ild

)
2
53

44
LF

$
0.
21

$
5,
3
22

.2
4

1
4

6
52

5
"
Sk

ip
T
ra
ff
ic
St
ri
p
e-
Ye

llo
w
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
26

72
G
LF

$
0.
14

$
1,
7
74

.0
8

1
5

6
52

2
4"

St
o
p
B
ar
(H

ig
h
B
u
ild

)
1
EA

$
25

.0
0

$
25

.0
0

1
6

7
06

T
u
rf
Es
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t

2
.1

A
C

$
1,
9
50

.0
0

$
4,
0
95

.0
0

1
7

R
1
-1

St
o
p
Si
gn

to
In
cl
u
d
e
Po

st
1
EA

$
35

0.
0
0

$
35

0.
0
0

1
8

O
n
si
te

Sa
n
it
a
ry

Fa
ci
lit
ie
s

1
LS

$
12

8.
4
0

$
12

8.
4
0

2
0

T
yp

e
1
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se
d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M
ar
ke

rs
8
0
EA

$
5.
50

$
44

0.
0
0

2
1

T
yp

e
2
Y
el
lo
w

R
ai
se
d
P
av

e
m
e
n
t
M
ar
ke

rs
2
38

EA
$
5.
50

$
1,
3
09

.0
0

$
61

5,
49

7.
5
9

T
o
ta
lC

h
an

ge
to

C
o
n
tr
ac

t
V
al
u
e

$
33

,3
43

.6
4

307

Item XIII. 11.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #2 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger Construction for the 

FDRE of Ash Roads 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Change Order #2 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger Construction for the 

FDRE of Ash Roads 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #2 for Contract 22-

25-008-1 to Ranger Construction for the FDRE of Ash Roads 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The Board approved Contract 22-25-008-1 with Ranger Construction for the FDRE of 

Ash Roads.  

o Ranger’s initial contract amount: $7,732,970.55 

o Approved Change Order 1: $1,150,877.04 

o Update total: $8,883,847.59 

 Ranger Construction has submitted a change order request for additional work on Old 

Augusta Road II which have been reviewed by Roberts Civil Engineering.  

o Change Order total: $208,050.64 

 The new contract total is $9,091,898.23 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #2 for Contract 22-25-008-1 to Ranger Construction for the 

FDRE of Ash Roads for a new contract total of $9,091,898.23 

2. Take no action.  

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, County Manager 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments: Change Order Form with Documentation 

308

Item XIII. 12.



Change Order # 2

 
 

Project: 22-25-008-1 – FDRE of Ash Roads 

Contract Date: June 21, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: December 6, 2022 

Change Order Issued to: Ranger Construction Industries, Inc. 

    1200 Elboc Way 

    Winter Garden, FL 34787 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Total 

1 Addition of FDR on Old Augusta Road II  

 - 5,871 SY FDR @ $6.25/SY $36,693.75 

 - 19,961.4 Gallon Emulsion @ $5.85/Gal $116,774.19 

 - 5,871 SY Prime and Sand @ $1.25/SY $7,338.75 

 - 5,591 SY Double Surface Treatment @ $8.45/SY $47,243.95 

   

   

   

   

   

 TOTAL $208,050.64 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 7,732,970.55 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 1,150,877.04 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 8,883,847.59 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order.............................$ 208,050.64 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be...........................$ 9,091,898.23 

The Contract Time will be increased by _0_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore 11/27/2022 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Ranger Construction Industries, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     1200 Elboc Way 

Springfield, GA 31329     Winter Garden, FL 34787 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

309

Item XIII. 12.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
November 10, 2022 
 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
C/O Roberts Civil Engineering 
Mr. R.M “Rip” Graham 
 
RE: Effingham County Full Depth Reclamation 
ITB No: 22-25-008  Change Order Request No. 5 
 
Old Augusta II 
 
Rip, 
 
Per the email dated November 33,2022, Ranger Construction Industries, is requesting a Change Order to 
the contract to Add FDR, Prime and Sand and Dbl Chip Seal on the above roadway.  Please see below for 
cost breakdown: 
 
 
Add the following: 
 
5,871 SY FDR @ $6.25/SY = $ 36,693.75 
19,961.4 Gallon Emulsion @ $ 5.85/Gal =  $  116,774.19 
5,871 SY Prime and Sand @ $ 1.25/SY = $ 7,338.75 
5,591 SY Double Surface Treatment @ $ 8.45/SY = $ 47,243.95 
 
Total Add:   $ 208,050.64 
 
 
Please let us know if you need anything further 
 
Thank You, 
 
 
Melody A Dearborn 
Project Manager 
 
 
 

1200 Elboc Way, Winter Garden, Florida 34787 – Phone (407) 656-9255, Fax (407) 656-3188 
 310

Item XIII. 12.



Staff Report 
Subject: Acceptance of Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Recreation 

Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 

Item Description: Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends acceptance of the Proposal for Audio-

Visual Services from Stage Front. This process will be implemented in phases as 

allowed by the approved budget.   

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Currently, Effingham County in under contract with Stage Front to update the AV 

system in the Judicial Complex. Staff requested a proposal from Stage Front to 

review the Clarence E. Morgan Gymnasium sound issues and provide sound 

dampeners.  

 Stage Front had their Acoustical Engineer measure the gym reverberance and 

have put together a proposal for ceiling and wall panels based on that study. 

Because of the ceiling being the largest available surface, most of the acoustical 

treatment will be on the ceiling. 

 This project will be broken into phases in accordance with the approved budget. 

FY23 has a total of $40,000 budgeted, so Stage Front is working to put together 

a final quote for phase 1 which will include only a portion of the ceiling panels. 

Should additional funding be approved in FY23, staff will discuss the next phase 

with Stage Front. Remaining funds needed will be requested for FY24.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Acceptance of Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front to be 

implemented in phases as allowed by the approved budget. 

2. Acceptance of Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front to be 

completed as a whole with a budget amendment. 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2, 3 

Department Review: Purchasing, County Manager, Recreation, Facilities Maintenance, 

Finance 

Funding Source: SPLOST  

Attachments: Proposal for Audio-Visual Services from Stage Front 

311

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

E F F I N G H A M  C O U N T Y  R E C R E A T I O N  G Y M  A C O U S T I C S  

Chuck Cooper , Systems Consultant  

912.721.5710 direct  |  912.398.4644 cell  

chuck.cooper@stagefront.net  

312

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

 

11/7/2022 

 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

ATTN: Ms. Alison M. Bruton 

804 S Laurel St. 

Springfield, GA 31329 

912.754.2123 

abruton@effinghamcounty.org 

 

RE: Effingham County BOC | Recreation Gym Acoustics  
  

 

Ms. Bruton, 

 

Please accept the enclosed survey report and proposal for acoustical treatment design services for the 

Effingham County Recreation Gym Acoustics project.  Thank you for the opportunity to present this to 

you and for considering Stage Front as a design partner. 

  

The services, scope of work, and fees included here are based on our understanding of the desired 

acoustical dampening and our experience with similar projects. 

 

Once you’ve reviewed the proposal please call with any questions or to discuss further.  

 

Thank you again for your consideration.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Best Regards, 

 

Chuck Cooper 

Systems Consultant 

 

 

 

 

313

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

 

 

Acoustical Survey on 10-12-22 

Effingham County Recreation Complex 

808 GA-119 

Springfield, GA 

 

Building is an approximate 112 ft wide x 157 ft long space with 28’ high side walls. Wall surfaces are painted 

concrete block.  Floor is wood basketball surface and ceiling deck is metal.  The room is very reverberant 

with excessive loudness and poor speech clarity.  The purpose of our site visit was to make acoustical 

measurements that would lead to a recommended solution and project budget to control the rooms 

excessive reverberation and loudness. 

 

Measured reverberation times from 2 position several measurement averages is approximately 2.5 

seconds. 

 

Room reverberation time in seconds is a metric that is used to describe the acoustical property of a space.  

Rooms with long reverberation times (greater that 2 seconds) are categorized as live and often exhibit 

excessive loudness and poor speech clarity.  Rooms with shorter reverberation times (less than 1.6 

seconds) exhibit a quieter a “drier” sounder character and provide good speech clarity.  Measurements are 

made at several frequency bands to characterize the tonal quality of a room.  

The simple way to describe reverberation time is the time in seconds required for a loud slap sound to 

decay until it is inaudible.  Acoustical measurement instruments apply a more rigorous measurement that 

allows verification and is repeatable.  Physically room reverberation is controlled by the internal volume of 

the space, and the total surface area of sound absorbing materials.  The rec center has a large interior 

volume, and has no current sound absorption. The room reverberation for the center is long (2.5 seconds ) 

and provides a “Too live” ambience.   The large parallel wall surfaces contribute to slap echo in the space. 

Our calculations show that approximately 7,400 sq. ft of high sound absorption acoustical material is 

needed to calm the excessive reverberation.  The ceiling is the largest available surface so most of the 

acoustical treatment will go there.  Wall covering is needed to reduce side-to-side echoes that can also 

interfere with speech clarity.  These side wall panels also contribute to the overall reduction of 

reverberation.  These surface materials are needed to reduce the reverberation time below 1.6 seconds to 

make the room more comfortable for competition and other events. 

Recommended material for the ceiling is Lapendary style acoustical banners.  These are large (4’x 10’) 

banners made from vinyl covered fiberglass blankets.  They are secured to the ceiling with a slight droop in 

the middle.  The droop allows increased air space behind the panel and helps the overall sound absorption. 

https://www.gordon-inc.com/products/creative-materials-for-acoustics/acoustical-banners/ 

 

 

P A R T  I  -  R E P O R T  &  S C O P E  

314

Item XIII. 13.

https://www.gordon-inc.com/products/creative-materials-for-acoustics/acoustical-banners/


 

 

  

P A R T  I  -  S C O P E  ( C O N T . )  

Recommended material for the wall covering is Fabric covered acoustical wall panels.  These are smaller 

(4’x8’) fabric covered fiberglass panels attached to the walls 12’ above floor.  They mount with “Z” clips on 

the concrete surface.  https://avlonline.com/acoustech-high-impact-panels/ 

The following figures show our recommended placement for these acoustical materials. 

Figure 1: Reflected Ceiling showing Acoustical Banner panel placement. 

 

 

 

 

315

Item XIII. 13.

https://avlonline.com/acoustech-high-impact-panels/


 

 

 

  P A R T  I  -  S C O P E  ( C O N T . )  

Figure 2: Side wall panels 

  
Figure 3: End wall panels 

 

316

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 
   

C O M P O N E N T  P R I C E  

CEILING MOUNTED LAPENDARY ACOUSTIC PANELS + WALL MOUNTED 

FIBERGLASS ACOUSTIC PANELS (INSTALLED) 
$120,751 

   *Estimated 7% sales tax (EFFINGHAM, GA) N/A 

Total System Investment $120,751 

P A R T  I I  -  P R I C I N G  &  A C C E P T A N C E  
 

317

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

 

T E R M S  O F  S E R V I C E  

Please Note: Pricing includes equipment, shipping, delivery, programming, installation, turn -on, training, 

and one-year warranty. Necessary sales tax and permits are not included and if required are the 

responsibility of the Owner. 

 

This proposal is based on current manufacturers’ pricing and is good for 45 days. If, after acceptance for 

this proposal, we are notified of impending price increases we will arrange for early shipment of affected 

materials to a secured jobsite storage (by you) or to Stage Front  warehouse, if you prefer. You will be 

responsible for secured storage at the jobsite of the materials, unless you opt for storage at the Stage 

Front warehouse, in which case we will insure the materials until delivery. In either case, you will be 

invoiced for materials delivered. If storage at a bonded warehouse is required, you will bear that cost.  

 

Delivery: 12 – 16 weeks after receipt of order  

FOB: Destination 

Terms: 30% Deposit, 40% @ Receipt of Equipment, 20% @ Installation, Final 10% upon owner acceptance. 

 

Prime Contractor agrees that if the cost of supplies/equipment used for a particular Task Order increase 

by more than 3% as a result of a change in federal law, including but not limited to any new or increased 

Federal excise tax or duty, Prime Contractor will request a price adjustment from the Customer and will 

pass the price adjustment to the Subcontractor. Subcontractor will provide Prime Contractor will all the 

necessary documentation to support the adjustment request to the Customer. If a pproved by the 

Customer, Subcontractor may increase the price of the applicable Task Order by a commensurate 

amount. If the request is rejected, Stage Front reserves the right to terminate the task order and invoice 

for labor and materials utilized through the termination.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

S U B M I T T E D  B Y :  A C C E P T E D  B Y :  

Chuck Cooper, 11/7/2022 Name, Date 

Please print name and title below 

318

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

P A R T  I I I  –  S E R V I C E S  

I N S T A L L A T I O N :  

During the system installation phase, Stage Front will:  

◼ Deliver equipment to jobsite. 

◼ Furnish, install, and terminate all equipment in this proposal, as well as clearly and permanently label 

field wiring. 

◼ Install the sound panels and rigging.  

◼ Install, test, and trim all rigging hardware.  

◼ Identify all ceiling aperture locations.  

◼ Remove all trash and debris related with Stage Front work.  

 

T U R N - O N :  

At system turn-on, Stage Front will: 

◼ Test, adjust, and demonstrate all systems  

◼ Provide training on the operation and maintenance of the system 

 

M A N U A L :  

Stage Front will supply electronic copies of instruction / maintenance manuals for the equipment.  

 

W A R R A N T Y :  

Stage Front warrants this installation to the original purchaser to be free from defects in material and 

workmanship under normal use during the warranty period .  

 

◼ Materials: Products will be repaired or replaced, at Stage Front’s option, without charge for a period 

of 365 days after first beneficial use or completion of installation, whichever comes first.  

 

◼ Labor: Products will be repaired or replaced, at Stage Front’s, without charge for a period of 90 days 

after first beneficial use or completion of installation, whichever comes first.  

 

  

319

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

  

320

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

321

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

322

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

323

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

324

Item XIII. 13.



 

 

 

 

Chuck Cooper , Systems Consultant  

912.721.5710 direct  |  912.398.4644 cell  

chuck.cooper@stagefront.net  

 

325

Item XIII. 13.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Coastal Incentive Grant for Stormwater Master Plan Year 2 

Agreement 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Deputy Director of Finance 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 12/6/22 

Item Description: Consideration to approve the Year 2 agreement for the Coastal 
Incentive Grant for stormwater master planning.  

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval for the Year 2 contract for the Coastal Incentive Grant for 
the stormwater master planning. 
 

Executive Summary: 

The CIG Program is a competitive pass-through subgrant program made possible by a 

grant to GDNR from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) 

through congressional funding pursuant to the Coastal Zone Management Act. Each year, 

the GCMP allocates a portion of its federal funding to the Coastal Incentive Grant 

program. These subgrants may be awarded to qualified county and municipal 

governments, regional commissions, state-affiliated research or educational institutions, 

or state agencies (except GDNR), provided the project takes place entirely within the 

eleven-county service area of the program. The CIG Program service area includes 

Brantley, Bryan, Camden, Chatham, Charlton, Effingham, Glynn, Liberty, Long, McIntosh 

and Wayne counties. 

Effingham County plans to utilize the funds for a Stormwater Master Plan. 

Background: 
1. This is a two-year grant.  The grant is currently in its second year, with the first 

year’s contract approved by the Board last fall.  The cost share requirements are as 
follows: 
YEAR 1 

Category CIG Match Total 

Personnel  $15,084.00(in-kind) $  15,084.00 

Fringe  $  5,731.92(in-kind) $    5,731.92 

Supplies  $  1,893.96 $    1,893.96 

Subcontract $80,000.00 $56,800.00 $136,800.00 

Other  $     500.00 $       500.00 

Total $80,000.00 $80,009.88 $160,009.88 

 
 
 

326

Item XIII. 14.



 
YEAR 2 

Category CIG Match Total 

Personnel  $17,707.20(in-kind) $  17,707.20 

Fringe  $  6,728.74(in-kind) $    6,728.74 

Supplies    

Subcontract $80,000.00 $55,800.00 $135,800.00 

Other  $     275.00 $       275.00 

Total $80,000.00 $80,510.94 $160,510.94 

2. This is a reimbursement grant. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the grant agreement. 
2. Do not approve the grant agreement. 
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – approve the grant agreement.  

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Matching is annually $1.00 federal to $1.00 local (1:1). 

 

Attachments: 

Year 2 agreement for the Coastal Incentive Grant for stormwater master planning 

  

 

 

 

327

Item XIII. 14.



GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 
COASTAL INCENTIVE GRANT AWARD AGREEMENT 

CYCLE  

This Award Agreement is entered into as of this _____ day of ____________, 2022, between the 
Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Resources Division (“DNR”), 
and                                                                                       (“Subgrantee”).  In consideration of 
the mutual promises and terms and conditions set forth in this Award Agreement, the parties 
covenant and agree as follows: 

A. DEFINITIONS
“Subgrantee’s Application” means the Coastal Incentive Grant (CIG) application attached as 
Exhibit A to this Award Agreement.
“Grant Program” means the Coastal Incentive Grant Program as set forth in Chapter 391-2-5-.01 
of the Rules and Regulations of the State of Georgia. 
"Intellectual Property" means patentable inventions, including patentable business methods and 
processes, copyrightable materials, trademarks, software, and trade secrets. 
“Life of the Project” is twenty (20) years after completion of the Project Services and includes 
expected repairs to a facility. 
“Match Funds” means the minimum amount the Subgrantee is committed to provide as non-
federal match funds in the Subgrantee’s Application. 
“OMB” means the federal Office of Management and Budget. 
“Project Services” means the deliverables required under this Award Agreement, including the 
Scope of Work and the special conditions set forth in the attached Exhibit A. 
“Records” means Subgrantee’s books, records, documents, and other evidence pertaining to the 
costs and expenses of Subgrantee’s performance of the Project Services. 
“Reimbursable Amount” means the maximum amount established in Section F that DNR will 
pay to Subgrantee under this Award Agreement on a reimbursable basis for allowable expenses 
incurred performing the Project Services. 
“Reimbursable Cost(s)” means the portion of Subgrantee’s Request for Reimbursement that is 
approved by DNR for reimbursement of allowable expenses Subgrantee incurs in the 
performance of the Project Services. 
“Request for Reimbursement” means Subgrantee’s invoice for reimbursement of allowable 
expenses incurred performing the Projects Services submitted to DNR on a form approved by 
DNR. 
“Scope of Work” means the Scope of Work included in Subgrantee’s Application. 

13th September

25
Stormwater Master Plan Y2

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

328

Item XIII. 14.



Revised 5-2016 

Award Agreement 
Page 2 

B. PURPOSE
The purpose of the Coastal Incentive Grant Program is to provide financial assistance in the form 
of grants to eligible county and municipal governments, state agencies other than DNR, and 
educational and research institutions for projects that further the mission of the Coastal 
Management Program.  After review and evaluation of Subgrantee’s application, DNR 
determined that Subgrantee is an eligible entity and that Subgrantee’s proposal meets the 
qualifications and requirements for financial assistance in accordance with the CIG Program. 

C. AWARD
DNR awards a financial assistance subgrant to Subgrantee consistent with the terms of this 
Award Agreement.  Subgrantee accepts the award of a financial assistance subgrant and will 
comply with the terms and conditions of this Award Agreement. Subgrantee will complete all 
Project Services in a manner reasonably satisfactory to DNR. 

The following provision applies if this Award Agreement is for a 306A low-cost construction 
project and survive beyond the term of this project provided for in Section D: Funds shall only 
be used for projects on publicly owned or leased land, or land for which a public easement has 
been obtained. If the property is subject to a reversionary clause and reverts, then the Subgrantee 
shall reimburse DNR for the full amount of funds received for the project. If the land ceases to 
be available, or the project ceases to be used, for the intended use at any time during the Life of 
the Project, the Subgrantee shall reimburse DNR the full amount of the funds received for the 
project. 

D. TERM
The initial term of this Award Agreement begins on     and continues until       

   or until the Project Services required under this Award Agreement are 
completed, whichever is earlier.  DNR reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to extend the term 
of this Award Agreement, if the extension is determined to be in the best interest of DNR. Any 
extension is contingent upon the availability of funds lawfully appropriated and applicable to the 
deliverables described in the Scope of Work. 

E. TIME OF PERFORMANCE
Time is of the essence in the performance of this Award Agreement. Subgrantee will submit 
semi-annual interim narrative Status Reports and a narrative Final Report to DNR in accordance 
with the following schedule and in a format provided by the DNR: 

• Interim Status Report(s) by and every six months thereafter until 
project completion.

• Final Report no more than seven (7) days after completion of the Project Services or any
earlier expiration or termination date.

October 1, 2022
September 31, 2023

April 7, 2023

329

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 3 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

 
F. REIMBURSABLE AMOUNT 
DNR will reimburse Subgrantee a maximum of                             for allowable expenses 
Subgrantee incurs in the performance of the Project Services. 

G. MATCH FUNDS 
Subgrantee will contribute a minimum of                           in Match Funds toward its 
performance of the Project Services. Subgrantee will include summary information concerning 
its contribution of the Match Funds in the Final Report submitted to DNR under this Award 
Agreement. If the Reimbursable Costs actually payable to the Subgrantee are less than the 
maximum Reimbursable Amount, Subgrantee is only obligated to contribute Match Funds in the 
same ratio as the actual Reimbursable Costs is to the maximum Reimbursable Amount.  

H.  DISBURSEMENT OF AWARD 
(1) DNR, in its reasonable discretion, will determine when Subgrantee’s performance of the 
Project Services is satisfactory and complete. However, the final disbursement shall not occur 
until the Final Report and all deliverables and work products are approved by DNR. 
(2) If Subgrantee is a local government, the disbursement of funds under this Award Agreement 
is contingent upon Subgrantee’s status as a Qualified Local Government under the Georgia 
Planning Act (O.C.G.A § 50-8-1 et seq.) and compliance with the audit requirements of O.C.G.A 
§ 36-81-7. 
(3) DNR reserves the right to withhold disbursement of funds and require the return of all funds 
previously disbursed if Subgrantee fails to fulfill its obligations under this Award Agreement or 
fails to comply with the requirements of the Georgia Planning Act or the audit requirements, if 
applicable. 
(4) Subgrantee will submit a Request for Reimbursement upon completion of the Project 
Services.  If requested, Subgrantee must include documentation satisfactory to DNR to support 
all expenditures associated with a Request for Reimbursement. Each Request for Reimbursement 
must be accompanied by a written statement from Subgrantee certifying that the requested funds 
have been utilized by Subgrantee solely in the performance of the Project Services and that 
copies of records, documents and other evidence (including without limitation purchase orders, 
agreements, canceled checks, invoices, bills of lading and the like) sufficiently supporting the 
requested funds are maintained at Subgrantee’s place of business and are available for review by 
DNR, the State Auditor or either’s representative during normal business hours. DNR, in its sole 
discretion, may permit Subgrantee to submit interim Requests for Reimbursement. In no event 
will DNR consider an interim Request for Reimbursement until the tasks for which 
reimbursement is sought are completed. A Request for Reimbursement must be submitted to the 
following person:  
  Beth Tasciotti-Grants Coordinator 
 beth.tasciotti@dnr.ga.gov 

80000

80510

330

Item XIII. 14.

mailto:beth.tasciotti@dnr.ga.gov


Award Agreement 
Page 4 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

(5) Upon acceptance of the Project Services and receipt of all required documentation, DNR will 
conduct its review of the Request for Reimbursement. Upon completion of its review, DNR will 
provide written notification to Subgrantee as to which portion(s) of the Request for 
Reimbursement are Reimbursable Costs. Except as otherwise provided in this Award 
Agreement, DNR will promptly pay the Reimbursable Costs subsequent to DNR’s written 
notification to Subgrantee of its approval. In no event is Subgrantee entitled to receive more than 
the Reimbursable Amount. 
(6) DNR will send payment of the Reimbursable Costs to the attention of the following 
person(s): 

NAME:   
ADDRESS:  
    
EMAIL:    
PHONE:                  

Subgrantee may designate a different person(s) to receive payment by written notice to DNR. 

I. INTERIM STATUS REPORTS 
Subgrantee will provide DNR with one (1) electronic copy of all interim narrative Status Reports 
outlining the status of Subgrantee’s implementation of the Project Services. Subgrantee will 
submit the reports to DNR in accordance with the schedule set forth in Section E and in a format 
provided by DNR. The Subgrantee shall include a funding acknowledgement in accordance 
with Section Y of this Award Agreement on the title or cover page of each interim Status 
Report. 

J. FINAL REPORT 
(1) Subgrantee will submit one (1) electronic copy of the approved narrative Final Report to 
DNR within seven (7) days of the completion of the Project Services. In addition to the Final 
Report, Subgrantee will submit one (1) electronic set of all deliverables, work product and other 
materials required by the Scope of Work within seven (7) days of the completion of the Project 
Services. The Subgrantee shall include a funding acknowledgement in accordance with 
Section Y of this Award Agreement on the title or cover page of the Final Report and on all 
materials required by the Scope of Work. 

(2) Subgrantee will submit one (1) electronic copy of the approved GIS Metadata, if applicable, 
to DNR within seven (7) days of the completion of the Project Services and accompanying the 
Final Report. GIS Metadata must be provided in accordance with the template format supplied to 
Subgrantee by DNR.  

(3) In the event that this Award Agreement is terminated prior to completion of the Project 
Services, Subgrantee will submit one (1) electronic copy, within seven (7) days of the 
termination date, of a narrative Final Report of the work completed prior to the termination date, 
as well as an electronic copy of all materials and metadata in development or completed by the 
termination date. 

Mark Barnes
804 South Laurel Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329

revenuedesk@effinghamcount
912-754-8012

331

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 5 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

K. USE OF FUNDS / BUDGET CHANGES 
(1) DNR will only approve the portion of Subgrantee’s Request for Reimbursement that is 
reimbursement for monies that are not part of the Match Fund and that are expended by 
Subgrantee in performing the Project Services and for no other purpose. In the event DNR 
determines that all or part of the Reimbursable Costs were utilized for any purpose other than the 
Project Services, DNR may treat such unauthorized use of the Reimbursable Costs as a material 
default by Subgrantee and, in addition to any other remedies available to it under this Award 
Agreement, at law or in equity, may require the return of all funds previously disbursed to 
Subgrantee. 
(2) No changes between categories in the budget set forth in the Subgrantee’s CIG Application 
greater than 10% of the total budget are authorized without DNR’s prior written approval.  
Subgrantee will give DNR written notice of any changes between categories in the budget that 
are less than 10% of the total budget at the time the change is made. 

L. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
Any Intellectual Property arising out of the performance of this Award Agreement shall be 
governed by 15 CFR Part 24 Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative 
Agreements to State and Local Governments, Section 24.34. 
Subgrantee represents that it owns all right, title and interest in and to any Intellectual Property 
that Subgrantee uses in connection with this Award Agreement or otherwise has the right to use 
such Intellectual Property and license it to DNR without infringing or violating any law or right 
of any third party.  
Subgrantee grants DNR a worldwide, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license in perpetuity to 
use, reproduce, exhibit, transmit and distribute any such Intellectual Property written, created, 
printed, invented or reduced to practice in connection with this Award Agreement and to create 
derivative works to such Intellectual Property. 

M. RECORDS 
(1) Accounting System/Records Retention Requirements 

a. Subgrantee will maintain books, records, documents, and other evidence pertaining to the 
costs and expenses of this Award Agreement to the extent and in such detail as will 
properly reflect all costs for which Reimbursable Costs are paid and Match Funds are 
credited.  Subgrantee’s accounting procedures and practices will conform to the 
requirements of the Government Accounting Standards Board. Valuation of in-kind 
contributions and documentation of cost and cost-share will be consistent with accepted 
accounting principles and the applicable state and federal regulations, including without 
limitation OMB Circular A-87. 

b. Subgrantee will preserve and make available its Records to any authorized representative 
of DNR or the Georgia State Auditor for a period of five (5) years after the expiration of 
this Award Agreement. If this Award Agreement is completely or partially terminated, 
the Records relating to the terminated work must be preserved and made available for a 

332

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 6 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

period of five (5) years from the date of any resulting final settlement. Subgrantee will 
retain any Records that relate to appeals, litigation or the settlements of claims arising out 
of the performance of this Award Agreement, or any costs and expenses to which 
exception has been taken by the State Auditor or any of his duly authorized 
representatives, until such appeals, litigation, claims or exceptions are finally concluded. 

c. Subgrantee may, with DNR’s prior written consent and in fulfillment of its obligation to 
retain the Records, substitute photographs, microphotographs or other authentic 
reproductions of the Records, after the expiration of two (2) years following the date of 
payment of the respective Reimbursable Cost to which such Records relate. DNR, in its 
sole discretion and with the concurrence of the State Auditor, may authorize Subgrantee 
to retain original Records for a shorter period of time. 

(2) Audit Requirements 
The Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts (the “State Auditor”), or its duly authorized 
representatives, shall have the right, at any time and with reasonable notice, to enter into the 
Subgrantee’s premises, or other such places where Services under this Agreement are being 
performed, to inspect, monitor, assess, audit, or otherwise evaluate the work performed or being 
performed under this Agreement. The State Auditor may also enter at any time and with 
reasonable notice when the State Auditor deems it necessary in order to conduct any activity 
within his or her authority or responsibility, including without limitation special examinations 
and audits of the Department, Subgrantee, subcontractor, and persons and entities other than 
them. These efforts include special examinations and audits which are, without limitation, 
financial audits (including financial related audits and financial statement audits), compliance 
audits, performance/operational audits, information systems and security audits, and 
vulnerability assessments or reviews with respect to Subgrantee’s performance hereunder. 
Subgrantee shall grant the State Auditor and any representatives thereof full and complete access 
to Subgrantee’s books and records as they relate to this agreement or the services, or as they may 
be required in order for the State Auditor to ascertain any facts relative to Subgrantee’s 
performance hereunder. Subgrantee shall provide the State Auditor or any representatives thereof 
such information and assistance as requested in order to perform such audits; provided, however, 
that the parties shall endeavor to arrange such assistance in such a way that it does not interfere 
with the performance of Subgrantee’s duties and obligations hereunder. Subgrantee shall require 
as a condition of any subcontract that the subcontractor expressly acknowledges and agrees to be 
bound by the same audit requirements by which Subgrantee is bound under this Agreement. 
If Subgrantee is a non-profit organization as defined in O.C.G.A. § 50-20-2(5), Subgrantee will 
comply with the provisions of O.C.G.A. § 50-20-1 et seq., including without limitation O.C.G.A. 
§ 50-20-3. 
(3) Additional Fiscal Requirements 
a. If a governmental organization, Subgrantee will comply with OMB Uniform Guidance: 

Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards; and 48 CFR 31.2 (as applicable). 

333

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 7 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

b. If an educational institution, Subgrantee will comply with OMB Uniform Guidance: Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards; 
and 48 CFR 31.2 (as applicable). 

c. Subgrantee will comply with any other provisions of law that apply to receiving state and 
federal funds. 

(4) Open Records Act 
Because DNR is a public agency of the State of Georgia, information received by DNR or 
Subgrantee in the performance of this Award Agreement is subject to disclosure under Georgia’s 
open records laws, O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 et seq. (“Open Records Act”), unless exempt therefrom.  
Subgrantee shall timely respond to any Open Records Act request and will provide DNR with 
written notice of the receipt of the Open Records Act request and its response. 

N. RIGHT TO INSPECT WORK 
DNR, the State Auditor of Georgia or their authorized representatives, have the right to enter 
onto the premises of Subgrantee and all subcontractors or such other places where the Project 
Services are being performed during normal business hours for the purpose of inspecting, 
monitoring or otherwise evaluating such work. 

O. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES 
DNR and Subgrantee are independent contractors and not agents or employees of the other party.  
No party has authority to make any statements, representations or commitments of any kind, or 
to take any action, that will be binding on the other party. 

P. TRADING WITH STATE EMPLOYEES 
DNR and Subgrantee certify that this Award Agreement does not and will not violate the 
provisions of O.C.G.A. § 45-10-20 et seq. in any respect. 

Q. TERMINATION 
(1) DNR may terminate this Award Agreement for the convenience of DNR by providing thirty 
(30) days written notice of the termination date to Subgrantee. 
(2) If, through any cause, Subgrantee fails to fulfill in a timely and proper manner its entire 
obligations under this Award Agreement or if Subgrantee violates any of the covenants, 
agreements or stipulations of this Award Agreement, DNR may give Subgrantee written notice 
of its default, specifying the nature thereof. Subgrantee will have fifteen (15) calendar days from 
the date of receipt of such notice to cure its default. If the Subgrantee fails to cure the default 
within the fifteen (15) day notice period, DNR may terminate this Award Agreement by a 
subsequent written notice of termination to Subgrantee specifying the termination date and DNR 
may pursue any other rights and remedies available to it under this Award Agreement, at law or 
in equity. In the event DNR terminates this Award Agreement for cause under this subsection, 
DNR will not disburse any funds to Subgrantee under this Award Agreement and may require 
the return of all funds previously disbursed to Subgrantee. 

334

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 8 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

(3) In the event of an early termination for convenience under subsection Q1, DNR’s obligations 
under this Award Agreement are fully discharged at the time that it reimburses Subgrantee for all 
expenses reasonably incurred prior to the termination date in satisfactory performance of this 
Award Agreement, including all non-cancelable obligations; provided, however, that where 
Subgrantee is contractually bound by this Award Agreement to provide matching funds, DNR 
will reimburse Subgrantee only in the ratio established by dividing the Reimbursable Amount by 
the Match Funds.  In no event, however, will the total payments made by DNR under this Award 
Agreement exceed the Reimbursable Amount. 
(4) If Subgrantee is a Regional Development Commission or a nonprofit corporation either 
created or controlled or caused to be created by the Commission and DNR finds that Subgrantee 
is failing or has failed to fully cooperate with the Georgia Department of Community Affairs in 
its conduct of a performance audit, this Award Agreement will be cancelled pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. § 50-8-35(i). 

R. CHOICE OF LAW AND VENUE 
This Award Agreement is made in the State of Georgia and will be construed in accordance with 
Georgia law, without application of conflicts of law principles. The exclusive jurisdiction for 
contract actions against DNR is the Superior Court of Fulton County, Georgia. 

S. FORCE MAJEURE 
DNR and Subgrantee are not responsible for any failure or delay in the performance of any 
obligations under this Award Agreement caused by acts of God, flood, fire, war, natural disaster 
or public enemy. 

T. NOTICES 
Any notice given under this Award Agreement will be in writing and is effective (i) at the time of 
the delivery if personally delivered, or (ii) the next business day following deposit with a nationally 
recognized mail or courier service, if addressed to the recipient as follows: 

TO SUBGRANTEE: TO DNR: 
Name:        
Title:         
Address:  
     
Email:        
Telephone:  
Fax:             

Name:        Beth Tasciotti 
Title:          Grants Coordinator 
Address:     GA DNR-Coastal Resources Div. 
                   One Conservation Way, Suite 300 
                   Brunswick, Georgia 31520-8687 
Email:        beth.tasciotti@dnr.ga.gov  
Telephone: 912-262-3048 
Fax:            912-262-3131 

  

Timothy Callanan

County Manager
804 South Laurel Street
Springfield, Georgia 31329

purchasing@effinghamcounty.
912-754-8012

335

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 9 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

Either party may from time to time, by notice to the other, designate a different person or title, or 
both if applicable, or address to which notices to said party are to be given. 

U. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 
Subgrantee will comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances or executive orders, including, without limitation, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 1201 et seq.) and all other labor, employment and anti-discrimination 
laws. 

V. AUTHORITY 
Subgrantee represents that it has full power and authority to enter into and perform this Award 
Agreement, and that the person signing on behalf of Subgrantee has been properly authorized 
and empowered to enter into this Award Agreement. Subgrantee further acknowledges that it has 
read this Award Agreement, understands it and agrees to be bound by it. 

W. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE 
(1) Subgrantee certifies that: 

A.  A drug-free workplace will be provided for Subgrantee’s employees and/or 
subcontractors during the performance of this Award Agreement; and 
B.  It will secure from any subcontractor hired to work in a drug-free workplace the 
following written certification: "As part of the subcontracting agreement with 
(Subgrantee’s Name), (Subcontractor's Name) certifies to (Subgrantee’s Name) that a 
drug-free workplace will be provided for the subcontractor's employees during the 
performance of this Award Agreement pursuant to paragraph 7 of subsection B of Code 
Section 50-24-3." 

(2) Subgrantee understands and acknowledges that it may be suspended, terminated, or debarred 
if it is determined that: 

A. Subgrantee has made false certification; or 
B. Subgrantee has violated such certification by failure to carry out the requirements 

of O.C.G.A. § 50-24-3. 

X. ASSIGNMENT 
Subgrantee may assign this Award Agreement or any right or obligation to a third party only 
with the prior written consent of DNR or as designated in SUBGRANTEE’s Scope of Work in 
Exhibit A. 
Y. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
Subgrantee shall include a CRD and NOAA logo ,along with the following acknowledgement, 
on all work products, including without limitation any interim status reports, the final report and 
all information, data, materials and deliverables, published or distributed electronically or hard 
copy, and acknowledgement pages of websites and web pages produced as a result of this Award 
Agreement: 

336

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 10 
 
 

Revised 5-2016    

“Financial assistance provided by the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, as amended, 
administered by the Office for Coastal Management, National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration and passed through the Coastal Management Program of the Department of 
Natural Resources.” 
Any structure completed in whole or in part with funds under this Award Agreement must 
include a permanent sign, acknowledging the source of funding. 

Z. CONTRACT INTERPRETATION 
(1) All provisions of this Award Agreement are severable, and the unenforceability, illegality or 
invalidity of any of the provisions will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions. 
(2) If a court of competent jurisdiction finds any provision of this Award Agreement to be 
ambiguous, an interpretation consistent with the purpose of this Award Agreement that would 
render the provision valid is favored over any interpretation that would render it invalid. 
(3) In the event of a conflict, inconsistency or incongruity between this Award Agreement and 
Subgrantee’s CIG Application, this Award Agreement controls. 
(4) DNR and Subgrantee fully negotiated this Award Agreement and, consequently, the Award 
Agreement will be interpreted fairly and consistently in accordance with its terms. 
(5) Any covenant, representation, or provision of this Award Agreement that by its nature 
survives the expiration or termination of this Award Agreement continues in full force and 
effect. 
(6) No amendment to this Award Agreement is effective unless it is in writing and signed by 
duly authorized representatives of DNR and Subgrantee. 
(7) No waiver of any of the provisions of this Award Agreement is binding unless executed in 
writing by the party making the waiver. No waiver of one provision constitutes a waiver of any 
other provision nor does it constitute a continuing waiver. 
(8) The section headings are for reference purposes only and are not a part of this Award 
Agreement. 
(9) All exhibits referenced in this Award Agreement are incorporated by reference and form an 
integral part of this Award Agreement. 

(10) This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between DNR and Subgrantee 
with respect to the subject matter and all prior agreements, representations, statements, 
negotiations and undertakings are superseded by this Award Agreement. 
 

 

 

337

Item XIII. 14.



Award Agreement 
Page 11 

Revised 5-2016 

In witness whereof, the parties have executed this Award Agreement effective the date first 
written above. Electronic signatures, digital signatures, fax signatures, and scanned signatures 
are acceptable for this Agreement in compliance with the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act 
(UETA). 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL 
RESOURCES, COASTAL RESOURCES 
DIVISION ("DNR") 

_______________________________ 
Name & Title: Doug Haymans, Director 

(“Subgrantee”) 

_____________________________________ 
Name:
Title:  

 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

338

Item XIII. 14.



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SUBGRANTEE SCOPE OF 

WORK 

339

Item XIII. 14.



CIG Full Application: Eric Larson - 24 - Stormwater Master Plan

Linked Pre-Application Form - DO NOT DELETE
24 - Stormwater Master Plan

Project Information
Project Title
24 - Stormwater Master Plan

Applicant (Institution)
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Project Manager or PI name
Eric Larson

What type of project is this?
Research

Background and Justification
Applicant may maintain the wording from the pre-application. This section may be revised based on Pre-application
Review Team feedback provided.

Click here for instructions

Project Overview
Effingham County is requesting approval for a two-year Coastal Incentive Grant to support the creation of a Stormwater Master 
Plan. The County currently experiences localized flooding due to factors such as intense rainfall events, multi-jurisdictional 
outfalls, aging stormwater systems in disrepair, undersized and/or improperly installed systems and rapid growth. A stormwater 
masterplan would identify areas most susceptible to impacts of flooding, develop long term and short term flood mitigation 
projects, lessen the impact to the coastal water resources from stormwater runoff and allow the County to continue to develop in 
a more sustainable manner.  

The proposed scope of work for the stormwater master plan will involve the following: 

a. The County will identify drainage basins and high-risk areas susceptible to flooding or stormwater runoff impacts. These areas 
will be determined through the analysis of GIS data, updated FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs), development as-builts, 
field surveys and assessments, stormwater maintenance logs, stormwater related citizen requests and hydrologic and hydraulic 
modeling.  

b. Develop a list of short term improvements and long term capital improvement projects utilizing the data collected and H&H 
modeling. The short term improvements will include maintenance related activities that can be performed immediately to 
improve drainage concerns with current department funds.  Long term capital improvement projects will be prioritized based on 
key factors such as construction cost, frequent flooding, risk to the public, water quality concerns and project timelines. The 
projects will include estimated funding requirements and projected timelines. The County recently approved a stormwater 
feasibility study that will allow for the implementation of a stormwater utility to assist in funding the capital improvement projects 
identified in the master plan. 

c. Stakeholder and public meetings will be held to review the findings of the current stormwater system and discuss the 
recommended capital improvement projects. These public outreach events will not only serve as an education opportunity but 
also allow citizens, business owners and property owners to provide feedback on flooding concerns and stormwater runoff issues. 
Information collected during the meetings will be evaluated and incorporated into the final long term capital improvement project 
list. 

d. Effingham’s current Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Post Construction Stormwater Management ordinance and 
other applicable stormwater standards will be reviewed and updated to reduce stormwater runoff impacts for future 
developments.

340

Item XIII. 14.

https://coastalgadnr.org/sites/default/files/crd/CZM/CIG/RFP/CIG.Application%20Instructions.C24.pdf


Coastal Management Relevance and other Federal Funding
In 2014, Effingham County was designated as a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4). As part of the permit 
requirements, the County developed a Stormwater Management Plan (SWMP) for program implementation. One of the best 
management practices (BMP) in the SWMP is to create a map of the County’s MS4 control structures. The County’s NPDES 
stormwater permitted area is limited to two urbanized areas in the County. Due to budgetary constraints mapping and condition 
assessments are limited to these two areas. Thus, an integral component of the project goal is to update the overall County’s 
primary drainage system mosaic mapping. In addition, the County is experiencing rapid growth and urbanization like many 
communities in the Coastal Nonpoint Source Management Area. If not properly managed, the increase in impervious surfaces can 
negatively impact coastal ecosystems and resources through increases in volume, discharge rates and quality of stormwater 
runoff. The County currently has impaired waters on the Georgia Environmental Protection Division 303d list and Total Maximum 
Daily Load (TMDL) reports must be managed with proposed BMPs to delist and/or meet TMDL requirements. This grant will allow 
the County to improve the best management practices by expanding the areas of concentration to include all high risk areas that 
may be located outside of the current permitted areas. This would include identifying and updating control structure inventory, 
assessing control structures to include criticality ratings, providing public education on stormwater runoff, identifying areas where
additional maintenance is needed and improving County development standards and ordinances. The project will also improve 
flood resilience within the community and reduce stormwater runoff quantity associated with future developments.

Project Goals
The goal of this project is to create a Stormwater Master Plan that will address and mitigate flooding concerns within the County, 
increase public understanding of stormwater management and improve development standards for sustainable watershed 
management by reducing the discharge rate, volume and pollutant loads. The project will identify areas with high risk and/or 
vulnerability for flooding or stormwater runoff impacts, prioritize areas based on risk, catalogue and assess stormwater inventory 
to provide a comprehensive stormwater system map, perform an H&H model of the stormwater system to identify deficiencies 
and flooding projections, identify short-term maintenance activities, long-term stormwater control strategies, funding needs and 
improvement of the existing ordinance and design standards for future development. This project will not only reduce flooding 
concerns and water runoff impacts but will also likely improve the County’s Community Rating System (CRS) flood insurance 
rating. These goals can be easily attained during a two year timeframe. The Stormwater Master Plan will be incorporated into the 
County's comprehensive planning.

Task Description - Year 1
Two-year projects must provide separate Task Descriptions for Year 1 and Year 2. Year 1 tasks must not carry over
into Year 2. Applicant should describe how the task will be completed, by whom, an anticipated completion date,
and what the deliverables will be for that task.

Select number of tasks
3

1. Task Title
Identification of Priority Drainage Areas and High Risk Areas

1. Task Description
The County will collect and analyze data from local zoning maps, GIS data and public domain watershed information including 
LIDAR topography, stormwater maps, as-builts, citizen calls and maintenance records.

1. Task Deliverables
Deliverables will include a report identifying GIS data obtained, maps, maintenance logs, resident logs, and meeting minutes.

1. Anticipated date of completion
12/31/2021

2. Task Title
Inventory and Assessment Analysis

2. Task Description
Analyze the compiled data to determine additional field survey needs for potential missing inventory and inventory assessments. 
Inventory assessments will include criticality ratings and all additional data will be incorporated into the current GIS platform.

2. Task Deliverables
Deliverables will include a report documenting structures inventoried, structures assessed and updated GIS data. 341

Item XIII. 14.



2. Anticipated date of completion
05/31/2022

3. Task Title
Stormwater System Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling

3. Task Description
Create a stormwater model of the County’s primary existing stormwater basins and primary drainage systems to identify the 
current system capacity, deficient stormwater systems and high risk areas.

3. Task Deliverables
Deliverables will include a complete H&H report of the primary drainage system identifying deficiencies and flood prone areas.

3. Anticipated date of completion
09/30/2022

Is this a 2 year project?
Yes

2 Year Projects
Select number of tasks
4

1. Task Title
Identification of Improvement Projects

1. Task Description
The County will identify capital improvement projects necessary to address drainage system deficiencies identified during the 
modeling. This will include descriptions of the improvements, project priority, conceptual plans, costs of improvements and 
projected maintenance costs. Funding availability will also be evaluated to determine project timeframes and additional funding 
options available. The short term improvements will include maintenance related activities that can be performed immediately to 
improve drainage concerns.  Long term capital improvement projects will be prioritized based on key factors such as construction 
cost, frequent flooding, risk to the public, water quality concerns and project timelines. The County will consult with the Coastal 
Resources Division on the project recommendations during this task phase.

1. Task Deliverables
Deliverables will include summaries of recommended capital improvement projects.

1. Anticipated date of completion
04/30/2023

2. Task Title
Development Control Standards

2. Task Description
The current design standards and ordinances will be evaluated and further refined to enhance the stormwater runoff control and 
effectively manage future stormwater quantity and quality impacts in the County. This task will include review of documents such 
as the Georgia Stormwater Management Manual, Coastal Stormwater Supplement, Green Growth Guidelines and Pollution 
Prevention Guidebook for guidance on necessary improvements to the current design standards and ordinances.

2. Task Deliverables
Deliverables will include updated design standards and County ordinances.

2. Anticipated date of completion
05/31/2023

3. Task Title
Public & Stakeholder Meeting

342

Item XIII. 14.



3. Task Description
A public meeting will be held to discuss what a comprehensive stormwater masterplan is and how it benefits the community. The 
recommended capital projects, estimated cost, projected timeline and recommended standards for future development will be 
reviewed and citizens will be allowed to ask questions and provide feedback on the recommendations.
Task 3 Deliverables: Meeting exhibits, attendance log and meeting minutes.

3. Task Deliverables
Meeting exhibits, attendance log and meeting minutes.

3. Anticipated date of completion
05/31/2023

4. Task Title
Stormwater Masterplan Compilation and Adoption

4. Task Description
Compilation of a Stormwater Master Plan utilizing the identified improvement needs and citizen feedback for final presentation 
and adoption by the County. 

4. Task Deliverables
: Completed Stormwater Master Plan report identifying areas of concern, capital improvement projects, and updated design 
standards and ordinances.

4. Anticipated date of completion
09/30/2023

Communications
Applicant must describe a plan for outreach and information dissemination to convey project results, impacts and
benefits to coastal managers and/or the general coastal public, and specifically describe the groups targeted and
estimated numbers of people to be reached. See application instructions for more information.

What type of outreach plan is this?
Education Activities

Please describe.
The County will conduct public outreach events to educate the public on proper stormwater management and provide the public 
with the opportunity to voice their concerns and offer suggestions. This will be accomplished in conjunction with the County's 
Stormwater Management Plan Public Education Program. Some of the planned outreach activities that will be conducted include 
the following:

• Public stakeholder meetings will be conducted as part of Year 2 Task 3 of the project to allow citizen's to provide their concerns 
and ask questions regarding potential projects.

• A public stormwater presentation will be conducted to educate the public on how pollution impacts the storm system. Brochures
will also be provided and be placed at the County's office.

• The County's Local Stormwater Advisory Committee will review the potential projects and citizen feedback to provide 
suggestions for inclusion in the Stormwater Master Plan. 

• Once completed, the Stormwater Master Plan will be presented in a public meeting for final approval. 

Project Timeline and Milestones
Develop a timeline and milestones for each year of the project. The Georgia Coastal Management Program will use
this information to track project progress.

Describe your Timeline and Milestones
Please see the attached timeline and milestones document for details on project task scheduling.

343

Item XIII. 14.



If you would like to upload a table or spreadsheet of your Timeline and Milestones, please do so here.
EffinghamCounty Project Timeline and Milestones.docx

Project Management
Describe how the proposed project will be managed. List all persons directly employed by the applicant who will be
involved in the project, along with their level of involvement. List project partners and describe any volunteer
participation. Letters of support or commitment are only required for partners providing in-kind services and/or
match funding, as well as for those directly listed in the Coastal Management Relevance section.

Project Management
The project will be managed by Assistant County Manager, Eric Larson. Mr. Larson is a licensed civil engineer, a Certified 
Professional in Storm Water Quality, a Certified Planner by the American Institute of Certified Planners, and a Certified Floodplain 
Manager by the American Society of Floodplain Manager. He will manage project consultants, coordinate meetings and the 
transfer of information with the consultants and County staff, ensure project timelines are maintained, manage project expenses 
and review deliverables. 

Additional personnel assigned to the project include Planning and Zoning Manager Teresa Concannon and GIS Technician Danny 
Frazier. Ms. Concannon will provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 by providing zoning maps and as-built data and Year 2 Task 2 
by assisting with ordinance updates. Mr. Frazier will provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 and 2 by reviewing current GIS data 
and updating the GIS platform with new stormwater inventory and assessment information. 

EOM Operations currently provides all public works operations and maintenance services, civil engineering site plan review and 
capital project management, MS4 inspections and reporting, and watershed protection plan long term monitoring. EOM will 
provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 by providing repair and maintenance activities, citizen storm drainage concerns and 
providing a list of areas of concern. It is anticipated that EOM will perform field survey needs as identified in Year 1 Task 2. EOM 
will provide assistance during Year 2 Task 1, 2 and 3 items.

Project Consultant: The County will contract with an engineering consultant to perform the stormwater system hydrologic and 
hydraulic modeling, identification and conceptual plans for improvements, public and stakeholder meeting, and final compilation 
of the Stormwater Master Plan.

Letters of Support can be uploaded in the Final Section of this Application.

Budget Narrative - Year 1
In the budget narrative, describe each budget category as indicated in the Application Instructions and provide
enough detail to show cost relationship to project tasks. Be sure to specify if match is Cash or In-Kind.

Personnel
Personnel – In Kind
1. Eric Larson, PE, AICP, CFM, CPSWQ - Assistant County Manager 
a. Responsibilities: Project management of the project. 
b. Rate: $62.41/Hour
c. Estimated 120 Hours 
d. $7,489.20
2. Teresa Concannon, AICP - Planning and Zoning Manager 
a. Responsibilities: Data compilation of zoning maps and as-builts.
b. Rate: $34.11/Hour
c. Estimated 80 Hours 
d. $2,728.80
3. Danny Frazier, GIS Technician
a. Responsibilities: Updating GIS with new stormwater inventory and assessment information.
b. Rate: $24.33/Hour
c. Estimated 200 Hours 
d. $4,866.00

Fringe Benefits
Fringe Benefits – In Kind
Fringe benefits consist of health insurance, life insurance, payroll taxes, retirement, workmen's compensation and unemployment 
benefits. The current fringe benefit rates are 38% of the employee's salary. $5,731.92

344

Item XIII. 14.



Equipment (Items with cost > $5,000)
N/A

Travel
N/A

Supplies (< $5,000)
1. Samsung Galaxy Tab S7 5G 
a. Field inventory collection device
b. Tablet - $849.99
c. OtterBox Case -  $89.99 
d. Total - $939.98
2. Samsung Galaxy Tab S7 5G 
a. Field inventory collection device
b. Tablet - $849.99
c. OtterBox Case -  $89.99 
d. Total - $939.98
3. Verbatim 8GB USB Flash Drive
a. Data storage 
b. $14.00

Subcontracts
1. EOM Operations Senior Professional Engineer 
a. Responsibilities: Assistance identifying priority drainage areas and high risk areas
b. Rate: $150.00/Hour
c. Estimated 16 Hours 
d. $2,400.00
2. EOM Operations Project Manager
a. Responsibilities: Assistance identifying priority drainage and high risk areas and assistance with inventory and assessment 
analysis.
b. Rate: $110.00/Hour
c. Estimated 80 Hours 
d. $8,800.00
3. EOM Operations Utility Locator
a. Responsibilities: Inventory field survey needs.
b. Rate: $70.00/Hour
c. Estimated 480 Hours 
d. $33,600
4. Consultant – To be determined
a. Responsibilities: Stormwater System Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling
b. $92,000

Construction
N/A

Other
Other – In Kind
Map printing and document reproduction $500

Indirect (Facility and Administrative) Costs
N/A

Budget Narrative - Year 2

345

Item XIII. 14.



Personnel
Personnel – In Kind
1. Eric Larson, PE, AICP, CFM, CPSWQ - Assistant County Manager 
a. Responsibilities: Project management of the project. 
b. Rate: $62.41/Hour
c. Estimated 240 Hours 
d. $14,978.40
2. Teresa Concannon, AICP - Planning and Zoning Manager 
a. Responsibilities: Assistance with ordinance updates
b. Rate: $34.11/Hour
c. Estimated 80 Hours 
d. $2,728.80

Fringe Benefits
Fringe Benefits – In Kind

Fringe benefits consist of health insurance, life insurance, payroll taxes, retirement, workmen's compensation and unemployment 
benefits. The current fringe benefit rates are 38% of the employee's salary. $6,728.74

Equipment (Items with cost > $5,000)
N/A

Travel
N/A

Supplies (< $5,000)
N/A

Subcontracts
1. EOM Operations Senior Professional Engineer 
a. Responsibilities: Assistance with County ordinance and design standards updates
b. Rate: $150.00/Hour
c. Estimated 40 Hours 
d. $6,000.00
2. EOM Operations Professional Engineer
a. Responsibilities: Assistance with County ordinance and design standards updates
b. Rate: $120.00/Hour
c. Estimated 40 hours
d. $4,800.00
3. Consultant – To be determined
a. Responsibilities: Identification and conceptual plans for improvements, public and stakeholder meeting and final compilation of 
the Stormwater Master Plan.
b. $125,000.00

Construction
N/A

Other
Other – In Kind
Brochures and document reproduction $275

Indirect (Facility and Administrative) Costs
N/A

Supplemental Information
Upload Certification Form
EffinghamCounty Certifications Form.pdf

Upload Match/In-kind Letter of Support
 

346

Item XIII. 14.



Upload Referenced Plans
 

Upload Federally Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate Agreement
 

Upload Authorizing Resolution
EffinghamCounty Authorizing Resolution Form.pdf

Upload 306A Project Questionnaire
 

Upload Title Opinion Or Certification of Real Property Ownership
 

Upload Copy of Historic Preservation Division review request letter and response
 

Upload copy of U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service review request letter and response
 

Upload Site Maps
 

Upload Site Plans
 

Additional File Upload
EffinghamCounty CIG Full Application.docx

Additional File Upload
 

Additional File Upload
 

Additional File Upload
 

Additional File Upload
 

I certify that the Authorizing Official has approved this submission.
Yes

Name of Authorizing Official
Wesley M. Corbitt

Title of Authorizing Official
Chairman, ECBOC

Email of Authorizing Official
wcorbitt@effinghamcounty.org

CIG Full Application: File Attachments

If you would like to upload a table or spreadsheet of your Timeline and Milestones, please do so here.
EffinghamCounty Project Timeline and Milestones.docx

Upload Certification Form
EffinghamCounty Certifications Form.pdf

Upload Authorizing Resolution
EffinghamCounty Authorizing Resolution Form.pdf

347

Item XIII. 14.



Additional File Upload
EffinghamCounty CIG Full Application.docx

348

Item XIII. 14.



CIG Budget: Stormwater Master Plan

Name Attachments

Stormwater Master Plan No

Linked Pre-Application Form - DO NOT DELETE
24 - Stormwater Master Plan

Linked Full Application
Eric Larson - 24 - Stormwater Master Plan

Project Title
Stormwater Master Plan

Budget Categories - Year 1
Personnel

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$15,084.00

Total for Personnel (Federal and Non-Federal)
15084

Fringe Benefits

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$5,731.92

Total for Fringe Benefits (Federal and Non-Federal)
5731.92

Equipment (Items >$5,000)

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Equipment (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Travel

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Travel (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

349

Item XIII. 14.



Supplies (Items <$5,000)

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$1,893.96

Total for Supplies (Federal and Non-Federal)
1893.96

Subcontract

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$80,000.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$56,800.00

Total for Subcontract (Federal and Non-Federal)
136800

Construction

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Construction (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Other

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$500.00

Total for Other (Federal and Non-Federal)
500

Indirect

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Indirect (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Total CIG Funds Requested (Federal) - Year 1
80000

Total Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal) - Year 1
80009.88 350

Item XIII. 14.



Total (Federal and Non-Federal) - Year 1
160009.88

Is this a 2 Year Project?
Yes

Budget Categories - Year 2

Personnel

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$17,707.20

Total for Personnel (Federal and Non-Federal)
17707.2

Fringe Benefits

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$6,728.74

Total for Fringe Benefits (Federal and Non-Federal)
6728.74

Equipment (Items >$5,000)

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Equipment (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Travel

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Travel (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Supplies (Items <$5,000)

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00 351

Item XIII. 14.



Total for Supplies (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Subcontract

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$80,000.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$55,800.00

Total for Subcontract (Federal and Non-Federal)
135800

Construction

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Construction (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Other

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$275.00

Total for Other (Federal and Non-Federal)
275

Indirect

CIG Funds Requested (Federal)
$0.00

Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal)
$0.00

Total for Indirect (Federal and Non-Federal)
 

Total CIG Funds Requested (Federal) - Year 2
80000

Total Match Funds Provided (Non-Federal) - Year 2
80510.94

Total (Federal and Non-Federal) - Year 2
160510.94

I certify that the Authorizing Official has approved this submission.
Yes

352

Item XIII. 14.



Name of Fiscal Agent
Christy Carpenter

Title of Fiscal Agent
Finance Director

Email of Fiscal Agent
ccarpenter@effinghamcounty.org

353

Item XIII. 14.



Effingham County Project Timeline and Milestones 

Task Activities Start Date 
Completion 

Date 

1 
Identification of Priority 
Drainage Areas & High 
Risk Areas 

Kickoff Meeting 10/04/2021 10/04/2021 

Collect Existing Data 10/04/2021 11/30/2021 

Analyze data to identify priority 
drainage and high risk areas 

12/01/2021 12/31/2021 

2 
Inventory and 
Assessment Analysis 

Analyze data to identify additional 
surveying needs. 

1/1/2022 1/15/2022 

Field Surveying 1/16/2022 4/30/2022 

Assessment of field surveying data 5/1/2022 5/31/2022 

3 
Stormwater System 
Hydrologic and Hydraulic 
Modeling 

Create an H&H model based on 
collected data 6/1/2022 9/30/2022 

4 
Identification of 
Improvement Projects 

Analysis of model and collected 
data and creation of improvement 
projects 

10/1/2022 2/28/2023 

Internal stakeholder meeting to 
review identified improvement 
projects 

3/01/2023 3/01/2023 

Updates to the improvement 
projects following stakeholder 
meeting. 

3/02/2023 4/30/2023 

5 
Development Control 
Standards 

Review of guidance documents and 
current ordinances and design 
standards 

1/1/2023 3/30/2023 

Updates and additions to current 
ordinances and design standards 

4/1/2023 5/31/2023 

6 
Public Stakeholder 
Meeting 

Meeting with stakeholders and 
public to educate and get input on 
the Stormwater Master Plan 

5/1/2023 5/1/2023 

7 
Stormwater Master Plan 
Compilation and 
Adoption 

Compilation of the Stormwater 
Master Plan draft 

5/2/2023 6/30/2023 

Review of the Stormwater Master 
Plan draft 

7/1/2023 7/30/2023 

Modifications and creation of the 
final Stormwater Master Plan 
document 

8/1/2023 9/30/2023 

354

Item XIII. 14.



355

Item XIII. 14.



356

Item XIII. 14.



357

Item XIII. 14.



358

Item XIII. 14.



Effingham County Stormwater Master Plan 
CIG Full Application 

 
Project Overview 
 
Effingham County is requesting approval for a two-year Coastal Incentive Grant to support the creation 
of a Stormwater Master Plan. The County currently experiences localized flooding due to factors such as 
intense rainfall events, multi-jurisdictional outfalls, aging stormwater systems in disrepair, undersized 
and/or improperly installed systems and rapid growth. A stormwater masterplan would identify areas 
most susceptible to impacts of flooding, develop long term and short term flood mitigation projects, 
lessen the impact to the coastal water resources from stormwater runoff and allow the County to 
continue to develop in a more sustainable manner.   
 
The proposed scope of work for the stormwater master plan will involve the following:  
 

a. The County will identify drainage basins and high-risk areas susceptible to flooding or 
stormwater runoff impacts. These areas will be determined through the analysis of GIS data, 
updated FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs), development as-builts, field surveys and 
assessments, stormwater maintenance logs, stormwater related citizen requests and hydrologic 
and hydraulic modeling.   

 
b. Develop a list of short term improvements and long term capital improvement projects 
utilizing the data collected and H&H modeling. The short term improvements will include 
maintenance related activities that can be performed immediately to improve drainage 
concerns with current department funds.  Long term capital improvement projects will be 
prioritized based on key factors such as construction cost, frequent flooding, risk to the public, 
water quality concerns and project timelines. The projects will include estimated funding 
requirements and projected timelines. The County recently approved a stormwater feasibility 
study that will allow for the implementation of a stormwater utility to assist in funding the 
capital improvement projects identified in the master plan.  

 
c. Stakeholder and public meetings will be held to review the findings of the current stormwater 
system and discuss the recommended capital improvement projects. These public outreach 
events will not only serve as an education opportunity but also allow citizens, business owners 
and property owners to provide feedback on flooding concerns and stormwater runoff issues. 
Information collected during the meetings will be evaluated and incorporated into the final long 
term capital improvement project list.  

 
d. Effingham’s current Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Post Construction 
Stormwater Management ordinance and other applicable stormwater standards will be 
reviewed and updated to reduce stormwater runoff impacts for future developments. 

 

Coastal Management Relevance and other Federal Funding 
 
In 2014, Effingham County was designated as a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4). As part 
of the permit requirements, the County developed a Stormwater Management Plan (SWMP) for 

359

Item XIII. 14.



program implementation. One of the best management practices (BMP) in the SWMP is to create a map 
of the County’s MS4 control structures. The County’s NPDES stormwater permitted area is limited to 
two urbanized areas in the County. Due to budgetary constraints mapping and condition assessments 
are limited to these two areas. Thus, an integral component of the project goal is to update the overall 
County’s primary drainage system mosaic mapping. In addition, the County is experiencing rapid growth 
and urbanization like many communities in the Coastal Nonpoint Source Management Area. If not 
properly managed, the increase in impervious surfaces can negatively impact coastal ecosystems and 
resources through increases in volume, discharge rates and quality of stormwater runoff. The County 
currently has impaired waters on the Georgia Environmental Protection Division 303d list and Total 
Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) reports must be managed with proposed BMPs to delist and/or meet 
TMDL requirements. This grant will allow the County to improve the best management practices by 
expanding the areas of concentration to include all high risk areas that may be located outside of the 
current permitted areas. This would include identifying and updating control structure inventory, 
assessing control structures to include criticality ratings, providing public education on stormwater 
runoff, identifying areas where additional maintenance is needed and improving County development 
standards and ordinances. The project will also improve flood resilience within the community and 
reduce stormwater runoff quantity associated with future developments. 
 

Project Goals 
 
The goal of this project is to create a Stormwater Master Plan that will address and mitigate flooding 
concerns within the County, increase public understanding of stormwater management and improve 
development standards for sustainable watershed management by reducing the discharge rate, volume 
and pollutant loads. The project will identify areas with high risk and/or vulnerability for flooding or 
stormwater runoff impacts, prioritize areas based on risk, catalogue and assess stormwater inventory to 
provide a comprehensive stormwater system map, perform an H&H model of the stormwater system to 
identify deficiencies and flooding projections, identify short-term maintenance activities, long-term 
stormwater control strategies, funding needs and improvement of the existing ordinance and design 
standards for future development. This project will not only reduce flooding concerns and water runoff 
impacts but will also likely improve the County’s Community Rating System (CRS) flood insurance rating. 
These goals can be easily attained during a two year timeframe. The Stormwater Master Plan will be 
incorporated into the County's comprehensive planning. 
 

Task Objectives – Year 1 
 
Task 1: Identification of Priority Drainage Areas and High Risk Areas  
Task 1 Description: The County will collect and analyze data from local zoning maps, GIS data and public 
domain watershed information including LIDAR topography, stormwater maps, as-builts, citizen calls 
and maintenance records. 
Task 1 Deliverables: Deliverables will include a report identifying GIS data obtained, maps, maintenance 
logs, resident logs, and meeting minutes. 
Task 1 Anticipated Completion Date: December 31st, 2021 

 
Task 2: Inventory and Assessment Analysis  
Task 2 Description: Analyze the compiled data to determine additional field survey needs for potential 
missing inventory and inventory assessments. Inventory assessments will include criticality ratings and 
all additional data will be incorporated into the current GIS platform.  

360

Item XIII. 14.



Task 2 Deliverables: Deliverables will include a report documenting structures inventoried, structures 
assessed and updated GIS data. 
Task 2 Anticipated Completion Date: May 31st, 2022 
 
Task 3: Stormwater System Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling 
Task 3 Description: Create a stormwater model of the County’s primary existing stormwater basins and 
primary drainage systems to identify the current system capacity, deficient stormwater systems and 
high risk areas. 
Task 3 Deliverables: Deliverables will include a complete H&H report of the primary drainage system 
identifying deficiencies and flood prone areas.   
Task 3 Anticipated Completion Date: September 30th, 2022 

 
Task Objectives – Year 2 
 
Task 1: Identification of Improvement Projects 
Task 1 Description: The County will identify capital improvement projects necessary to address drainage 
system deficiencies identified during the modeling. This will include descriptions of the improvements, 
project priority, conceptual plans, costs of improvements and projected maintenance costs. Funding 
availability will also be evaluated to determine project timeframes and additional funding options 
available. The short term improvements will include maintenance related activities that can be 
performed immediately to improve drainage concerns.  Long term capital improvement projects will be 
prioritized based on key factors such as construction cost, frequent flooding, risk to the public, water 
quality concerns and project timelines. The County will consult with the Coastal Resources Division on 
the project recommendations during this task phase. 
Task 1 Deliverables: Deliverables will include summaries of recommended capital improvement 
projects. 
Task 1 Anticipated Completion Date: April 30th, 2023 
 
Task 2: Development Control Standards 
Task 2 Description: The current design standards and ordinances will be evaluated and further refined 
to enhance the stormwater runoff control and effectively manage future stormwater quantity and 
quality impacts in the County. This task will include review of documents such as the Georgia 
Stormwater Management Manual, Coastal Stormwater Supplement, Green Growth Guidelines and 
Pollution Prevention Guidebook for guidance on necessary improvements to the current design 
standards and ordinances. 
Task 2 Deliverables: Deliverables will include updated design standards and County ordinances. 
Task 2 Anticipated Completion Date: May 31st 2023 
 
Task 3: Public & Stakeholder Meeting 
Task 3 Description: A public meeting will be held to discuss what a comprehensive stormwater 
masterplan is and how it benefits the community. The recommended capital projects, estimated cost, 
projected timeline and recommended standards for future development will be reviewed and citizens 
will be allowed to ask questions and provide feedback on the recommendations. 
Task 3 Deliverables: Meeting exhibits, attendance log and meeting minutes. 
Task 3 Anticipated Completion Date: May 31st, 2023 
 
Task 4: Stormwater Masterplan Compilation and Adoption 

361

Item XIII. 14.



Task 4 Description: Compilation of a Stormwater Master Plan utilizing the identified improvement needs 
and citizen feedback for final presentation and adoption by the County.   
Task 4 Deliverables: Completed Stormwater Master Plan report identifying areas of concern, capital 
improvement projects, and updated design standards and ordinances. 
Task 4 Anticipated Completion Date: September 30th, 2023 
 

Communications – Educational Activities 
 
The County will conduct public outreach events to educate the public on proper stormwater 
management and provide the public with the opportunity to voice their concerns and offer suggestions. 
This will be accomplished in conjunction with the County's Stormwater Management Plan Public 
Education Program. Some of the planned outreach activities that will be conducted include the 
following: 
 

• Public stakeholder meetings will be conducted as part of Year 2 Task 3 of the project to allow 
citizen's to provide their concerns and ask questions regarding potential projects. 
 
• A public stormwater presentation will be conducted to educate the public on how pollution 
impacts the storm system. Brochures will also be provided and be placed at the County's office. 
 
• The County's Local Stormwater Advisory Committee will review the potential projects and 
citizen feedback to provide suggestions for inclusion in the Stormwater Master Plan.  
 
• Once completed, the Stormwater Master Plan will be presented in a public meeting for final 
approval.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

362

Item XIII. 14.



 
Project Timeline and Milestones 
 

 
 

 
 

Task Activities Start Date 
Completion 

Date 

1 
Identification of Priority 
Drainage Areas & High 
Risk Areas 

Kickoff Meeting 10/04/2021 10/04/2021 

Collect Existing Data 10/04/2021 11/30/2021 

Analyze data to identify priority 
drainage and high risk areas 

12/01/2021 12/31/2021 

2 
Inventory and 
Assessment Analysis 

Analyze data to identify additional 
surveying needs. 

1/1/2022 1/15/2022 

Field Surveying 1/16/2022 4/30/2022 

Assessment of field surveying data 5/1/2022 5/31/2022 

3 
Stormwater System 
Hydrologic and Hydraulic 
Modeling 

Create an H&H model based on 
collected data 6/1/2022 9/30/2022 

4 
Identification of 
Improvement Projects 

Analysis of model and collected 
data and creation of improvement 
projects 

10/1/2022 2/28/2023 

Internal stakeholder meeting to 
review identified improvement 
projects 

3/01/2023 3/01/2023 

Updates to the improvement 
projects following stakeholder 
meeting. 

3/02/2023 4/30/2023 

5 
Development Control 
Standards 

Review of guidance documents and 
current ordinances and design 
standards 

1/1/2023 3/30/2023 

Updates and additions to current 
ordinances and design standards 

4/1/2023 5/31/2023 

6 
Public Stakeholder 
Meeting 

Meeting with stakeholders and 
public to educate and get input on 
the Stormwater Master Plan 

5/1/2023 5/1/2023 

7 
Stormwater Master Plan 
Compilation and 
Adoption 

Compilation of the Stormwater 
Master Plan draft 

5/2/2023 6/30/2023 

Review of the Stormwater Master 
Plan draft 

7/1/2023 7/30/2023 

Modifications and creation of the 
final Stormwater Master Plan 
document 

8/1/2023 9/30/2023 

363

Item XIII. 14.



Project Management 
 
The project will be managed by Assistant County Manager, Eric Larson. Mr. Larson is a licensed civil 
engineer, a Certified Professional in Storm Water Quality, a Certified Planner by the American Institute 
of Certified Planners, and a Certified Floodplain Manager by the American Society of Floodplain 
Manager. He will manage project consultants, coordinate meetings and the transfer of information with 
the consultants and County staff, ensure project timelines are maintained, manage project expenses and 
review deliverables.  
 
Additional personnel assigned to the project include Planning and Zoning Manager Teresa Concannon 
and GIS Technician Danny Frazier. Ms. Concannon will provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 by 
providing zoning maps and as-built data and Year 2 Task 2 by assisting with ordinance updates. Mr. 
Frazier will provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 and 2 by reviewing current GIS data and updating the 
GIS platform with new stormwater inventory and assessment information.  
 
EOM Operations currently provides all public works operations and maintenance services, civil 
engineering site plan review and capital project management, MS4 inspections and reporting, and 
watershed protection plan long term monitoring. EOM will provide assistance during Year 1 Task 1 by 
providing repair and maintenance activities, citizen storm drainage concerns and providing a list of areas 
of concern. It is anticipated that EOM will perform field survey needs as identified in Year 1 Task 2. EOM 
will provide assistance during Year 2 Task 1, 2 and 3 items. 
 
Project Consultant: The County will contract with an engineering consultant to perform the stormwater 
system hydrologic and hydraulic modeling, identification and conceptual plans for improvements, public 
and stakeholder meeting, and final compilation of the Stormwater Master Plan. 

 
Budget Narrative Year 1 
 
Personnel – In Kind 
1. Eric Larson, PE, AICP, CFM, CPSWQ - Assistant County Manager  

a. Responsibilities: Project management of the project.  
b. Rate: $62.41/Hour 
c. Estimated 120 Hours  
d. $7,489.20 

2. Teresa Concannon, AICP - Planning and Zoning Manager  
a. Responsibilities: Data compilation of zoning maps and as-builts. 
b. Rate: $34.11/Hour 
c. Estimated 80 Hours  
d. $2,728.80 

3. Danny Frazier, GIS Technician 
a. Responsibilities: Updating GIS with new stormwater inventory and assessment information. 
b. Rate: $24.33/Hour 
c. Estimated 200 Hours  
d. $4,866.00 

 
Fringe Benefits – In Kind 

364

Item XIII. 14.



Fringe benefits consist of health insurance, life insurance, payroll taxes, retirement, workmen's 
compensation and unemployment benefits. The current fringe benefit rates are 38% of the employee's 
salary. $5,731.92 
 
Equipment  
None 
 
Travel 
None 
 
Supplies 
1. Samsung Galaxy Tab S7 5G  

a. Field inventory collection device 
b. Tablet - $849.99 
c. OtterBox Case -  $89.99  
d. Total - $939.98 

2. Samsung Galaxy Tab S7 5G  
a. Field inventory collection device 
b. Tablet - $849.99 
c. OtterBox Case -  $89.99  
d. Total - $939.98 

3. Verbatim 8GB USB Flash Drive 
a. Data storage  
b. $14.00 

 
Subcontracts 
1. EOM Operations Senior Professional Engineer  

a. Responsibilities: Assistance identifying priority drainage areas and high risk areas 
b. Rate: $150.00/Hour 
c. Estimated 16 Hours  
d. $2,400.00 

2. EOM Operations Project Manager 
a. Responsibilities: Assistance identifying priority drainage and high risk areas and assistance 

with inventory and assessment analysis. 
b. Rate: $110.00/Hour 
c. Estimated 80 Hours  
d. $8,800.00 

3. EOM Operations Utility Locator 
a. Responsibilities: Inventory field survey needs. 
b. Rate: $70.00/Hour 
c. Estimated 480 Hours  
d. $33,600 

4. Consultant – To be determined 
a. Responsibilities: Stormwater System Hydrologic and Hydraulic Modeling 
b. $92,000 

 
Other – In Kind 
Map printing and document reproduction $500 

365

Item XIII. 14.



 
  

Budget Category CIG Request  Match Provided Total                 

Personnel  $15,084.00 (in kind) $15,084.00 

Fringe  $5,731.92 (in kind) $5,731.92 

Equipment    

Travel    

Supplies  $1,893.96 $1,893.96 

Subcontract $80,000.00  $56,800.00 $136,800.00 

Construction    

Other  $500.00 (in kind) $500.00 

Indirect (%)    

TOTAL $80,000.00 $80,009.88 $160,009.88 

 

 
Budget Narrative Year 2 
 
Personnel – In Kind 
1. Eric Larson, PE, AICP, CFM, CPSWQ - Assistant County Manager  

a. Responsibilities: Project management of the project.  
b. Rate: $62.41/Hour 
c. Estimated 240 Hours  
d. $14,978.40 

2. Teresa Concannon, AICP - Planning and Zoning Manager  
a. Responsibilities: Assistance with ordinance updates 
b. Rate: $34.11/Hour 
c. Estimated 80 Hours  
d. $2,728.80 

 
Fringe Benefits – In Kind 
 
Fringe benefits consist of health insurance, life insurance, payroll taxes, retirement, workmen's 
compensation and unemployment benefits. The current fringe benefit rates are 38% of the employee's 
salary. $6,728.74 
 
Equipment  
None 
 
Travel 

366

Item XIII. 14.



None 
 
Supplies 
None 

 
Subcontracts 
1. EOM Operations Senior Professional Engineer  

a. Responsibilities: Assistance with County ordinance and design standards updates 
b. Rate: $150.00/Hour 
c. Estimated 40 Hours  
d. $6,000.00 

2. EOM Operations Professional Engineer 
a. Responsibilities: Assistance with County ordinance and design standards updates 
b. Rate: $120.00/Hour 
c. Estimated 40 hours 
d. $4,800.00 

3. Consultant – To be determined 
a. Responsibilities: Identification and conceptual plans for improvements, public and 

stakeholder meeting and final compilation of the Stormwater Master Plan. 
b. $125,000.00 

 
Other – In Kind 
Brochures and document reproduction $275 
 

 

Budget Category CIG Request  Match Provided Total                 

Personnel  $17,707.20 (in kind) $17,707.20 

Fringe  $6,728.74 (in kind) $6,728.74 

Equipment    

Travel    

Supplies    

Subcontract $80,000.00  $55,800.00 $135,800.00 

Construction    

Other  $275.00 (in kind) $275.00 

Indirect (%)    

TOTAL $80,000.00 $80,510.94 $160,510.94 

 
 
 

367

Item XIII. 14.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Discussion Regarding Enforcing International Fire Code Section  

   510 – Bi-Directional Antenna (BDA) Requirements 

Author:  Clint Hodges, Fire Chief & EMA Director, Ashley Kessler, Building  

   Official, Chris Reed, IT Director 

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 12-06-2022 

Item Description: Discussion Regarding Enforcing International Fire Code (IFC) 

Section 510 – Bi-Directional Antenna (BDA) Requirements 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends moving forward requiring with IFC Section 

510 requirements, for safety of the people inside of those structures and first responders 

responding to incidents in the structures. 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

Within the IFC, Section 510 governs the requirements for installation of BDAs, which amplify the 

radio signal of emergency responder radios in buildings that might otherwise block signal due to 

building size or construction. 

Staff researched other jurisdictions in Georgia and South Carolina that are enforcing this 

Section, and how they are applying the requirements. Staff have drafted a set of requirements 

to satisfy Section 510 and plan to begin enforcing it on qualifying new structures that apply for 

building permits starting January 1, 2023. This requirement will apply to all new (proposed) 

construction and any substantial renovation(s) to existing buildings as defined in OCGA 25-2-14 

(O) (d) approved after January 30, 2014.  

Exceptions: (As permitted by IFC 510.1 (2)) 

The following structures are not required to comply with the requirements of IFC Section 510. 

1. Buildings with no more than 12,000 total square feet, and no floors below grade. 

2. Temporary buildings including tents when permitted by the Building Official.  For 

additions to buildings, unless the exceptions above are met for the area of the 

addition, the entire building being expanded must meet IFC 510 requirements. 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended: Discussion Only 

Other Alternative(s):   

 

Department Review: Fire, Building Official, IT 

Funding Source: N/A 

 

Attachments: Letter 

368

Item XIII. 15.



 

DATE: November 7, 2022 

TO: All Development Services Personnel and Contractors. 

FROM: Building Official, Ashley Kessler 

              Fire Chief, Clint Hodges 

SUBJECT: 2018 International Fire Code (IFC) Section 510 Requirements for New Construction 

 

The Development Services Office will no longer issue Effingham County temporary or permanent approvals of 

occupancy for any building permitted after January 1st, 2023, due to the requirements of IFC 510, Emergency 

Responder Radio Coverage (ERRC), not being met.  Any emergency responder radio coverage required by IFC 

510 must be installed, tested and operational prior to the issuance of a Fire Safety Codes release or Certificate of 

Occupancy.  Building owners and designers must take the necessary steps for the testing, design and installation 

of any required emergency responder radio system prior to the issuance of a temporary or permanent 

certificate of occupancy. 

Application:  All new (proposed) construction and any substantial renovation(s) to existing buildings as defined 

in OCGA 25-2-14 (O) (d) approved after January 30, 2014.  Wired systems as identified in IFC 510.1 exception 1 

will not be accepted in lieu of an ERRC. 

Exceptions: (As permitted by IFC 510.1 (2)) 

The following structures are not required to comply with the requirements of IFC Section 510. 

1.  Buildings with no more than 12,000 total square feet, and no floors below grade. 

2. Temporary buildings including tents when permitted by the Building Official.  For additions to 

buildings, unless the exceptions above are met for the area of the addition, the entire building being 

expanded must meet IFC 510 requirements. 

Testing-Needs Assessment 

1. Effective January 1st, 2023, initial signal strength testing must be completed prior to the approval of 

site plans for new buildings and building additions. 

2. Field testing for signal strength certification will not be conducted prior to the building envelope 

being complete and all doors, windows and exterior openings closed.  In buildings with significant 

internal signal impairments like rack storage or other metal parts, interior room enclosures that 

contain wire mesh security screens, or other interior or exterior features, etc.; all internal 

construction must be complete prior to final testing for signal strength. 

3. Testing will be performed in accordance with IFC 510 using the 20 test cell (per floor) criteria for 

initial testing.  For floors 32,000 sq ft or more, each floor of the building shall be divided into grids of 

approximately 40 ft by 40 ft. 

4. All critical areas as defined in NFPA 72 chapter 24.5.2.2.1 shall be tested individually and shall not be 

counted towards the 20 test cell count. 

369

Item XIII. 15.



5. Testing results will be certified by the testing contractor and forwarded to the Building Official.  A 

copy shall be left on site with the approved plans. 

6. Authorization to operate on frequencies licensed to Effingham County must be obtained from the 

Radio System Manager.  Send request for frequency access to BDA-Request@EffinghamCounty.org  

or  BDARequest@EffinghamCounty.org.  The consent must be maintained in a recordable format 

that can be presented to an FCC representative or other relevant licensee investigating interference.  

Consent may be withdrawn by Effingham County for any reason with notice to the property owner.   

Design Considerations:  All proposed ERRC system shall be designed in accordance with IFC section 510, good 

engineering practices and applicable regulations of the Federal Communications Commission.  Installations shall 

be performed by the FCC certified technician and all components are FCC Certified.  Method of transmission 

throughout building (“leaking coax” or fiber optics).  Penetrations through rated walls will need to be sealed.  

Plans must be verified and approved by the Building Official prior to the installation or modification of an ERRC 

system.  Please send plans in pdf form stamped by qualified design professional to 

Buildinginspections@effinghamcounty.org.  Designer shall state that plans being presented indicate required 

coverage in compliance with IFC section 510.  However, the installer carries the full responsibility to assure the 

installation meets all the applicable National Standards, State and Local codes.  Plans shall be submitted 

through local county building department so that appropriate permits must be obtained through the applicable 

building department.  The plans will be routed to the Building Official through this process the same fire alarm 

projects are routed to Building Official.  If building has a required fire alarm system the fire radio system shall be 

connected to the fire alarm system according to NFPA 72, IFC and other applicable codes. 

Permits will be issued based on a verification of engineering plans.  A design professional stamp to take 

ownership is required. 

1. Site map showing location of target building and closest donor site antenna. 

2. Statement of work and scope of work describing the system design. 

3. Location(s) of all head end equipment and radio transmitters (BDA’s). 

4. Locations of all “critical areas” as defined in NFPA 72, 24.5.2.2.1 with anticipated signal levels (-

95dBm required). 

5. Signal line schematic drawing of antenna lines and data lines. 

6. Type and location of NEMA 4 enclosures. 

7. Battery calculations to show 24 hours capacity at 100% transmit duty cycle. 

8. Floor plans showing distributed antenna system (DAS) antennas and the anticipated signal level in 

each test grid square, see number 4 above also. 

9. System component specification documents including coax cables(s) and data or fiber optic 

components, all transmitters shall be FCC type accepted, provide documentation. 

10. System monitoring shall include: 

a. Monitoring equipment and identification of monitoring station. 

b. Malfunction of BDA loss of primary power or  related electronic system. 

c. Antennas and passive filters are exempt from monitoring. 

d. Fire alarm installing contractor if system is to be monitored by FACP. 

11. Detailed acceptance procedures including all provisions of IFC 510.5.3.-Talk in and talk out signal 

levels must be included for each zone and critical area. 

12. Location of document box – shall be co-located with head and equipment. 

370

Item XIII. 15.

mailto:BDA-Request@EffinghamCounty.org
mailto:BDARequest@EffinghamCounty.org
mailto:Buildinginspections@effinghamcounty.org


Request # Name of Requester Date of Request Building Location Engineer BDA Model

2022-11-23-001 John Doe 11/23/2022 883 Hodgeville Rd Jane Doe Motorolla 80000

371

Item XIII. 15.



Installed by Tested Approved Approved by 

MCA 12/31/2022 1/1/2023 Radio Comm

372

Item XIII. 15.



Staff Report 

Subject:  Sketch Plan (First District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 6, 2022 
Item Description: Ashley Mosley as Agent for Victor Vanderlugt requests approval of a 
sketch plan for “Savannah Marine Terminal Bloomingdale Transloading Facility”. Located at 
1054 Old River Road, zoned I-1.  Map# 304 Parcel# 9 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for Savannah 
Marine Terminal Bloomingdale Transloading Facility on Old River Road. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Appendix B – Subdivision 

Regulations, Article V-Plan and Plat Requirements, Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan. The purpose 

of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review the 

proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, 

the sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other 

professional. Existing features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are 

required to be surveyed for the sketch plan.  

 The property will be served by private well and septic system. A single driveway entrance to 

Old River Road is planned. A new rail spur will be constructed from the existing rail line north 

of the property. 

 A variance to the buffer requirements was approved on May 18, 2021, based on the 

submitted concept plan that indicated that up to 15 containers may be stored onsite while 

awaiting transport via rail or truck.  

 The undisturbed vegetative buffer will be 75’ along the southern property boundary, and 25’ 

along the northern property boundary. Shipping container storage is a heavy industrial use, 

and is not permitted with reduced buffers. 

 An earlier sketch plan application was denied on 10/4/2022. 

 The current sketch plan includes 15 container pads. There are no plans for stacking. 

 At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to 

approve the sketch plan “Savannah Marine Terminal Bloomingdale Transloading Facility”, 

with the follow condition: 

1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 

 The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the sketch plan for “Savannah Marine Terminal Bloomingdale Transloading Facility”. 

1. Stacking of shipping containers is prohibited. 

2. Deny the sketch plan for “Savannah Marine Terminal Bloomingdale Transloading Facility” 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 2. Aerial Photograph 3. Sketch Plan  

373

Item XVII. 1.



374

Item XVII. 1.



375

Item XVII. 1.



376

Item XVII. 1.



377

Item XVII. 1.



378

Item XVII. 1.



379

Item XVII. 1.



380

Item XVII. 1.



381

Item XVII. 1.



Staff Report         Sketch Plan 16 
 
Subject:  Sketch Plan (Fifth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2022 
Item Description: Daniel Ben-Yisrael as Agent for Claude M. & Elizabeth E. Kicklighter 
requests approval of a sketch plan for “Parker’s Convenience Store – Old Augusta Road”. 
Located on Old Augusta Road, zoned B-3. Map# 478 Parcel# 2B 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends conditional approval of a sketch plan for 
“Parker’s Convenience Store – Old Augusta Road”. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Appendix B – Subdivision 

Regulations, Article V-Plan and Plat Requirements, Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan. The purpose 

of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review the 

proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, 

the sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other 

professional. Existing features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are 

required to be surveyed for the sketch plan.  

 Development Services staff met with the development team on June 10 via teleconference, 

and made the following suggestions: 

o Truck traffic should not be routed to Moultrie Drive, which is a private road serving a 

200+ unit multifamily subdivision. Site development plans will have to include a physical 

barrier to prevent trucks from accessing Moultrie Drive.   

o The proposed access to Old Augusta Road does not comply with the county access 

management control policy. The county engineer indicated that the proposed Old 

Augusta Road and Hwy 21 access points would be limited to right in and right out only. 

o If access to Moultrie Drive is approved, then modifications will be needed for the 

intersection of Moultrie Drive and Old Augusta Road with regard to the left turn function. 

 The proposed development is located at the entrance to the county and, therefore, should 

be designed to conform with requirements for signage, landscaping, and architecture  

 The sketch plan shows access through Moultrie Drive, a private road which provides sole 

access to LEO at the Sanctuary, an R-3 multifamily residential community. The proposed 

entrance Parker’s off Moultrie Drive is the location of the development’s school bus stop, as 

well as multiple amenities and the leasing office. Development of the access road should 

be coordinated with owners/managers at LEO at the Sanctuary. 

 The parcel was part of a larger tract partially rezoned to B-3 in 2006. A DRI review was not 

initiated at that time. Upon receipt of the sketch plan application, which indicates that there 

will be up to four diesel fuel pumps, staff initiated the DRI review (#3836). The Regional 

Commission solicited input from neighboring jurisdictions. The City of Savannah submitted 

comments: 

o The Parker’s property is in the Inner Management Zone for Abercorn Creek, where 

intensive uses and impervious cover could negatively affect water quality. As the 

382

Item XVII. 2.



contour map shows drainage to Abercorn Creek from the proposed development site, 

the city recommends that site design include spill responses, site management, and 

stormwater management adequate to protect drinking water supplies. 

 The applicant plans to purchase a 7.31-acre portion of 478-2B, which is B-3, and also a 

.343-acre portion of 478-2C, which is zoned R-3.  Commercial development is not permitted 

in R-3. However, an access road may be an appropriate use. If the parcels are to be 

combined, the .343 segment will need to be rezoned to B-3. 

 Site development plans will have to show the required 20’ vegetative buffer on the boundary 

with the multifamily residential property. 

 A GDOT encroachment permit for access to Hwy 21, and a county encroachment permit for 

access to Old Augusta Road will be required during the development plan review process.  

 Access and intersection design and improvements will need to be addressed in a Traffic 

Impact Assessment.  

 The Old Augusta Road Corridor Study anticipates right-in and right-out only from Moultrie 

Drive at Old Augusta Road, and installation of a Restricted Crossing U-turn Intersection 

(RCUT) on Old Augusta Road, north of Moultrie Drive. 

 After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing 

requirements and recommendations. 

 At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to 

approve a sketch plan for “Parker’s Convenience Store – Old Augusta”. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve request for a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Convenience Store – Old Augusta Road”. 
2. Deny the request of a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Convenience Store – Old Augusta Road”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1   Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 3. Aerial Photograph  

2. Sketch Plan 

383

Item XVII. 2.



384

Item XVII. 2.



385

Item XVII. 2.



386

Item XVII. 2.



387

Item XVII. 2.



388

Item XVII. 2.



389

Item XVII. 2.



390

Item XVII. 2.



391

Item XVII. 2.



392

Item XVII. 2.



393

Item XVII. 2.



394

Item XVII. 2.



395

Item XVII. 2.



396

Item XVII. 2.



397

Item XVII. 2.



398

Item XVII. 2.



399

Item XVII. 2.



400

Item XVII. 2.



401

Item XVII. 2.



402

Item XVII. 2.



403

Item XVII. 2.



404

Item XVII. 2.



405

Item XVII. 2.



406

Item XVII. 2.



407

Item XVII. 2.



408

Item XVII. 2.



409

Item XVII. 2.



410

Item XVII. 2.



411

Item XVII. 2.



412

Item XVII. 2.



413

Item XVII. 2.



414

Item XVII. 2.



415

Item XVII. 2.



416

Item XVII. 2.



417

Item XVII. 2.



418

Item XVII. 2.



419

Item XVII. 2.



420

Item XVII. 2.



421

Item XVII. 2.



422

Item XVII. 2.



423

Item XVII. 2.



424

Item XVII. 2.



425

Item XVII. 2.



426

Item XVII. 2.



427

Item XVII. 2.



428

Item XVII. 2.



429

Item XVII. 2.



430

Item XVII. 2.



431

Item XVII. 2.



432

Item XVII. 2.



433

Item XVII. 2.



434

Item XVII. 2.



435

Item XVII. 2.



436

Item XVII. 2.



437

Item XVII. 2.



438

Item XVII. 2.



439

Item XVII. 2.



Staff Report         
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Yuval Bartal as Agent for Andrea L. Allsbrook requests a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue. Located at 1800 McCall Road, zoned AR-1. Map# 391 Parcel# 3 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The criteria for private and public events venues as a conditional use in the AR-1 zoning district is 

described in   Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.1.2.10 – 
Private and Public Events Venue 

• This property currently operates as an events venue based on a conditional use granted April 17, 2018. 
The applicant is selling the property, so conditional use must be approved on behalf of the new owners 
to allow for the sale of the property as a continually operational events venue. 

• The applicant wishes to continue operations of the property, initially, as an “as is” site. Future possible 
plans include the enclosure of an existing pole barn, and addition of more restrooms. The site will, 
however, remain largely unchanged.  

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, this item was tabled to allow time for resident concerns, 
including noise and road dust to be addressed.  

• County representatives inspected the entrance and recommend paving from the road edge to the right 
of way, and adding striping and a stop bar. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue with Staff recommendations: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events. 
2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 

duration of the conditional use. 
3. All Environmental Health Department requirements for food service and restrooms will be 

satisfied prior to active operation of the event venue. 
4. All future site development and/or construction plans shall be submitted to Development Services 

for review and permitting. 
5. All wetland impacts are to be permitted by USACE. 

• And the following 6 conditions, as submitted by the applicant: 
o The fencing at the entrance shall be extended to provide screening for adjacent residences 
o Gravel will be added to the roadway for the purpose of reducing dust 
o Speed bumps will be added per the submitted site plan 
o The open event structure shall be enclosed, and a dedicated sound system installed 
o All tenants will be provided with contact information for operational and event management 
o A manager shall be present on site for all events 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events.  

440

Item XVII. 3.



Staff Report         
 
Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Yuval Bartal as Agent for Andrea L. Allsbrook requests a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue. Located at 1800 McCall Road, zoned AR-1. Map# 391 Parcel# 3 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The criteria for private and public events venues as a conditional use in the AR-1 zoning district is 

described in   Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.1.2.10 – 
Private and Public Events Venue 

• This property currently operates as an events venue based on a conditional use granted April 17, 2018. 
The applicant is selling the property, so conditional use must be approved on behalf of the new owners 
to allow for the sale of the property as a continually operational events venue. 

• The applicant wishes to continue operations of the property, initially, as an “as is” site. Future possible 
plans include the enclosure of an existing pole barn, and addition of more restrooms. The site will, 
however, remain largely unchanged.  

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, this item was tabled to allow time for resident concerns, 
including noise and road dust to be addressed.  

• County representatives inspected the entrance and recommend paving from the road edge to the right 
of way, and adding striping and a stop bar. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue with Staff recommendations: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events. 
2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 

duration of the conditional use. 
3. All Environmental Health Department requirements for food service and restrooms will be 

satisfied prior to active operation of the event venue. 
4. All future site development and/or construction plans shall be submitted to Development Services 

for review and permitting. 
5. All wetland impacts are to be permitted by USACE. 

• And the following 6 conditions, as submitted by the applicant: 
o The fencing at the entrance shall be extended to provide screening for adjacent residences 
o Gravel will be added to the roadway for the purpose of reducing dust 
o Speed bumps will be added per the submitted site plan 
o The open event structure shall be enclosed, and a dedicated sound system installed 
o All tenants will be provided with contact information for operational and event management 
o A manager shall be present on site for all events 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events.  

441

Item XVII. 3.



442

Item XVII. 3.



443

Item XVII. 3.



444

Item XVII. 3.



445

Item XVII. 3.



446

Item XVII. 3.



447

Item XVII. 3.



448

Item XVII. 3.



449

Item XVII. 3.



450

Item XVII. 3.



451

Item XVII. 3.



452

Item XVII. 3.



453

Item XVII. 3.



454

Item XVII. 3.



455

Item XVII. 3.



456

Item XVII. 3.



457

Item XVII. 3.



458

Item XVII. 3.



459

Item XVII. 3.



460

Item XVII. 3.



461

Item XVII. 3.



462

Item XVII. 3.



Staff Report         
 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Yuval Bartal as Agent for Andrea L. Allsbrook requests a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue. Located at 1800 McCall Road, zoned AR-1. Map# 391 Parcel# 3 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use, to allow 
for an event venue, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The criteria for private and public events venues as a conditional use in the AR-1 zoning district is 

described in   Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.1.2.10 – 
Private and Public Events Venue 

• This property currently operates as an events venue based on a conditional use granted April 17, 2018. 
The applicant is selling the property, so conditional use must be approved on behalf of the new owners 
to allow for the sale of the property as a continually operational events venue. 

• The applicant wishes to continue operations of the property, initially, as an “as is” site. Future possible 
plans include the enclosure of an existing pole barn, and addition of more restrooms. The site will, 
however, remain largely unchanged.  

• At the October 17, 2022 Planning Board meeting, this item was tabled to allow time for resident concerns, 
including noise and road dust to be addressed.  

• County representatives inspected the entrance and recommend paving from the road edge to the right 
of way, and adding striping and a stop bar. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue with Staff recommendations: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events. 
2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 

duration of the conditional use. 
3. All Environmental Health Department requirements for food service and restrooms will be 

satisfied prior to active operation of the event venue. 
4. All future site development and/or construction plans shall be submitted to Development Services 

for review and permitting. 
5. All wetland impacts are to be permitted by USACE. 

• And the following 6 conditions, as submitted by the applicant: 
o The fencing at the entrance shall be extended to provide screening for adjacent residences 
o Gravel will be added to the roadway for the purpose of reducing dust 
o Speed bumps will be added per the submitted site plan 
o The open event structure shall be enclosed, and a dedicated sound system installed 
o All tenants will be provided with contact information for operational and event management 
o A manager shall be present on site for all events 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events.  

463

Item XVII. 4.



2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the duration 
of the conditional use. 

3. All Environmental Health Department requirements for food service and restrooms will be satisfied prior 
to active operation of the event venue. 

4. All future site development and/or construction plans shall be submitted to Development Services for 
review and permitting. 

5. All wetland impacts are to be permitted by USACE  
6. The fencing at the entrance shall be extended to provide screening for adjacent residences 
7. Gravel will be added to the roadway for the purpose of reducing dust 
8. Speed bumps will be added per the submitted site plan 
9. The open event structure shall be enclosed, and a dedicated sound system installed 
10. All tenants will be provided with contact information for operational and event management 
11. A manager shall be present on site for all events 

2. Deny the request for a conditional use, to allow for an event venue 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

464

Item XVII. 4.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

391-3 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

391-3 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, YUVUAL BARTAL has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for an event venue; map and parcel 

number 391-3, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for an event venue; map and parcel number 391-3, located in 

the 4th commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the event venue will fully comply with Section 5.1.2.10 – Private and Public Events.  

2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the duration of the conditional use. 

3. All Environmental Health Department requirements for food service and restrooms will be satisfied prior to active operation of 

the event venue. 

4. All future site development and/or construction plans shall be submitted to Development Services for review and permitting. 

5. All wetland impacts are to be permitted by USACE  

6. The fencing at the entrance shall be extended to provide screening for adjacent residences 

7. Gravel will be added to the roadway for the purpose of reducing dust 

8. Speed bumps will be added per the submitted site plan 

9. The open event structure shall be enclosed, and a dedicated sound system installed 

10. All tenants will be provided with contact information for operational and event management 

11. A manager shall be present on site for all events 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

465

Item XVII. 4.



Staff Report            
Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Kevin Shuman & Terry Cook request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a 3-lot subdivision. Located at 5575 Old Dixie Highway. Map# 263 Parcel# 32B 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 14.83 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicants wish to create two additional home sites, each of which is under 5 acres and must, 
therefore, be rezoned. 

• There is extensive wetlands coverage on all proposed lots. Rezoning the remaining 9.185 acres to AR-
2 may provide preferable building setbacks should a wetlands delineation show limited developable 
area. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the 
request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, 

and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
 

2. Deny the request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

466

Item XVII. 5.



467

Item XVII. 5.



468

Item XVII. 5.



469

Item XVII. 5.



470

Item XVII. 5.



471

Item XVII. 5.



472

Item XVII. 5.



473

Item XVII. 5.



474

Item XVII. 5.



475

Item XVII. 5.



476

Item XVII. 5.



477

Item XVII. 5.



478

Item XVII. 5.



479

Item XVII. 5.



480

Item XVII. 5.



481

Item XVII. 5.



Staff Report            
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Kevin Shuman & Terry Cook request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to 
allow for a 3-lot subdivision. Located at 5575 Old Dixie Highway. Map# 263 Parcel# 32B 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 14.83 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicants wish to create two additional home sites, each of which is under 5 acres and must, 
therefore, be rezoned. 

• There is extensive wetlands coverage on all proposed lots. Rezoning the remaining 9.185 acres to AR-
2 may provide preferable building setbacks should a wetlands delineation show limited developable 
area. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the 
request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, 

and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 
3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
 

2. Deny the request to rezone 14.83 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

482

Item XVII. 6.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

263-32B 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

263-32B 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS KEVIN SHUMAN AND TERRY COOK have filed an application to rezone fourteen and eighty-three 

hundredth (14.83) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a 3-lot subdivision; map and parcel number 263-32B, located in the 3rd 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT fourteen and eighty-three hundredth (14.83) +/- acres; map and parcel number 263-32B, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

3. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be recorded, before 

the rezoning can take effect. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

483

Item XVII. 6.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezone (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jimmy McDuffie as Agent for Jimmy & Wanda McDuffie, & Frankie Edwards 
requests to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels. Located on Highway 
119 North. Map# 406 Parcels# 19,20,21,22 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicants wish to recombine four parcels in to two parcels. 
• Neither proposed parcel will meet the 5-acre threshold for the AR-1 zoning district; therefore, the 

combined acreage of both proposed parcels must be rezoned. 
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request 

to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

3. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

484

Item XVII. 7.



485

Item XVII. 7.



486

Item XVII. 7.



487

Item XVII. 7.



488

Item XVII. 7.



489

Item XVII. 7.



490

Item XVII. 7.



491

Item XVII. 7.



492

Item XVII. 7.



493

Item XVII. 7.



494

Item XVII. 7.



495

Item XVII. 7.



496

Item XVII. 7.



497

Item XVII. 7.



498

Item XVII. 7.



499

Item XVII. 7.



500

Item XVII. 7.



501

Item XVII. 7.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jimmy McDuffie as Agent for Jimmy & Wanda McDuffie, & Frankie Edwards 
requests to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels. Located on Highway 
119 North. Map# 406 Parcels# 19,20,21,22 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicants wish to recombine four parcels in to two parcels. 
• Neither proposed parcel will meet the 5-acre threshold for the AR-1 zoning district; therefore, the 

combined acreage of both proposed parcels must be rezoned. 
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request 

to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 

 
2. Deny the request to rezone 6.67 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

502

Item XVII. 8.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

406-19,20,21,22 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

406-19,20,21,22 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS JIMMY MCDUFFIE AS AGENT FOR JIMMY & WANDA MCDUFFIE, & FRANKIE EDWARDS has filed 

an application to rezone six and sixty-seven hundredth (6.67) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for a recombination of parcels; 

map and parcel numbers 406-19,20,21,22, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT six and sixty-seven hundredth (6.67) +/- acres; map and parcel numbers 406-

19,20,21,22, located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. Recombination plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

503

Item XVII. 8.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Sheldon Tebeau as Agent for Randal Tebeau & the Estate of Patricia Tebeau 
requests to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels. Located 
at 1271 & 1273 Highway 21.   Map# 389 Parcels# 34 & 35 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant is adding .45 acres to an existing non-conforming 1.01-acre parcel. The new parcel will be 
1.46 acres, and therefore must be rezoned to AR-2 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be 
recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 4. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 
3. Plat  

504

Item XVII. 9.



505

Item XVII. 9.



506

Item XVII. 9.



507

Item XVII. 9.



508

Item XVII. 9.



509

Item XVII. 9.



510

Item XVII. 9.



511

Item XVII. 9.



512

Item XVII. 9.



513

Item XVII. 9.



514

Item XVII. 9.



515

Item XVII. 9.



516

Item XVII. 9.



517

Item XVII. 9.



518

Item XVII. 9.



519

Item XVII. 9.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Sheldon Tebeau as Agent for Randal Tebeau & the Estate of Patricia Tebeau 
requests to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels. Located 
at 1271 & 1273 Highway 21.   Map# 389 Parcels# 34 & 35 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant is adding .45 acres to an existing non-conforming 1.01-acre parcel. The new parcel will be 
1.46 acres, and therefore must be rezoned to AR-2 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels, with the following 
conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously 

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Recombination subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be 
recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 1.46 of 82.84 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

520

Item XVII. 10.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

389-34 & 35 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

389-34 & 35 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS SHELDON TEBEAU AS AGENT FOR RANDAL TEBEAU has filed an application to rezone one and forty-

six hundredth (1.46) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a recombination of parcels; map and parcel number 389-34 & 35, 

located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one and forty-six hundredth (1.46) +/- acres; map and parcel number 389-34 & 35, 

located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. Recombination subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services, and be recorded, before the rezoning can 

take effect. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

521

Item XVII. 10.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Ernest Zipperer requests to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel. Located at 1796 Blue Jay Road. Map# 394 Parcel# 12 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 14.82 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant proposes to combine the 14.82-acre parcel with adjacent Map/Parcel 394-12A, for tax 
purposes, therefore the zoning of the two parcels must match. 

• Due to fact that there will not be a combination plat, and 394-12A is 1.10 acres, which does not meet 
the acreage minimum for the AR-1 zoning district, the 14.82-acre parcel must be rezoned to AR-2. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with the 
following condition: 
1.The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 4. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 5. Aerial photograph 
3. Plat  

 
 

522

Item XVII. 11.



523

Item XVII. 11.



524

Item XVII. 11.



525

Item XVII. 11.



526

Item XVII. 11.



527

Item XVII. 11.



528

Item XVII. 11.



529

Item XVII. 11.



530

Item XVII. 11.



531

Item XVII. 11.



532

Item XVII. 11.



533

Item XVII. 11.



534

Item XVII. 11.



535

Item XVII. 11.



536

Item XVII. 11.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Ernest Zipperer requests to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel. Located at 1796 Blue Jay Road. Map# 394 Parcel# 12 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 14.82 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 
minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more.   

• The applicant proposes to combine the 14.82-acre parcel with adjacent Map/Parcel 394-12A, for tax 
purposes, therefore the zoning of the two parcels must match. 

• Due to fact that there will not be a combination plat, and 394-12A is 1.10 acres, which does not meet 
the acreage minimum for the AR-1 zoning district, the 14.82-acre parcel must be rezoned to AR-2. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with the 
following condition: 
1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 14.82 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  
 
 

537

Item XVII. 12.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

394-12 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

394-12 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS ERNEST ZIPPERER has filed an application to rezone fourteen and eighty-two hundredth (14.82) +/- acres; 

from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel; map and parcel number 394-12, located in the 4th commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT fourteen and eighty-two hundredth (14.82) +/- acres; map and parcel number 394-12, 

located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following condition: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

538

Item XVII. 12.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Ernest Zipperer requests to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel. Located at 835 Horsepen Road.  Map# 394 Parcel# 15 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-
1 to AR-1 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• This parcel was part of a rezoning to R-1, approved on August 1, 2006, for a proposed single-family 

residential subdivision which was never developed. Rezoning to AR-1 will allow the parcel to reflect its 
current use. The parcel exceeds the minimum 5 acres required for the AR-1 zoning district. 

• The applicant proposes to combine the 80.90-acre parcel with an adjacent, 10.03 AR-1 parcel, 
Map/Parcel 394-14, for tax purposes, therefore the zoning of the two parcels must match. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with the 
following condition: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Deed 

2.  Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
539

Item XVII. 13.



540

Item XVII. 13.



541

Item XVII. 13.



542

Item XVII. 13.



543

Item XVII. 13.



544

Item XVII. 13.



545

Item XVII. 13.



546

Item XVII. 13.



547

Item XVII. 13.



548

Item XVII. 13.



549

Item XVII. 13.



550

Item XVII. 13.



551

Item XVII. 13.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Ernest Zipperer requests to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for 
combination with an adjacent parcel. Located at 835 Horsepen Road.  Map# 394 Parcel# 15 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-
1 to AR-1 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• This parcel was part of a rezoning to R-1, approved on August 1, 2006, for a proposed single-family 

residential subdivision which was never developed. Rezoning to AR-1 will allow the parcel to reflect its 
current use. The parcel exceeds the minimum 5 acres required for the AR-1 zoning district. 

• The applicant proposes to combine the 80.90-acre parcel with an adjacent, 10.03 AR-1 parcel, 
Map/Parcel 394-14, for tax purposes, therefore the zoning of the two parcels must match. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request 
to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel, with the 
following condition: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
• The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins and carried unanimously. 

 
 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 80.90 acres from R-1 to AR-1 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
552

Item XVII. 14.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

394-15 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

394-15 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS ERNEST ZIPPERER has filed an application to rezone eighty and ninety hundredth (80.90) +/- acres; from R-1 

to AR-1, to allow for combination with an adjacent parcel; map and parcel number 394-15, located in the 4th commissioner district, 

and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT eighty and ninety hundredth (80.90) +/- acres; map and parcel number 394-15, located 

in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

553

Item XVII. 14.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Fifth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Gregory Edward Smithey requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located 
at 631 Ebenezer Road, zoned AR-2. Map# 446 Parcel# 45 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use, to allow 
for a rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 
requirements include consideration of:  
o Intent – the proposed business will sell bait, tackle, and will retail pre-owned goods. 
o Structure – the business will operate out of an existing accessory structure. This structure is 

compliant with building setbacks.  
o Square footage – The approximate square footage of the accessory structure is less than 1,000 

square feet.   
o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Ebenezer Road. 
o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 2.57 acres. This falls short of the required 3-acre minimum, 

however, the applicant has requested to consider (and the current owner supports) the adjacent 1-
acre parcel (Map/Parcel: 446-43) as part of the 3 acres, as it is family land which once belonged to 
the applicant. Similar consideration to address acreage shortage for a rural business occurred in a 
rural business approved on 6/1/2020. 

• The applicant proposes to operate during daylight hours, Monday-Saturday. Estimated customer traffic 
is a maximum of 6 cars during peak hours. 

• The proposed business poses minimum impact to surrounding properties 
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request 

for a conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 
1. Operation of the retail business will fully comply with Section 3.15B - Rural Business 
2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 
duration of the rural business. 
3. All structures on the property shall conform to building setback requirements. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use, to allow for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the retail business will fully comply with Section 3.15B - Rural Business 
2.  An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 

duration of the rural business. 
3. All structures on the property shall conform to building setback requirements. 

2. Deny the request for a conditional use, to allow a rural business 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Conditional Use application             3. Aerial photograph 
   2. Ownership certificate/authorization  

554

Item XVII. 15.



555

Item XVII. 15.



556

Item XVII. 15.



557

Item XVII. 15.



558

Item XVII. 15.



559

Item XVII. 15.



560

Item XVII. 15.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Gregory Edward Smithey requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located 
at 631 Ebenezer Road, zoned AR-2. Map# 446 Parcel# 45 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use, to allow 
for a rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 
• The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 
requirements include consideration of:  
o Intent – the proposed business will sell bait, tackle, and will retail pre-owned goods. 
o Structure – the business will operate out of an existing accessory structure. This structure is 

compliant with building setbacks.  
o Square footage – The approximate square footage of the accessory structure is less than 1,000 

square feet.   
o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Ebenezer Road. 
o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 2.57 acres. This falls short of the required 3-acre minimum, 

however, the applicant has requested to consider (and the current owner supports) the adjacent 1-
acre parcel (Map/Parcel: 446-43) as part of the 3 acres, as it is family land which once belonged to 
the applicant. Similar consideration to address acreage shortage for a rural business occurred in a 
rural business approved on 6/1/2020. 

• The applicant proposes to operate during daylight hours, Monday-Saturday. Estimated customer traffic 
is a maximum of 6 cars during peak hours. 

• The proposed business poses minimum impact to surrounding properties 
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request 

for a conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 
1. Operation of the retail business will fully comply with Section 3.15B - Rural Business 
2. An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 
duration of the rural business. 
3. All structures on the property shall conform to building setback requirements. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use, to allow for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the retail business will fully comply with Section 3.15B - Rural Business 
2.  An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the 

duration of the rural business. 
3. All structures on the property shall conform to building setback requirements. 

2. Deny the request for a conditional use, to allow a rural business 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

561

Item XVII. 16.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

446-45 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

446-45 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, GREGORY EDWARD SMITHEY has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for a rural business; 

map and parcel number 446-45, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for a rural business; map and parcel number 446-45, located 

in the 5th commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. Operation of the retail business will fully comply with Section 3.15B - Rural Business 

2.  An occupational tax certificate will be obtained, and kept in current and in good standing, for the duration of the rural business. 

3. All structures on the property shall conform to building setback requirements. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

562

Item XVII. 16.



Staff Report            
Subject:  Variance (Third District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Kaitlin Rapp requests a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area. Located at 
4302 Old Dixie Highway, zoned AR-2. Map# 313 Parcel# 12 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a variance from Section 
3.20 Minimum Living Area, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.20, “No single or 

multiple-family living unit shall be constructed with a total living area of less than 525 square feet”  
• The applicant has applied for a building permit (Application # 202202038) to install a dwelling with 373 

square feet of living area, with an additional 164 square foot loft. The loft space must be discounted due 
to 2018 IBC regulations which define habitable space as having a ceiling height of at least 6’ 8”. 

• The ceiling height of the loft is approximately 5’, which the applicant finds sufficient to her needs for 
personal use. When including the loft as living area, the dwelling is 537 square feet, which exceeds 
minimum square footage requirements. 

• The proposed home site is on a 2.26-acre parcel which is zoned AR-2. The site plan submitted shows 
the dwelling setback 50’ from the front setback. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 
request for a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area, with the following condition: 
1. The dwelling shall in all other ways conform to applicable building codes and County ordinances. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives   
1. Approve the request for a variance from the required square footage of livable space necessary for a 
dwelling, with the following condition:  

1. The dwelling shall in all other ways conform to applicable building codes and County ordinances.  

2. Deny the request for a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Variance application                        3. Site Plan   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

  

563

Item XVII. 17.



564

Item XVII. 17.



565

Item XVII. 17.



566

Item XVII. 17.



567

Item XVII. 17.



568

Item XVII. 17.



569

Item XVII. 17.



570

Item XVII. 17.



571

Item XVII. 17.



572

Item XVII. 17.



573

Item XVII. 17.



574

Item XVII. 17.



Staff Report            
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Kaitlin Rapp requests a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area. Located at 
4302 Old Dixie Highway, zoned AR-2. Map# 313 Parcel# 12 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a variance from Section 
3.20 Minimum Living Area, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.20, “No single or 

multiple-family living unit shall be constructed with a total living area of less than 525 square feet”  
• The applicant has applied for a building permit (Application # 202202038) to install a dwelling with 373 

square feet of living area, with an additional 164 square foot loft. The loft space must be discounted due 
to 2018 IBC regulations which define habitable space as having a ceiling height of at least 6’ 8”. 

• The ceiling height of the loft is approximately 5’, which the applicant finds sufficient to her needs for 
personal use. When including the loft as living area, the dwelling is 537 square feet, which exceeds 
minimum square footage requirements. 

• The proposed home site is on a 2.26-acre parcel which is zoned AR-2. The site plan submitted shows 
the dwelling setback 50’ from the front setback. 

• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 
request for a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area, with the following condition: 
1. The dwelling shall in all other ways conform to applicable building codes and County ordinances. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives   
1. Approve the request for a variance from the required square footage of livable space necessary for a 
dwelling, with the following condition:  

1. The dwelling shall in all other ways conform to applicable building codes and County ordinances.  

2. Deny the request for a variance from Section 3.20 Minimum Living Area. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

575

Item XVII. 18.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

313-12 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

313-12 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, KAITLIH RAPP has filed an application for a variance, from the required square footage of livable space 

necessary for a dwelling; map and parcel number 313-12, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance from the required square footage of livable space necessary for a dwelling; 

map and parcel number 313-12, located in the 3rd commissioner district is approved, with the following condition: 

1. The dwelling shall in all other ways conform to applicable building codes and County ordinances.  

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

576

Item XVII. 18.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jeffrey Hardin as Agent for Harrison Clark Ale Jr., Trustee requests to rezone 11+/- 
of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of an existing permitted surface mine. Located on 
Lowground Road. Map# 373 Parcel# 38 
  
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is adjacent to, and across Midland Road from, four parcels previously rezoned to I-1 
for surface mines. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed surface mine is an expansion of an existing surface mine (rezoned May, 2016), which is 
state approved (EPD permit # 1915-16). 

•  Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts must be permitted by the USACE.  
• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both Lowground Road and Midland Road, neither of 

which is a designated truck route.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 

request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, 
with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       
Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new State mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of 
land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 
6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and 
close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that 
the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property 
to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion 
of a surface mine, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of     
  Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

577

Item XVII. 19.



4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 

fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck 
Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

4. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

  

578

Item XVII. 19.



579

Item XVII. 19.



580

Item XVII. 19.



581

Item XVII. 19.



582

Item XVII. 19.



583

Item XVII. 19.



584

Item XVII. 19.



585

Item XVII. 19.



586

Item XVII. 19.



587

Item XVII. 19.



588

Item XVII. 19.



589

Item XVII. 19.



590

Item XVII. 19.



591

Item XVII. 19.



592

Item XVII. 19.



593

Item XVII. 19.



594

Item XVII. 19.



595

Item XVII. 19.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jeffrey Hardin as Agent for Harrison Clark Ale Jr., Trustee requests to rezone 11+/- 
of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of an existing permitted surface mine. Located on 
Lowground Road. Map# 373 Parcel# 38 
  
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is adjacent to, and across Midland Road from, four parcels previously rezoned to I-1 
for surface mines. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed surface mine is an expansion of an existing surface mine (rezoned May, 2016), which is 
state approved (EPD permit # 1915-16). 

•  Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts must be permitted by the USACE.  
• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on both Lowground Road and Midland Road, neither of 

which is a designated truck route.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 

request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, 
with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       
Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new State mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of 
land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 
6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and 
close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that 
the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property 
to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Brad Smith and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion 
of a surface mine, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of     
  Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

596

Item XVII. 20.



4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills 

of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 
6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 

and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall 
rezone the property to AR-1. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

597

Item XVII. 20.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

373-38 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

373-38 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS JEFFREY HARDIN AS AGENT FOR HARRISON CLARK ALE, JR. has filed an application to rezone eleven 

(11) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for the expansion of a surface mine; map and parcel number 373-38, located in the 1st 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT eleven (11) +/- acres; map and parcel number 373-38, located in the 1st commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 

Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 

3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed 

in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

598

Item XVII. 20.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jeffrey Hardin as Agent for Donald R. Shrum & Donna A. Shrum requests to rezone 
11+/- of 91.83 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine. Located on Lowground 
Road. Map# 373 Parcel# 39 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is adjacent to, and across Midland Road from, four parcels previously rezoned to I-1 
for surface mines. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed surface mine is an expansion of an existing surface mine (rezoned May, 2016), which is 
state approved (EPD permit # 1915-16). 

•  Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts must be permitted by the USACE.  
• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Midland Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 

request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, 
with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       
Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new State mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of 
land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 
6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and 
close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that 
the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property 
to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
2. Approve the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a 

surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of Section 

3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

599

Item XVII. 21.



5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 
fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck 
Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

   2.Ownership certificate/authorization             4. Aerial photograph 

  

600

Item XVII. 21.



601

Item XVII. 21.



602

Item XVII. 21.



603

Item XVII. 21.



604

Item XVII. 21.



605

Item XVII. 21.



606

Item XVII. 21.



607

Item XVII. 21.



608

Item XVII. 21.



609

Item XVII. 21.



610

Item XVII. 21.



611

Item XVII. 21.



612

Item XVII. 21.



613

Item XVII. 21.



614

Item XVII. 21.



615

Item XVII. 21.



616

Item XVII. 21.



617

Item XVII. 21.



618

Item XVII. 21.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description: Jeffrey Hardin as Agent for Donald R. Shrum & Donna A. Shrum requests to rezone 
11+/- of 91.83 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine. Located on Lowground 
Road. Map# 373 Parcel# 39 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres 
from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Pursuant to Sec. 3.17.3.3, excavation activity that involves movement of soil off-site must be located 
within the I-1 zoning district.  

• Surface Mines are regulated by O.C.G.A. 12-4-70 Georgia Surface Mining Act of 1968, as amended, 
and Georgia Rule 391-3-3. Pursuant to O.C.G.A 12-4-75 of the Georgia Surface Mining Act, a mining 
land use plan (MLUP) shall be consistent with the land use in the area of the mine. Mine operators must 
obtain a letter from the local government stating the mine location is in zoning compliance. 

• The proposed site is adjacent to, and across Midland Road from, four parcels previously rezoned to I-1 
for surface mines. According to EPD, there are approximately 31 permitted mines in the county. 

• The proposed surface mine is an expansion of an existing surface mine (rezoned May, 2016), which is 
state approved (EPD permit # 1915-16). 

•  Pursuant to sec. 3.17(4)(7), all wetlands impacts must be permitted by the USACE.  
• The proposed surface mine site has frontage on Midland Road, which is not a designated truck route.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve the 

request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a surface mine, 
with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       
Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new State mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 
5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of 
land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 
6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and 
close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that 
the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property 
to AR-1. 

• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
2. Approve the request to rezone 11+/- of 106.35 acres from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for the expansion of a 

surface mine, with the following conditions: 
1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 
2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of Section 

3.17.5 Surface Mine Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 
3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 
4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

619

Item XVII. 22.



5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and 
fills of land and/or state federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck 
Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine 
and close-out of this mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural 
Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed in an acceptable manner, the applicant 
shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 11+/- of 91.83 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
  

620

Item XVII. 22.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

373-39 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

373-39 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS JEFFREY HARDIN AS AGENT FOR DONALD R. SHRUM AND DONNA A. SHRUM has filed an 

application to rezone eleven (11) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1, to allow for the expansion of a surface mine; map and parcel number 

373-39, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 16, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT eleven (11) +/- acres; map and parcel number 373-39, located in the 1st commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. This rezoning allows a surface mine only. No other I-1 uses are allowed. 

2. The mine site and entrance shall be upgraded as necessary to meet the requirements of       Section 3.17.5 Surface Mine 

Operations – Road Maintenance Requirements. 

3. The new state mining permit shall be submitted to Development Services. 

4. Applicant shall obtain a Timber Permit prior to removal of any trees outside the buffer area. 

5. The surface mine site shall meet the requirements of Sec. 3.17- Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state 

federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands, and Sec. 74-8 Designated Truck Routes. 

6. The applicant shall notify Development Services at the time of final reclamation of the surface mine and close-out of this 

mining operation. Upon the determination of the Department of Natural Resources that the affected lands have been reclaimed 

in an acceptable manner, the applicant shall rezone the property to AR-1. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 
      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

621

Item XVII. 22.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fifth District) 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description:    Cindy Howze as Agent for Lisa E. Phillips et al. requests to rezone 39.27 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use. Located on Old Augusta Road and Abercorn Road. Map# 477 Parcels# 
6,7 Map# 477A Parcels# 2,3,4,5 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 30.27 acres from AR-1 
to I-1, for future industrial use, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• This rezoning application was not referred for regional review, as no proposed use or site plan was 

submitted, and the acreage is below the threshold requiring a regional review for industrial rezoning.   
• The parcels are adjacent to industrial zoned land to the south, east, and west. There is one AR-1 parcel 

at the southeast corner of Abercorn Rd and Old Augusta Rd, and I-1 and R-1 zoned property north of 
Abercorn Rd. 

• The required buffer between I-1 and AR/R zoning districts is 300’.  
• These parcels may be better used for commercial development, as the required buffer between I-1 heavy 

industrial and Commercial zoning districts is 150’, and between Commercial and AR/R property is 30’. 
• The parcels have extensive wetlands coverage, and are situated in a sensitive area. Enhanced BMPs 

will be necessary for any intensive development: onsite detention pond storage designed to the 100-year 
rainfall event; minimal outlets from ponds; installation of site spill prevention, control, and 
countermeasures; ensuring that no surface water leaves the site; construction of berms to control runoff. 

• The project site has frontage on Old Augusta Road, which is a designated truck route. 
• Without a development plan, we cannot determine whether there is adequate space for industrial use, or 

whether a driveway onto Old Augusta Rd would comply with access management regulations.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request 

to rezone 30.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use, with the following conditions: 
1. A sketch plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
2. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 
3. Site development plans must comply with the County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the 
Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Access Management Regulations, and Ch. 34 Flood 
Damage Prevention. 
4. All wetlands impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the approved Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 
5. A traffic must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County Traffic 
Study Requirements. 
6. All future development must be built to 100-year flood plain standards. 

• And the added condition that: 
o Traffic access to Map/Parcels 477-6&7 shall be limited to Old Augusta Road, and shall not be 

permitted on Abercorn Road 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 39.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use, with conditions:  

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
622

Item XVII. 23.



2. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 
3. Site development plans must comply with the County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the 

Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Access Management Regulations, and Ch. 34 Flood 
Damage Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the approved Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County 
Traffic Study Requirements. 

6. All future development must be built to 100-year flood plain standards. 
7. Traffic access to Map/Parcels 477-6&7 shall be limited to Old Augusta Road, and shall not be 

permitted on Abercorn Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 39.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

623

Item XVII. 23.



624

Item XVII. 23.



625

Item XVII. 23.



626

Item XVII. 23.



627

Item XVII. 23.



628

Item XVII. 23.



629

Item XVII. 23.



630

Item XVII. 23.



631

Item XVII. 23.



632

Item XVII. 23.



633

Item XVII. 23.



634

Item XVII. 23.



635

Item XVII. 23.



636

Item XVII. 23.



637

Item XVII. 23.



638

Item XVII. 23.



639

Item XVII. 23.



640

Item XVII. 23.



641

Item XVII. 23.



642

Item XVII. 23.



643

Item XVII. 23.



644

Item XVII. 23.



645

Item XVII. 23.



646

Item XVII. 23.



647

Item XVII. 23.



648

Item XVII. 23.



649

Item XVII. 23.



650

Item XVII. 23.



651

Item XVII. 23.



652

Item XVII. 23.



653

Item XVII. 23.



654

Item XVII. 23.



655

Item XVII. 23.



656

Item XVII. 23.



657

Item XVII. 23.



658

Item XVII. 23.



659

Item XVII. 23.



660

Item XVII. 23.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Katie Dunnigan, Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: December 06, 2022 
Item Description:    Cindy Howze as Agent for Lisa E. Phillips et al. requests to rezone 39.27 acres from 
AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use. Located on Old Augusta Road and Abercorn Road. Map# 477 Parcels# 
6,7 Map# 477A Parcels# 2,3,4,5 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request to rezone 30.27 acres from AR-1 
to I-1, for future industrial use, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  
• The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  
• This rezoning application was not referred for regional review, as no proposed use or site plan was 

submitted, and the acreage is below the threshold requiring a regional review for industrial rezoning.   
• The parcels are adjacent to industrial zoned land to the south, east, and west. There is one AR-1 parcel 

at the southeast corner of Abercorn Rd and Old Augusta Rd, and I-1 and R-1 zoned property north of 
Abercorn Rd. 

• The required buffer between I-1 and AR/R zoning districts is 300’.  
• These parcels may be better used for commercial development, as the required buffer between I-1 heavy 

industrial and Commercial zoning districts is 150’, and between Commercial and AR/R property is 30’. 
• The parcels have extensive wetlands coverage, and are situated in a sensitive area. Enhanced BMPs 

will be necessary for any intensive development: onsite detention pond storage designed to the 100-year 
rainfall event; minimal outlets from ponds; installation of site spill prevention, control, and 
countermeasures; ensuring that no surface water leaves the site; construction of berms to control runoff. 

• The project site has frontage on Old Augusta Road, which is a designated truck route. 
• Without a development plan, we cannot determine whether there is adequate space for industrial use, or 

whether a driveway onto Old Augusta Rd would comply with access management regulations.  
• At the November 21, 2022 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request 

to rezone 30.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use, with the following conditions: 
1. A sketch plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
2. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 
3. Site development plans must comply with the County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the 
Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Access Management Regulations, and Ch. 34 Flood 
Damage Prevention. 
4. All wetlands impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the approved Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 
5. A traffic must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County Traffic 
Study Requirements. 
6. All future development must be built to 100-year flood plain standards. 

• And the added condition that: 
o Traffic access to Map/Parcels 477-6&7 shall be limited to Old Augusta Road, and shall not be 

permitted on Abercorn Road 
• The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 39.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1, for future industrial use, with conditions:  

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 
661

Item XVII. 24.



2. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 
3. Site development plans must comply with the County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the 

Stormwater Management Local Design Manual, Access Management Regulations, and Ch. 34 Flood 
Damage Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the approved Jurisdictional 
Determination must be submitted during the site development plan review process. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County 
Traffic Study Requirements. 

6. All future development must be built to 100-year flood plain standards. 
7. Traffic access to Map/Parcels 477-6&7 shall be limited to Old Augusta Road, and shall not be 

permitted on Abercorn Road. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 39.27 acres from AR-1 to I-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 

662

Item XVII. 24.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

477-6,7 & 477A-2,3,4,5 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

477-6,7 & 477A-2,3,4,5 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS CINDY HOWZE AS AGENT FOR LISA PHILLIPS ET AL. has filed an application to rezone thirty nine and 

twenty-seven hundredth (39.27) +/- acres; from AR-1 to I-1 to allow for future industrial use; map and parcel number 477-6,7 & 

477A-2,3,4,5, located in the 5th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on December 6, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on November 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT sixty and forty-three hundredth (30.29) +/- acres; map and parcel number 477- 6,7 & 

477A-2,3,4,5, located in the 5th commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to I-1, with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved before site development plans are submitted. 

2. Development plans must meet the requirements of Section 5.12 I-1 Industrial Districts. 

3. Site development plans must comply with the County Water Resources Protection Ordinance, the Stormwater Management 

Local Design Manual, Access Management Regulations, and Ch. 34 Flood Damage Prevention. 

4. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE, and the approved Jurisdictional Determination must be 

submitted during the site development plan review process. 

5. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, per Effingham County Traffic Study 

Requirements. 

6. All future development must be built to 100-year flood plain standards. 

7. Traffic access to Map/Parcels 477-6&7 shall be limited to Old Augusta Road, and shall not be permitted on Abercorn Road. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

663

Item XVII. 24.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	GA Forestry Report
	Effingham Annual Report  Short Form For County Annual Report  FY2022

	Item XI. 1.	Atlantic Waste
	1. Staff Report Atlantic Waste Amendment 2
	2. Atlantic Waste - Fully Executed Contract & Amendment No.1  2017 - 2021

	Item XI. 2.	Elevos
	1.  2020 - NEW - Staff Report - EMS Consultants
	2. Effingham County Data Contract 01012022

	Item XI. 3.	i3 Verticals
	1. Staff Report CJT Agreement - Probate
	2. 2022-010_i3 Verticals, LLC dba CJT Software

	Item XI. 4.	Probation Agreement - City of Guyton
	1. 2021- Staff Report (NEW) - Probation agreement with City of Guyton
	2. Probation Agreement Guyton fully executed

	Item XI. 5.	Probation Agreement - City of Springfield
	1. 2021- Staff Report (NEW) - Probation agreement City of Springfield
	2022-002_City of Springfield Probation Services Agreement_01042022

	Item XI. 6.	Probation Agreement - State Court
	1. 2021- (NEW) Staff Report - Probation agreement with State Court
	2022-003_State Court Services Agreement_01042022

	Item XI. 7.	Probation Agreement - Superior Court
	1. 2021- (NEW) Staff Report - Probation agreement with Superior Court
	2. 2022-004_Superior Court Probation Services Agreement_01042022 (2)

	Item XI. 8.	Springfield Lease Agreement
	1. Staff Report Template
	2022-07-12_ Fire Station HQ Lease- Effingham County

	Item XI. 9.	Dominion Warranty
	1. Staff Report Dominion Warranty
	2. Quote Q00008989 - Effingham County, GA - 11_21_2022
	2. 2021-584 Hardware Warranty_Dominion Voting Systems, Inc._11022021_2
	3. Warranty Agreement Dominion-Agenda

	Item XI. 10.	2023 ACCG Summer Internship Grants Program
	2023 ACCG Summer Internship Grants Program
	2023 GCIP Grant Application Packet
	2023 Summer GCIP Application

	Item XI. 11.	2023 Unpaid Internship for Probation
	2023 Unpaid Internship for Probation

	Item XII. 1.	Road Abandonment_portion of Webb Rd (postponed from September 6)
	Staff Report Webb Rd Easement abandonment_11292022
	Abandonment Resolution - portion of Kessler Loop
	Webb Rd Vicinity Map

	Item XII. 2.	Howze RZ (postponed)
	Ansgarhay Staff Report 12062022
	419-1A Howze app
	Concept Plan

	Item XII. 3.	Howze RZ 2nd reading
	Ansgarhay 2nd reading 12062022
	419-1A_Howze_RZ

	Item XII. 4.	1. McGraley McCall Road
	McGraley_McCall
	391-11C&11F 412-24 McGraley McCall

	Item XII. 5.	2nd 1. McGraley McCall
	2 McGraley McCall
	McGraley McCall

	Item XII. 6.	2. McGraley Horsepen Road
	McGraley_Horsepen
	394-29&30 McGraley Horsepen

	Item XII. 7.	2nd 2. McGraley Horsepen
	2 McGraley Horsepen
	McGraley Horsepen

	Item XIII. 1.	Moratorium Amendment
	Staff Report_Resolution on Moratorium Amendment_11222022
	2022 Resolution_I-1_Moratorium_Amendment_11182022

	Item XIII. 2.	Ordinance Revision - Surface Mines
	Staff Report I-1 Proposed Revisions_Mine_11232022
	Ordinance Amendment - 3.17 Excavation_11232022
	Ordinance Amendment - AR-1 and AR-2 amendments_11232022
	PD amendment_Surface Mine_11232022

	Item XIII. 3.	Ordinance Revision - Shipping Container Facility
	Staff Report I-1 Proposed Revisions_11212022
	Article II Definitions_container
	Section 3.3 Accessory Structures_11232022
	5.12___I_1_Industrial_districts_containers
	Section 3.16A_Shipping Container Storage_11232022

	Item XIII. 4.	Radio Tower Lighting
	2022 staff report -Radio Tower Lights V1
	2022_11_16_09_34_20
	LE23-0A Dual LED Lighting Kit LK-401_RA
	5-SEPT-OCT-PAN-2013-FAA-Aviation-Obstruction-Lighting
	TWR STAR Series

	Item XIII. 5.	2022 Employee Appreciation- Holiday Gift Card
	2022 Employee Appreciation- Holiday Gift Card

	Item XIII. 6.	Approval to Upgrade Position- IT
	Upgrade Position- Information Technology (IT) Approval

	Item XIII. 7.	ACCG Amendment to Schedule B- Fee Schedule
	ACCG Amendment to Schedule B- Fee Schedule
	Effingham County amended Schedule B- Fee Schedule

	Item XIII. 8.	DPR Change Order
	1. Staff Report DPR Change Order
	2. 2024 Effingham Co 6 projects  CO Request #2
	2. EMS site sketch C1 SITE PLAN 10-13-22
	3. FULLY EXECUTED 20-006 Contract

	Item XIII. 9.	Dump Truck PO
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. 610325 proposal-cover letter_2

	Item XIII. 10.	Facility Renovation Package Award
	1. Staff Report Facility Reno Package
	2. Effingham_County_Renovation_Fee_Proposal_111622

	Item XIII. 11.	McLendon Change Order 4
	1. Staff Report LMIG 2022
	2. Change Order Template

	Item XIII. 12.	Ranger Change Order 2
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order Template

	Item XIII. 13.	Sound Dampeners
	1. Staff Report Template
	Proposal Effingham Co Recreational Gym Acoustics 11.7.22

	Item XIII. 14.	CIG year 2 grant agreement - stormwater master planning
	Award Agreement Year 2 Coastal Incentive Grant stormwater
	AwardAgreement.C25.Effingham.Larson.StormwaterMasterPlanY2

	Item XIII. 15.	IFC 510 - BDA Requirements
	BDA staff report (12.06.2022) CH
	BDA Effingham
	BDA Location Tracking

	Item XVII. 1.	Transloading Facility Old River Road
	Presentments_Vanderlugt_12062022
	309-4 Vanderlugt SP

	Item XVII. 2.	Parker's Old Augusta Road - Sketch Plan
	Presentments_Parker's_12062022
	478-2B Ben-Yisrael Sketch Plan

	Item XVII. 3.	3. Bartal CU
	Bartal
	391-3 Bartel Conditional Use

	Item XVII. 4.	2nd 3. Bartal
	2 Bartal
	391-3_Bartal_CU

	Item XVII. 5.	4. Shuman RZ
	Shuman
	263-32B Shuman RZ

	Item XVII. 6.	2nd 4. Shuman
	2 Shuman
	263-32B_Shuman_RZ

	Item XVII. 7.	5. McDuffie RZ
	McDuffie
	406-19_20_21_22 McDuffie

	Item XVII. 8.	2nd 5. McDuffie
	2 McDuffie
	406-19,20,21,22_McDuffie_RZ

	Item XVII. 9.	6. Tebeau RZ
	Tebeau
	389-34_35 Tebeau

	Item XVII. 10.	2nd 6. Tebeau
	2 Tebeau
	389-34&35_Tebeau_RZ

	Item XVII. 11.	7. EZ 394-12 RZ
	EZ 394-12
	394-12 Zipperer Rezone

	Item XVII. 12.	2nd 7. EZ 394-12
	2 EZ 394-12
	394-12_Zipperer_RZ

	Item XVII. 13.	8. EZ 394-15 RZ
	EZ 394-15
	394-15 Zipperer Rezone

	Item XVII. 14.	2nd 8. EZ 394-15
	2 EZ 394-15
	394-15_Zipperer_RZ

	Item XVII. 15.	9. Smithey CU
	Smithey
	446-45 Smithey Conditional Use

	Item XVII. 16.	2nd 9. Smithey
	2 Smithey
	446-45_Smithey_CU

	Item XVII. 17.	9. Rapp V
	Rapp
	313-12 Rapp Variance

	Item XVII. 18.	2nd 10. Rapp
	2 Rapp
	313-12_Rapp_V

	Item XVII. 19.	11. Hardin 373-38 RZ
	Hardin 373-38
	373-38 Hardin Rezone

	Item XVII. 20.	2nd 11. Hardin 373-38
	2 Hardin 373-38
	373-38_Hardin_RZ

	Item XVII. 21.	12. Hardin 373-39 RZ
	Hardin 373-39
	373-39 Hardin Rezone

	Item XVII. 22.	2nd 12. Hardin 373-39
	2 Hardin 373-39
	373-39_Hardin_RZ

	Item XVII. 23.	13. Howze RZ
	Howze
	477-6_7 477A-2_3_4_5 Howze Rezone

	Item XVII. 24.	2nd 13. Howze
	2 Howze
	477-5,6,7 & 477A-2,3,4,5_Howze_RZ

	Bottom

